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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(In millions, except per share amounts)

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DANA HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Period from   Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  February 1    January 1   Three Months 
  through    through   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Net sales  $ 1,561   $ 751  $ 2,145 
Costs and expenses              

Cost of sales   1,477    702   2,043 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   65    34   96 
Amortization of intangibles   12          
Realignment charges, net   5    12   19 
Other income, net   32    8   46 

  
 
   

 
  

 
 

Income from continuing operations before interest, reorganization items and income
taxes   34    11   33 

Interest expense (contractual interest of $17 for the one month ended January 31, 2008
and $36 for the three months ended March 31, 2007)   27    8   23 

Reorganization items, net   9    98   37 
Fresh start accounting adjustments        1,009     
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   (2)    914   (27)
Income tax expense   (20)    (199)   (15)
Minority interests   (2)    (2)   (2)
Equity in earnings of affiliates   1    2   8 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) from continuing operations   (23)    715   (36)
Loss from discontinued operations   (1)    (6)   (56)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Net income (loss)   (24)    709   (92)
Preferred stock dividend requirements   5          
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders  $ (29)   $ 709  $ (92)
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

              
Net income (loss) from continuing operations:              

Basic  $ (0.28)   $ 4.77  $ (0.24)
Diluted  $ (0.28)   $ 4.75  $ (0.24)

Net loss from discontinued operations:              
Basic  $ (0.01)   $ (0.04)  $ (0.37)
Diluted  $ (0.01)   $ (0.04)  $ (0.37)

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders:              
Basic  $ (0.29)   $ 4.73  $ (0.61)
Diluted  $ (0.29)   $ 4.71  $ (0.61)

Average common shares outstanding — Basic   100    150   150 
Average common shares outstanding — Diluted   160    150   150 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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DANA HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Unaudited)

          
       Prior Dana  
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2008    2007  
Assets          
Current assets          
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,283   $ 1,271 
Restricted cash        93 
Accounts receivable          

Trade, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $23 in 2008 and $20 in 2007   1,444    1,197 
Other   364    295 

Inventories          
Raw materials   383    331 
Work in process and finished goods   634    481 

Assets of discontinued operations        24 
Other current assets   123    100 
  

 
   

 
 

Total current assets   4,231    3,792 
Goodwill   310    349 
Intangibles   678    1 
Investments and other assets   252    348 
Investments in affiliates   183    172 
Property, plant and equipment, net   2,049    1,763 
  

 
   

 
 

Total assets  $ 7,703   $ 6,425 
  

 

   

 

 

          
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)          
Current liabilities          
Notes payable, including current portion of long-term debt  $ 127   $ 283 
Debtor-in-possession financing        900 
Accounts payable   1,214    1,072 
Accrued payroll and employee benefits   268    258 
Liabilities of discontinued operations        9 
Taxes on income   142    12 
Other accrued liabilities   555    418 
  

 
   

 
 

Total current liabilities   2,306    2,952 
          
Liabilities subject to compromise        3,511 
Deferred employee benefits and other non-current liabilities   907    630 
Long-term debt   1,321    19 
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries   115    95 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)          
  

 
   

 
 

Total liabilities   4,649    7,207 
          
Preferred stock, 50,000,000 shares authorized          

Series A, $0.01 par value, 2,500,000 issued and outstanding   242      
Series B, $0.01 par value, 5,400,000 issued and outstanding   529      

Common stock, $.01 par value, 450,000,000 authorized, 97,971,791 issued and outstanding   1      
Prior Dana common stock, $1.00 par value, 350,000,000 authorized, 150,245,250 issued and outstanding        150 
Additional paid-in-capital   2,267    202 
Retained earnings (deficit)   (29)    (468)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   44    (666)
  

 
   

 
 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   3,054    (782)
  

 
   

 
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)  $ 7,703   $ 6,425 
  

 

   

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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DANA HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Period from   Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  February 1    January 1   Three Months 
  through    through   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Cash flows — operating activities              
Net income (loss)  $ (24)   $ 709  $ (92)
Depreciation and amortization   67    23   70 
Amortization of inventory valuation   15          
Minority interest   2    2     
Deferred income taxes   (2)    191     
Reorganization:              

Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise        (27)     
Payment of claims   (88)        
Reorganization items net of cash payments   (18)    79   27 
Fresh start adjustments        (1,009)     
Payments to VEBAs   (733)    (55)     

Loss on sale of businesses and assets   1    7   14 
Change in working capital   (124)    (61)   (52)
Other, net   (23)    19   16 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Net cash flows used in operating activities   (927)    (122)   (17)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

              
Cash flows — investing activities              
Purchases of property, plant and equipment   (29)    (16)   (39)
Proceeds from sale of businesses and assets        5   328 
Change in restricted cash        93     
Other   8    (5)   (15)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities   (21)    77   274 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

              
Cash flows — financing activities              
Proceeds from (repayment of) debtor-in-possession facility        (900)   200 
Net change in short-term debt   (7)    (18)   65
Payment of DCC Medium Term Notes        (136)     
Proceeds from Exit Facility debt   80    1,350     
Original issue discount fees        (114)     
Deferred financing fees        (40)     
Repayment of Exit Facility debt   (4)          
Issuance of Series A and Series B preferred stock        771     
Other   (5)    (1)     
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Net cash flows provided by financing activities   64    912   265 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

              
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (884)    867   522 
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period   2,147    1,271   719 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash balances   20    5   17 
Net change in cash of discontinued operations        4   (8)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents — end of period  $ 1,283   $ 2,147  $ 1,250 
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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DANA HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Unaudited)

                         
                  Accumulated     
          Additional  Retained   Other     
  Preferred   Common   Paid-In-   Earnings   Comprehensive    
  Stock   Stock   Capital   (Deficit)   Income (Loss)   Total  
Balance, December 31, 2007, Prior

Dana  $ —  $ 150  $ 202  $ (468)  $ (666)  $ (782)
Comprehensive income:                         

Net income               709       709 
 

Foreign currency translation                   3   3 
Defined benefit plans                   79   79 
Other                   (6)   (6)

                      
 
 

Other comprehensive income                       76 
                      

 
 

Total comprehensive income                       785 
Cancellation of Prior Dana common

stock       (150)   (202)           (352)
Elimination of Prior Dana

accumulated deficit and
accumulated other
comprehensive loss               (241)   590   349 

      
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance, January 31, 2008, Prior
Dana                         

      
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Issuance of new equity in
connection with emergence from
Chapter 11   771   1   2,267           3,039 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance, January 31, 2008, Dana   771   1   2,267           3,039 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Comprehensive income:                         
Net loss               (24)       (24)

 
Foreign currency translation                   44   44 

                      
 
 

Other comprehensive income                       44 
                      

 
 

Total comprehensive income                       20 
Preferred stock dividends               (5)       (5)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance, March 31, 2008, Dana  $ 771  $ 1  $ 2,267  $ (29)  $ 44  $ 3,054 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Note 1. Emergence from Chapter 11

General

     Dana Holding Corporation (Dana), incorporated in Delaware, is headquartered in Toledo, Ohio. We are a leading supplier of axle, driveshaft,
structural, sealing and thermal management products for global vehicle manufacturers. Our people design and manufacture products for every
major vehicle producer in the world. We employ approximately 35,000 people in 26 countries and operate 113 major facilities throughout the
world.

     As a result of Dana Corporation’s emergence from Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the Bankruptcy Code) on January 31,
2008 (the Effective Date), Dana is the successor registrant to Dana Corporation (Prior Dana) pursuant to Rule 12g-3 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

     The terms “Dana”, “we,” “our,” and “us,” when used in this report with respect to the period prior to Dana Corporation’s emergence from
bankruptcy, are references to Prior Dana, and when used with respect to the period commencing after Dana Corporation’s emergence, are
references to Dana. These references include the subsidiaries of Prior Dana or Dana, as the case may be, unless otherwise indicated or the
context requires otherwise.

Emergence from Reorganization Proceedings and Related Subsequent Events

     Background — Dana and forty of its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Debtors) operated their businesses as debtors in
possession under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code from March 3, 2006 (the Filing Date) until emergence from Chapter 11 on January 31,
2008. The Debtors’ Chapter 11 cases (collectively, the Bankruptcy Cases) were consolidated in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of New York (the Bankruptcy Court) under the caption In re Dana Corporation, et al. , Case No. 06-10354 (BRL). Neither Dana
Credit Corporation (DCC) and its subsidiaries nor any of our non-U.S. affiliates were Debtors.

     Claims resolution — On December 26, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the Confirmation Order) confirming the Third
Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of Debtors and Debtors-in-Possession (as modified, the Plan) and, on the Effective Date, the Plan was
consummated and we emerged from bankruptcy. As provided in the Plan and the Confirmation Order, we issued and distributed approximately
71 million shares of Dana common stock to holders of allowed unsecured claims totaling approximately $2,050. Pursuant to the Plan, we have
issued and set aside approximately 27 million additional shares of Dana common stock for future distribution to all holders of allowed
unsecured nonpriority claims in Class 5B under the Plan. These shares are distributed as the disputed and unliquidated claims are resolved.
Subsequent to emergence we distributed approximately six million shares from the disputed claims reserve leaving approximately 21 million
shares for the remaining disputed and unliquidated claims estimated not to exceed $700. To the extent that such remaining claims are settled
for less than $700, additional distributions will also be made to previously allowed claimants. The terms and conditions governing such
distributions are set forth in the Plan and the Confirmation Order.

     Under the provisions of the Plan, an additional two million shares of common stock are being issued and distributed during the second
quarter of 2008 to pay bonuses to union employees and non-union hourly and salaried non-management employees.

     As provided in the Plan and the Confirmation Order, asbestos personal injury claims were reinstated, and holders of such claims may
continue to assert them. Certain other specific categories of claims against the Debtors (primarily worker’s compensation and intercompany
liabilities to non-Debtors) were retained and are being discharged in the normal course of business.
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     Settlement obligations relating to non-pension retiree benefits and long-term disability (LTD) benefits for union claimants and non-pension
retiree benefits for non-union claimants were satisfied with cash payments of $788 to non-Dana sponsored Voluntary Employee Benefit
Associations (VEBAs) established for the benefit of the respective claimant groups. Additionally, we paid DCC $49, the remaining amount due
to DCC noteholders, thereby settling DCC’s general unsecured claim of $325 against the Debtors. DCC, in turn, used these funds to repay the
noteholders in full. Administrative claims, priority tax claims and other classes of allowed claims of $212 have been satisfied by cash payments
of $88 during the first quarter of 2008, with the additional cash payments of $124 expected to be made during the remainder of 2008.

     Except as specifically provided in the Plan, the distributions under the Plan were in exchange for, and in complete satisfaction, discharge
and release of, all claims and third-party ownership interests in the Debtors arising on or before the Effective Date, including any interest
accrued on such claims from and after the Filing Date.

     Organization — In connection with the formation of a new holding company, we formed a new legal organization aligned with how our
businesses are managed operationally. Except as described below, all operating assets and related undischarged liabilities of Prior Dana were
transferred to new legal entities within the new holding company structure. Certain other assets and liabilities, including those associated with
asbestos personal injury claims, were retained in Prior Dana, which was then merged into Dana Companies, LLC, a consolidated wholly owned
subsidiary of Dana. The assets of Dana Companies, LLC include insurance rights relating to coverage against these liabilities and other assets
which we believe are sufficient to satisfy its liabilities. Dana Companies, LLC continues to process asbestos personal injury claims in the normal
course of business and is paying such claims in cash. Dana Companies, LLC is separately managed, and has an independent board member.
The independent board member is required to approve certain transactions including dividends or other transfers of $1 or more of value to
Dana. See Note 16 for a discussion of our asbestos liabilities.

     Common Stock — Pursuant to the Plan, all of the issued and outstanding shares of Prior Dana common stock, par value $1.00 per share,
and any other outstanding equity securities of Prior Dana, including all options and warrants, were cancelled. On the Effective Date, we began
the process of issuing 100 million shares of Dana common stock, par value $0.01 per share, including approximately 71 million shares for
allowed unsecured nonpriority claims, approximately 27 million additional shares issued and deposited to a reserve for disputed unsecured
nonpriority claims in Class 5B under the Plan and approximately two million shares to pay bonuses to union employees and non-union hourly
and salaried non-management employees. A charge of $47 to reorganization items for these bonuses was recorded as a liability as of the
Effective Date. A portion of the bonus shares were issued in April 2008 with approximately one million remaining to be issued.

     Preferred Stock — Pursuant to the Plan, we issued 2,500,000 shares of 4.0% Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the
Series A Preferred) and 5,400,000 shares of 4.0% Series B Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the Series B Preferred) on the Effective
Date. The Series A Preferred was sold to Centerbridge Partners, L.P. and certain of its affiliates (Centerbridge) for $250, less a commitment fee
of $3 and expense reimbursement of $5, resulting in net proceeds of $242. The Series B Preferred was sold to certain qualified investors (as
described in the Plan) for $540, less a commitment fee of $11, resulting in net proceeds of $529.

     In accordance with the terms of the preferred stock, all of the shares of preferred stock are, at the holder’s option, convertible into fully paid
and non-assessable shares of new common stock at a conversion price of $13.19. Conversion of all of the outstanding shares of preferred
stock would increase the number of shares of our common stock outstanding by approximately 60 million.
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     Shares of Series A Preferred having an aggregate liquidation preference of not more than $125 and all of the Series B Preferred are
convertible at any time at the option of the applicable holder after July 31, 2008. The remaining shares of Series A Preferred are convertible
after January 31, 2011. In addition, we will be able to force conversion of all, but not less than all, of the preferred stock if the common stock’s
per share closing price exceeds the mandatory conversion trigger price, as determined at that time, for at least 20 consecutive trading days.
The price at which the preferred stock is convertible is subject to adjustment in certain customary circumstances, including as a result of stock
splits and combinations, dividends and distributions and issuances of common stock or common stock derivatives at a price below the
preferred stock conversion price in effect at that time.

     Dividends on the preferred stock are accrued from the issue date at a rate of 4% per annum and are payable in cash on a quarterly basis as
approved by the Board of Directors. If at any time we fail to pay the equivalent of six quarterly dividends on the preferred stock, the holders of
the preferred stock, voting separately as a single class, will be entitled to elect two additional directors to our Board of Directors. However, so
long as Centerbridge owns Series A Preferred having an aggregate liquidation preference of at least $125, this provision will not be applicable.

     In connection with the issuance of the preferred stock, we entered into two registration rights agreements: one with Centerbridge and the
other with the purchasers of Series B Preferred, and we also entered into a shareholder’s agreement. Under the terms of these agreements
and the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Centerbridge was granted representation on our Board of Directors and limited approval rights.
See Note 8 for additional information.

     Financing at emergence — On the Effective Date, Dana, as borrower, and certain of our domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, entered into
an exit financing facility (the Exit Facility) with Citicorp USA, Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and Barclays Capital. The Exit Facility consists of a
Term Facility Credit and Guaranty Agreement in the total aggregate amount of $1,430 (the Term Facility) and a $650 Revolving Credit and
Guaranty Agreement (the Revolving Facility). The Term Facility was fully drawn with borrowings of $1,350 on the Effective Date and $80 on
February 1, 2008. There have been no borrowings under the Revolving Facility but $200 was utilized for existing letters of credit. Net proceeds
from the Exit Facility were $1,276 after $114 of original issue discount (OID) and $40 of customary issuance costs and fees, both of which were
deferred and will amortize to interest expense over the term of the loan. The net proceeds were used to repay the Senior Secured Superpriority
Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement (DIP Credit Agreement), make other payments required upon exit from bankruptcy and provide
liquidity to fund working capital and other general corporate purposes. See Note 14 for the terms and conditions of these facilities and the
availability of additional borrowing.

     Fresh Start Accounting — As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP), we adopted fresh start
accounting effective February 1, 2008 following the guidance of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ (AICPA) Statement of
Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code” (SOP 90-7). The financial statements for the
periods ended prior to January 31, 2008 do not include the effect of any changes in our capital structure or changes in the fair value of assets
and liabilities as a result of fresh start accounting.

     The timing of the availability of funds from the Exit Facility resulted in a January 31, 2008 consummation of the Plan. We have selected
February 1, 2008 for adoption of fresh start accounting. In accordance with SOP 90-7, the results of operations of Dana for January 2008
include charges of $21 incurred during the month of January plus one-time reorganization costs incurred at emergence of $104 offset by a pre-
emergence gain of $27 resulting from the discharge of liabilities under the Plan. In addition, we recorded a credit to earnings of $1,009 ($831
after tax), resulting from the aggregate changes to the net carrying value of our pre-emergence assets and liabilities to record their fair values
under fresh start accounting.
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     SOP 90-7 provides, among other things, for a determination of the value to be assigned to the equity of the emerging company as of a date
selected for financial reporting purposes. Dana’s compromise total enterprise value is $3,563. This value represents the amount of resources
available for the satisfaction of post-petition liabilities and allowed claims, as negotiated between the Debtors and their creditors. This value,
along with other terms of the Plan, was determined only after extensive arms-length negotiations between the Interested Parties. Dana
developed its view of what the value should be based upon expected future cash flows of the business after emergence from Chapter 11,
discounted at rates reflecting perceived business and financial risks. This valuation and a valuation using market value multiples for peer
companies were blended to arrive at the compromise valuation. This value is enterprise value of the entity and, after adjusting for certain
liabilities and debt, is intended to approximate the amount a willing buyer would pay for the assets and liabilities of Dana immediately after
restructuring. Based on current conditions in the automobile industry and general economic conditions, we used the low end of the range of
valuations provided by the valuation specialists to determine the enterprise reorganization value.

     Under fresh start accounting, this compromise total enterprise value is adjusted to reorganization value and is allocated to our assets based
on their respective fair values in conformity with the purchase method of accounting for business combinations in Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141). The valuations required to determine the fair value of certain of
Dana’s assets as presented below represent the results of valuation procedures performed by valuation specialists.

     The enterprise reorganization value, after adjustments for cash net of expected claims payments, is reduced by debt, minority interest and
preferred stock with the remainder representing the value to common shareholders.
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     The adjustments presented below are to our January 31, 2008 balance sheet. The balance sheet reorganization adjustments presented
below summarize the impact of the Plan and the adoption of fresh start accounting as of the Effective Date.

DANA HOLDING CORPORATION
REORGANIZED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

                         
  January 31, 2008  
  Prior   Reorganization      Fresh Start        
  Dana   Adjustments (1)    Adjustments(2)    Dana  
Assets                         
Current assets                         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,199  $ 948 (6)    $ —      $ 2,147 
Restricted cash                         
Accounts receivable                         

Trade,   1,255           1       1,256 
Other   316           (1)       315 

Inventories   843           169       1,012 
Other current assets   127           (32)       95
  

 
  

 
     

 
      

 
 

Total current assets   3,740   948       137       4,825 
Goodwill   352           (50)       302 
Intangibles   1           679       680 
Investments and other assets   294   22 (3)      (70)       246 
Investments in affiliates   172           9       181 
Property, plant and equipment, net   1,763           278       2,041 
  

 
  

 
      

 
      

 
 

Total assets  $ 6,322  $ 970      $ 983      $ 8,275 
  

 

  

 

      

 

      

 

 

                         
Liabilities and Stockholders’ equity

(deficit)                         
Current liabilities                         
Notes payable, including current portion

of long-term debt  $ 178  $ (35)      $ —      $ 143 
Debtor-in-possession financing   900   (900)                 
Accounts payable   1,094                   1,094 
Accrued payroll and employee benefits   267          1       268 
Taxes on income   132                 132
Other accrued liabilities   471   887 (6)      21       1,379 (6)
  

 
  

 
      

 
      

 
 

Total current liabilities   3,042   (48)       22       3,016 
Liabilities subject to compromise   3,382   (3,382)                 
Deferred employee benefits and other

non-current liabilities   614          254       868 
Long-term debt   19                 19 
Term loan facility       1,221 (3)              1,221 
Minority interest in consolidated

subsidiaries   96           16       112 
  

 
  

 
      

 
      

 
 

Total liabilities   7,153   (2,209)       292       5,236 
 
Series A preferred stock       242 (3)              242 
Series B preferred stock       529 (3)              529 
Common stock — successor       1               1 
Additional paid in capital — successor       2,267               2,267 
Common stock — predecessor   150   (150)                 
Additional paid in capital — predecessor   202   (202)                
Accumulated deficit   (515)   275 (4)      240 (5)        
Accumulated other comprehensive

income   (668)   217 (4)      451 (5)        
  

 
  

 
      

 
      

 
 

Total stockholders’ equity
(deficit)   (831)   3,179       691 (5)      3,039 

  
 
  

 
      

 
      

 
 

Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity (deficit)  $ 6,322  $ 970      $ 983      $ 8,275 
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Explanatory Notes

 (1)  Represents amounts recorded on the Effective Date for the implementation of the Plan, including the settlement of liabilities subject to
compromise and related payments, the issuance of new debt and repayment of old debt, distributions of cash and new shares of
common and preferred stock, and the cancellation of Prior Dana common and preferred stock as discussed above.

 

 (2)  Records the adjustments for fresh start accounting including the write-up of inventory and the adjustment of property, plant and
equipment to its appraised value. Fresh start adjustments for intangible assets are also included and are based on valuations
performed by third party valuation specialists. The fresh start adjustments also result in the elimination of the accumulated deficit and
accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI).

 

   The reorganization value was allocated to assets and liabilities at appropriate fair market values, with the excess of reorganization
value over the fair value of our net assets of $302 recorded as goodwill.

 

 (3)  Records debt financing for the senior credit facility and the issuance of new Series A and Series B Preferred. An additional $80 of the
term loan facility was borrowed by Dana on February 1, 2008 and is not included in the January balance above. Debt issuance costs of
$40 are recorded in Investments and other assets and OID of $114 is netted against the debt. Both of these are deferred and
amortized over the debt term. The $790 of preferred stock is recorded at the net proceeds of $771.

 

 (4)  Records reorganization costs of $104 and a gain of $27 on extinguishment of the obligations pursuant to implementation of the Plan
and the closeout of the Prior Dana common stock balances coincident with the issuance of shares of Dana. Other comprehensive
income of $217 related to the termination of the union postretirement plans at emergence is included in AOCI.

 

 (5)  Includes the $1,009 ($831 after tax) adjustment to assets and liabilities for fresh start accounting and a charge of $140 to other
comprehensive income related to the remeasurement of employee benefit plans.

 

 (6)  Other accrued liabilities include a $733 liability to the union VEBAs. On February 1, 2008, Dana paid this obligation and borrowed the
remaining $80 of the term loan commitment in (3) above. Payments after January 31, under the terms of the Plan, will include
approximately $212 of administrative claims, priority tax claims and other classes of allowed claims, and are also included in other
accrued liabilities of Dana.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

     These financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Financial results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of anticipated results for the entire year.

     This is the first public report of our post-emergence results and, as discussed in Note 1, includes the results of the implementation of the
Plan and the effects of the adoption of fresh start accounting. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States,
(GAAP), historical financial statements of Prior Dana will be presented separately from Dana results in this filing and future filings.

     The implementation of the Plan and the application of fresh start accounting will result in financial statements that are not comparable to
financial statements in periods prior to emergence.

     Basis of Presentation — As discussed in Note 3, the Debtors reorganized under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. SOP 90-
7, which is applicable to companies operating under Chapter 11, generally does not change the manner in which financial statements are
prepared. However, SOP 90-7 does require that the financial statements for periods subsequent to the filing of a Chapter 11 petition distinguish
transactions and events that are directly associated with the reorganization from the ongoing operations of the business.
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     We adopted SOP 90-7 on the Filing Date and prepared our financial statements in accordance with its requirements through January 31,
2008. Revenues, expenses, realized gains and losses and provisions for losses that can be directly associated with the reorganization and the
related restructuring of our business were reported separately as reorganization items in our statement of operations. Our balance sheet prior
to February 1, 2008 distinguished pre-petition liabilities subject to compromise both from those pre-petition liabilities that are not subject to
compromise and from post-petition liabilities. Liabilities that were affected by the plan of reorganization were reported at the amounts expected
to be allowed by the Bankruptcy Court. In addition, cash provided by or used for reorganization items was disclosed separately in our statement
of cash flows. See Note 3 for further information about our financial statement presentation under SOP 90-7.

     Estimates — These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require the use of estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures. Some of
the more significant estimates include: valuation of deferred tax assets and inventories; restructuring, environmental, product liability and
warranty accruals; valuation of post-employment and postretirement benefits; valuation, depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets;
valuation of goodwill; and allowances for doubtful accounts. We believe our assumptions and estimates are reasonable and appropriate.
However, due to the inherent uncertainties in making estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates.

     As discussed above, in connection with the adoption of fresh start accounting, our asset values were valued at fair market value in
accordance with SFAS 141. In addition, our liabilities were adjusted to fair value or present value where appropriate. Deferred taxes are
determined in accordance with SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”

     Inventories — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is generally determined on the last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis for
U.S. inventories and on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost basis for non-U.S. inventories. In connection with our adoption of fresh start
accounting on February 1, 2008, inventories were revalued upward by $169 including the elimination of the U.S. LIFO reserve of $120. Of this
valuation amount, $15 related to FIFO basis inventory outside of the U.S. is to be amortized to cost of sales as the inventory is sold. This
occurred primarily in the first quarter with a nominal amount to be recorded in the second quarter. The remainder of the valuation represents
U.S. inventories which will be accounted for on a LIFO basis following the initial valuation on the effective date.

     Property, Plant and Equipment — Prior to the effective date, property, plant and equipment of Prior Dana was recorded at cost. If assets
were impaired their value was reduced by an increase in the depreciation reserve. Depreciation was recognized over the estimated useful lives
using primarily the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes and accelerated depreciation methods for federal income tax purposes.
In connection with our adoption of fresh start accounting on February 1, 2008, fixed assets were revalued to their fair market value, generally
their appraised value after considering economic obsolescence, and new useful lives were established. The appraisals assigned remaining
useful lives to each asset with assigned lives ranging from two to thirty years. The revalued assets will depreciate over these estimated
remaining useful lives under the same straight-line method as utilized for the Prior Dana assets. Property additions after January 31, 2008 will
be assigned lives based on our existing practices.

     Long Term Assets and Liabilities — As required by SFAS 141, in connection with the application of fresh start accounting we discounted our
asbestos and worker’s compensation liabilities and the related amounts recoverable from the insurers.

     Intangible Assets — Intangible assets were valued as part of the appraisals performed for fresh start reporting. Historically we carried
nominal values for acquired patent and trademark intangibles. Our intangible assets as valued for fresh start accounting include customer
contracts, developed technology and trademark and trade names. Customer contracts and developed technology have finite lives while
substantially all of the trademarks and trade names have infinite lives. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
are amortized over their useful life using the straight-line method of amortization. See Note 7.
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     Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the reorganization value of Dana over the fair value of tangible and identified intangible
assets. Goodwill is reviewed annually or more frequently under certain circumstances to determine if any impairment has occurred. See Note 7.

     Earnings Per Share — Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing earnings by the weighted average common shares outstanding.
Prior Dana shares were cancelled at emergence and shares in Dana were issued. Therefore the earnings per share information for Dana is not
comparable to Prior Dana earnings per share. See Note 9 for details of the shares outstanding.

     Recent Accounting Pronouncements — In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 161”). SFAS No. 161 requires companies with derivative instruments to disclose additional information that
would enable financial statement users to understand how and why a company uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and
related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and how
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect a company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The new
requirements apply to derivative instruments and non-derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments and
related hedged items accounted for under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008. Early application is encouraged.

     In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 142-3 (FSP 142-3) “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets.” FSP
142-3 amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a
recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. FSP 142-3 is effective on January 1, 2009. We have not
yet determined the impact FSP 142-3 will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Reorganization Proceedings

     The Bankruptcy Cases were jointly administered, with the Debtors managing their businesses as debtors in possession subject to the
supervision of the Bankruptcy Court. We continued normal business operations during the bankruptcy process and emerged from bankruptcy
on January 31, 2008.

Claims Resolution

     See Note 1 for an explanation of the distributions under the Plan. Except as specifically provided in the Plan, the distributions under the Plan
were in complete satisfaction, discharge and release of, all claims and third-party ownership interests in the Debtors arising on or before the
Effective Date, including any interest accrued on such claims from and after the Filing Date.

DCC Notes

     DCC is a non-Debtor subsidiary of Dana. At the time of our bankruptcy filing, DCC had outstanding notes totaling approximately $399. DCC
has sold substantially all of its remaining asset portfolio and has used the proceeds to pay down the DCC Notes to a balance of $136 at
December 31, 2007. In January 2008, DCC made a $90 payment to the forbearing noteholders, consisting of $87 of principal and $3 of
interest.

     Dana and DCC executed a settlement agreement whereby they agreed to the discontinuance of a tax sharing agreement between them and
to a stipulated amount of a general unsecured claim owed by Prior Dana to DCC of $325 (the DCC Claim). On the Effective Date and pursuant
to the Plan, we paid DCC $49, the remaining amount due to DCC noteholders, thereby settling DCC’s general unsecured claim of $325 against
the Debtors. DCC, in turn, used these funds to repay the noteholders in full.
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Liabilities Subject to Compromise

     As required by SOP 90-7, liabilities being addressed through the bankruptcy process (i.e., general unsecured nonpriority claims) were
reported as liabilities subject to compromise and adjusted to allowed claim amounts as determined through the bankruptcy process, or to the
estimated claim amount if determined to be probable and estimable in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Certain of
these claims were resolved and satisfied on or before our emergence on January 31, 2008, while others have been or will be resolved
subsequent to emergence. Although the allowed amount of certain unresolved claims has not yet been determined, our liability associated with
these unresolved claims subject to compromise has been discharged upon our emergence. Except for certain specific claims, most of the
general unsecured claims will be satisfied by distributions from the previously funded reserve holding shares of Dana common stock.
Therefore, the future resolution of claims subject to the reserve will not have an impact on our post-emergence results of operations or financial
condition. To the extent that unresolved claims are settled for less than the $700 estimated, additional distributions will be made to previously
allowed claimants.

     Liabilities subject to compromise in the consolidated balance sheet include those of our discontinued operations and consisted of the
following at December 31, 2007:
     
  December 31, 
  2007  
Accounts payable  $ 285 
Pension and other postretirement obligations   1,034 
Debt (including accrued interest of $39)   1,621 
Other   571 
  

 
 

Liabilities subject to compromise  $ 3,511 
  

 

 

     On the Effective Date, the Plan required that certain liabilities previously reported as liabilities subject to compromise be retained by Dana.
At December 31, 2007, we reclassified approximately $213 of liabilities, including $145 of asbestos liabilities, $27 of pension liabilities and $41
of other liabilities from liabilities subject to compromise to current or long-term liabilities of Dana, as appropriate. Liabilities subject to
compromise declined by $129 in January 2008 as a result of additional liabilities retained by Dana with the remainder settled by the terms of
the Plan. All liabilities subject to compromise were discharged at January 31, 2008 or were retained by us under the terms of the Plan.
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Reorganization Items

     Professional advisory fees and other costs directly associated with our reorganization were reported separately as reorganization items
pursuant to SOP 90-7. Professional fees include fees paid in connection with the reorganization process. Reorganization items also include
provisions and adjustments to reflect the carrying value of certain pre-petition liabilities at their estimated allowable claim amounts, as well as
the costs incurred by the non-Debtor companies as a result of the Debtors’ bankruptcy proceedings.

     The reorganization items in the consolidated statement of operations for the quarters ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the
following items:
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Dana    Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months 
  Ended    Ended   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Professional fees  $ 6   $ 27  $ 39 
Contract rejections and claim settlements prior to emergence            1 
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise        (27)     
Employee emergence bonus        47     
Foreign tax costs due to reorganization        33     
Other   3    19     
Interest income        (1)   (3)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Total reorganization items  $ 9   $ 98  $ 37 
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     The gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise results from the satisfaction of these liabilities at emergence through issuance of
Dana common stock or cash payments, as described in Note 1. We incurred professional fees of $21 during January 2008 and we incurred
additional reorganization expenses of approximately $104 upon emergence from bankruptcy on January 31, 2008. Included in these expenses
are $47 for the provision of common stock bonuses to certain union and non-union people. Other one-time expenses associated with
emergence included transfer taxes and other tax charges to effectuate the emergence and new legal organization, success fee obligations to
certain professional advisors and other parties contributing to the bankruptcy reorganization, and other costs relating directly to emergence.

Note 4. Asset Disposals and Impairments, Divestitures and Acquisitions

Impairments

     In accordance with SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined by
comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation in which the assets are utilized to their carrying amount. If those cash
flows are determined to be less than the carrying amount of the assets, the long-lived assets of the operation (excluding goodwill) are written
down to fair value if the fair value is lower than the carrying amount. Fair value is determined based on discounted cash flows or other methods
providing best estimates of value.

     Asset impairments often result from significant actions like the discontinuance of customer programs, facility closures or other events which
result in the assets being held for sale. When this occurs, the specific assets are adjusted to their fair value less cost to sell or dispose if that
amount is less than the current book value.

17



Table of Contents

     Long-lived assets that continue to be used internally are evaluated for impairment, in the aggregate, by business segment given the global
nature of the business segment operation, the interdependency of operations within the segment and the ability to reallocate assets within the
segment.

     With our adoption of fresh start accounting upon emergence, assets have been revalued to new carrying values based on our enterprise
reorganization value and, in some cases, the appraised values of long-lived assets are higher than their previous net book value. These
increased valuations for fresh start accounting purposes subject us to greater risks of future impairment.

DCC Asset Disposals and Impairments

     Since 2001, DCC has sold portfolio assets in individually structured transactions and achieved further reductions through normal portfolio
runoff. In 2006, DCC adopted a plan to proceed with an accelerated sale of substantially all of its remaining assets. The carrying value of the
remaining DCC portfolio assets was $4 at March 31, 2008 and $7 at December 31, 2007. These assets have been adjusted to their estimated
fair value less cost to sell. The remaining DCC assets include a partnership investment with a current carrying value of $3.

Divestitures

     In 2005, the Board of Directors of Prior Dana approved the divestiture of our engine hard parts, fluid products and pump products operations
and we have reported these businesses as discontinued operations through the dates of divestiture. The divestiture of these discontinued
operations, with the exception of the pump products business, was completed during 2007. In the first quarter of 2008, we completed the sale
of the remaining assets of the pump products business to Melling Tool Company, generating proceeds of $5 and an after-tax loss of $1 that
was recorded in January 2008.

     During January 2008, we recorded an expense of $5 in discontinued operations associated with a post-closing adjustment relating to the
sale of the engine products business. The adjustment reinstated certain retained liabilities. We have pending purchase price adjustments
related to the sales in the third quarter of 2007 of our fluid products hose and tubing business and our coupled fluid products business. We do
not expect these adjustments to have a significant impact on our results.
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Note 5. Discontinued Operations

     The results of operations of the engine hard parts, fluid products and pump products businesses are aggregated and presented as
discontinued operations through their respective dates of divestiture. The sales of these businesses were substantially completed during 2007.

     The results of the discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months 
  Ended    Ended   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Sales  $ —   $ 6  $ 278 
Cost of sales        6   270 
Selling, general and administrative expenses            15 
Impairment charges            1 
Realignment and other expense, net   1    8   26 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Loss before income taxes   (1)    (8)   (34)
Income tax benefit (expense)        2   (22)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Loss from discontinued operations  $ (1)   $ (6)  $ (56)
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     Realignment and other expense, net in 2008 includes the pre-tax loss of $1 on the sale of the remaining pump products business and a
post-closing adjustment of $5 related to the sale of the engine hard parts business in the prior year. The first quarter of 2007 includes a pre-tax
loss of $26 on the sale of the engine hard parts business to MAHLE GmbH.

     With the sale of the remaining assets of the pump products business to Melling Tool Company in January 2008, we have completed the
disposal of our discontinued operations.

     The assets and liabilities of discontinued operations reported in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2007 consisted of the
following:
     
  December 31, 
  2007  
Assets of discontinued operations     

Accounts receivable  $ 13 
Inventories   5 
Cash and other assets   6 
  

 
 

Total assets  $ 24 
  

 

 

     
Liabilities of discontinued operations     

Accounts payable  $ 6 
Accrued payroll and employee benefits   1 
Other current liabilities   2 
  

 
 

Total liabilities  $ 9 
  

 

 

     There were no remaining assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as of March 31, 2008.
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     In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of discontinued operations are reported in the respective categories of cash
flows, along with those of our continuing operations.

Note 6. Realignment of Operations

     Realignment of our manufacturing operations was an essential component of our bankruptcy reorganization plans. We focused on
eliminating excess capacity, closing and consolidating facilities and repositioning operations in lower cost facilities or those with excess
capacity and on reducing and realigning overhead costs.

     During 2007, we completed the closure of fifteen facilities. An additional 3 facilities are scheduled to close in 2008 and 2009 and other
locations are in various stages of implementing work force reductions. Realignment costs in January 2008 include the announced closure of the
Barrie, Ontario Commercial Vehicle facility.

     In connection with the adoption of fresh start accounting, the facilities which will be closed in 2008 and later were treated as closures of
acquired facilities in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 95-3 and an additional $32 was recorded at emergence for
additional closure-related obligations.

     The following tables show the realignment charges and related payments including the amounts accrued in January 2008 under fresh start
accounting in our continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008.
                 
  Employee   Long-Lived       
  Termination  Asset   Exit     
  Benefits   Impairment  Costs   Total  
Balance at December 31, 2007  $ 53  $ —  $ 15  $ 68 
Activity during the period                 

Charged to realignment   7   2   3   12 
Fresh start adjustment           32   32 
Non-cash write-off       (2)       (2)
Cash payments   (2)       (3)   (5)

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance at January 31, 2008   58       47   105 
Activity during the period                 

Charged to realignment   1       4   5 
Cash payments   (4)       (12)   (16)

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance at March 31, 2008  $ 55  $ —  $ 39  $ 94 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     The realignment charges during the three months ended March 31, 2008 related primarily to the ongoing facility closure activities associated
with the announced closure of the Barrie, Ontario facility and the previously announced manufacturing footprint actions.

     At March 31, 2008, $94 of realignment accruals remained in accrued liabilities, including $55 for the reduction of approximately 1,400
employees to be completed over the next two years and $39 for lease terminations and other exit costs. The estimated cash expenditures
related to these liabilities are projected to approximate $81 in 2008 and $13 thereafter. In addition to the $94 accrued at March 31, 2008, we
estimate that another $21 will be expensed in the future to complete pending initiatives.

     Realignment initiatives generally occur over multiple reporting periods. The following table provides project-to-date and estimated future
expenses for completion of our pending realignment initiatives for the Automotive Systems Group (ASG) and the Heavy Vehicle Systems
Group (HVSG) business units and the underlying segments.
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  Expense Recognized   Future  
  Prior to       Total   Cost to  
  2008   2008   to Date   Complete 
ASG                 

Axle  $ 53  $ 3  $ 56  $ 8 
Driveshaft   28   1   29   5 
Structures   68   4   72   1 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total ASG   149   8   157   14 
                 
HVSG                 

Commercial Vehicles   18   9   27   7 
                 
Other                 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total continuing operations  $ 167  $ 17  $ 184  $ 21 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Note 7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

     Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value
based approach. The annual evaluation for impairment is generally based on valuation models that incorporate internal projections of expected
future cash flows and operating plans. The annual impairments tests are performed on October 31.

     The following table summarizes the components of goodwill by operating segment:
                 
      Fresh   Effect of     
  December 31,  Start   Currency   March 31, 
  2007   Adjustments  and Other  2008  
ASG                 

Driveshaft  $ 173  $ 2  $ 3  $ 178 
Sealing   26   (26)         
Thermal   31   (31)         

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total   230   (55)   3   178 
                 
HVSG                 

Off-Highway   119   5   8   132 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 349  $ (50)  $ 11  $ 310 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Other Intangible Assets

     In connection with the adoption of fresh start accounting, we obtained valuations of certain intangible assets including core technology,
trademarks and trade names and customer relationships. Core technology includes the valuation of proprietary know-how and expertise that is
inherent in our products and manufacturing processes. Trademark and tradenames valuations include the valuation of our trade names and the
related trademarks including Dana®, Spicer® and others. Customer relationships include the established relationships with our customers and
the related ability of these customers to continue to generate future recurring revenue and income. The value of these intangible assets was
measured by valuation experts and was recorded at emergence as part of the fresh start adjustments discussed in Note 1.

     Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from one to seventeen years.
We evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets periodically and take into account events or circumstances that warrant revised estimates of
useful lives or that indicate that impairment exists. Substantially all of our intangible assets are subject to amortization.
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          The following table summarizes the components of other intangible assets.
                 
  Dana  
  March 31, 2008  
  Weighted   Gross       Net  
  Average   Carrying   Accumulated  Carrying  
  Useful Life  Amount   Amortization  Amount  
  (years)              
Amortizable intangible assets                 

Core technology   7  $ 102  $ (3)  $ 99 
Trademarks and trade names   17   4       4 
Customer relationships   8   502   (12)   490 

                 
Non-amortizable intangible assets                 

Trademarks and trade names       85       85 
      

 
  

 
  

 
 

      $ 693  $ (15)  $ 678 
      

 

  

 

  

 

 

     Intangible assets attributable to each of our operating segments, net, at March 31, 2008, were as follows: Axle, $15; Driveshaft $238;
Sealing $53; Thermal $25; Structures $61; Commercial Vehicle $52; and Off-Highway $234.

     Amortizable intangible assets at December 31, 2007, primarily trademarks, were less than $1.

     Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $15 in the two months ended March 31, 2008. Amortization of core technology of $3
was charged to cost of sales and $12 of amortization of trademarks and trade names and customer relationships was charged to amortization
of intangibles.

     Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets for 2008 and each of the five succeeding fiscal years is shown below. Actual
amounts may differ from these estimates due to such factors as foreign exchange, customer turnover, impairments, additional intangible asset
acquisitions and other events.
     
  Estimated
  Aggregate
  Amortization
  Expense
  (pre-tax)
Remainder of 2008  $68 

2009   90 
2010   90 
2011   89 
2012   89 
2013   88 

Note 8. Capital Stock

Preferred Stock

Prior Dana Preferred Stock

     Prior Dana had 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, without par value, including 1,000,000 shares reserved for issuance under a
Rights Agreement. No shares of Prior Dana preferred stock were issued. The share authorization and reservation were cancelled on the
Effective Date.
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Series A and Series B Preferred Stock

     Issuance — Pursuant to the Plan, we issued 2,500,000 shares of our Series A Preferred and 5,400,000 shares of our Series B Preferred on
the Effective Date. The Series A Preferred was sold to Centerbridge for $250, less a commitment fee of $3 and expense reimbursement of $5,
resulting in net proceeds of $242. The Series B Preferred was sold to certain qualified investors (as described in the Plan) for $540, less a
commitment fee of $11, resulting in net proceeds of $529.

     Conversion Rights — In accordance with the terms of the preferred stock, all of the shares of preferred stock are, at the holder’s option,
convertible into a number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock at an initial price of $13.19. This initial conversion price is
subject to certain adjustments as set forth in our Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

     Shares of Series A Preferred having an aggregate liquidation preference of not more than $125 and the Series B Preferred are convertible
at any time at the option of the applicable holder after July 31, 2008. The remaining shares of Series A Preferred are convertible after
January 31, 2011. In addition, we will be able to cause the conversion of all, but not less than all, of the preferred stock, if the common stock’s
per share closing price exceeds the mandatory conversion trigger price, as determined at that time, for at least 20 consecutive trading days.
This price is subject to adjustment in certain customary circumstances, including as a result of stock splits and combinations, dividends and
distributions and certain issuances of common stock or common stock derivatives.

Common Stock

New Common Stock

     On the Effective Date, we began the process of issuing 100 million shares of Dana common stock, par value $0.01 per share, including
approximately 71 million shares for allowed unsecured nonpriority claims, approximately 27 million additional shares deposited to a reserve for
disputed unsecured nonpriority claims in Class 5B under the Plan and approximately two million shares to pay bonuses to union employees
and non-union hourly and salaried non-management employees. We relied, based on the Confirmation Order, on Section 1145(a)(1) of the
Bankruptcy Code to exempt us from the registration requirements of the Securities Act for the offer and sale of the common stock to the
general unsecured creditors. We filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 with respect to the common stock issued for the post-emergence
bonuses to non-union hourly and salaried non-management employees which we began issuing in April 2008. The charge to reorganization
items, net for these bonuses was accrued as a current liability as of the Effective Date.

Note 9. Earnings Per Share

     The 100 million shares of common stock utilized in the calculation of earnings per share for the two month period ended March 31, 2008
represent the average shares of common stock issued and committed for issuance for the two months ended March 31, 2008. The 98 million
shares of common stock issued have been increased by the shares of common stock committed for future issuance to certain union and non-
union employees. In the calculation of basic earnings per share, net income is reduced by the preferred dividend.

     Stock options and restricted stock units issued during the quarter had a nominal impact on the weighted average shares outstanding as a
substantial portion of the stock options carry a strike price above the average price of the stock. Conversion of the preferred stock has not been
included in the share count for diluted earnings per share as it was anti-dilutive. The preferred stock would convert into approximately 60 million
shares of common stock at the $13.19 conversion price.
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     In addition to average shares of common stock outstanding of 150 million for 2007, we had one million shares that satisfy the definition of
potentially dilutive shares. These potentially dilutive shares have been excluded from the computation of earnings per share for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 as the loss from continuing operations for these periods caused the shares to have an anti-dilutive effect. In
addition, we excluded 14 million shares of common stock for the 2007 period from the computation of earnings per share as these shares
represented stock options with exercise prices higher than the average per share trading price of our stock during the respective periods and
the effect of including them would also be anti-dilutive.

Note 10. Incentive and Stock Compensation

     Upon emergence, all common stock as well as equity-based incentive compensation, including but not limited to stock options and restricted
stock units of Prior Dana, were cancelled in accordance with the Plan.

Stock Distributions

     As previously disclosed, as part of the amendments to executive agreements Dana entered into with certain executive officers, Dana
instituted an Executive Incentive Compensation (EIC) plan. The participant is eligible to receive payments with respect to 2007 and 2008
performance upon the achievement of certain earnings before interest, depreciation and amortization, reorganization and realignment
(EBITDA) targets as defined in the EIC plan. Please note, in previous filings we have utilized the term “EBITDAR” to describe earnings before
interest, depreciation and amortization, reorganization and realignment. For purposes of reflecting this measurement as it is customarily used,
we have elected for this report and future filings to describe earnings before interest, depreciation and amortization, reorganization and
realignment by now utilizing the term “EBITDA”. On April 14, 2008, we issued 73,562 shares of common stock to EIC participants for meeting
2007 performance goals. The average fair value per share was $9.84 on the date of distribution.

2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan

     As part of the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court approved our 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The purpose of the Omnibus Incentive Plan is to
attract and retain our directors, officers, other employees and consultants and to motivate and provide to such persons incentives and rewards
for superior performance. The eligibility requirements and terms governing the allocation of any common stock and the receipt of other
consideration under the Omnibus Incentive Plan is determined by the Board of Directors and/or the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors, as applicable. It is a tenet of our executive compensation philosophy that performance-based compensation provided to our Chief
Executive Officer and other senior managers who are “covered employees” under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the Code) should comply with the Code requirements that qualify such compensation as tax-deductible for Dana, unless the
Compensation Committee determines that it is in Dana’s best interests in individual circumstances to provide compensation that is not tax-
deductible.
 
     Under the Omnibus Incentive Plan and subject to adjustment as provided therein, the number of shares of common stock that may be
issued or delivered
 
•    upon the exercise of option rights or appreciation rights,
 

•    as restricted shares and released from the substantial risk of forfeiture thereof,
 

•    as settlement for restricted stock units upon satisfaction of the substantial risk of forfeiture thereof,
 

•    in payment of performance shares or performance units that have been earned,
 

•    as awards to non-employee directors, or
 

•    in payment of dividend equivalents paid with respect to awards made under the Omnibus Incentive Plan

may not exceed, in the aggregate, 16,090,000 shares, plus any shares relating to awards that terminate or are forfeited. The aggregate number
of shares of common stock we actually issue or transfer upon the exercise of incentive stock options may not exceed 4,000,000 shares.
Further, no participant may be granted option rights or appreciation rights for more than 2,000,000 shares of common stock during any
calendar year, subject to adjustments as provided in the Omnibus Incentive Plan.

     In no event may any participant receive restricted shares, restricted stock units or performance shares in the aggregate for more than
1,000,000 shares of common stock during any calendar year or receive an award of performance units having an aggregate maximum value as
of their respective dates of grant in excess of $10. The maximum number of shares that may be granted under the Omnibus Incentive Plan is
subject to adjustment in the
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event of stock dividends, stock splits, combinations of shares, recapitalizations, mergers, consolidations, spin-offs, reorganizations, liquidations,
issuances of rights or warrants and similar events.

     No grants may be made under the Omnibus Incentive Plan after December 25, 2017.

     Under the Omnibus Incentive Plan, the Board of Directors may also, in its discretion, authorize the granting of option rights and appreciation
rights to non-employee directors and may also authorize the grant of other awards.

     Upon a change in control of Dana, except as otherwise provided in the terms of the award or as provided by the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors, to the extent outstanding awards are not assumed, converted or replaced by the resulting entity, all outstanding
awards that may be exercised will become fully exercisable, all restrictions with respect to outstanding awards will lapse and such awards will
become fully vested and non-forfeitable, and any specified performance measures with respect to outstanding awards will be deemed to be
satisfied at target.

Stock Options

     During the first quarter of 2008, we granted stock options to our Executive Chairman as well as our non-employee directors under the
Omnibus Incentive Plan. We calculated a fair value at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes valuation method for options granted. We
changed from the lattice valuation method because we believe Black-Scholes is more appropriate for situations in which historical exercise
data is not available. The fair value at grant date for the employee options was $5.57. The weighted-average fair value at grant date for the
non-employee director options was $4.53. The exercise price of each option awarded under the Omnibus Incentive Plan equaled the market
price of Dana common stock on the date of grant and an option’s maximum term is 10 years. Shares issued upon the exercise of options are
recorded in the common stock accounts at the option price.

     The following table summarizes the stock options granted to employees under the Omnibus Incentive Plan during the two months ended
March 31, 2008:
         
  Number of   Exercise  
  Shares   Price  
Outstanding at January 31, 2008   —  $ — 

Granted   800,000   12.75 
  

 
  

 
 

Outstanding at March 31, 2008   800,000  $ 12.75 
  

 

  

 

 

     The following table summarizes information about the employee stock options outstanding at March 31, 2008:
           
  Outstanding Options  Exercisable Options
    Remaining       

Range of  Number of  Contractual  Exercise  Number of  Exercise
Exercise Prices  Options  Life in Years  Price  Options  Price

$12.75  800,000  9.8  $12.75  —  $—
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     The following table summarizes the stock options granted to the non-employee directors under the Omnibus Incentive Plan during the two
months ended March 31, 2008:
         
      Weighted  
      Average  
  Number of   Exercise  
  Shares   Price  
Outstanding at January 31, 2008   —  $ — 

Granted   231,714   10.06 
  

 
  

 
 

Outstanding at March 31, 2008   231,714  $ 10.06 
  

 

  

 

 

     The following table summarizes information about the non-employee directors stock options outstanding at March 31, 2008:
           
  Outstanding Options  Exercisable Options
    Weighted       
    Average  Weighted    Weighted
    Remaining  Average    Average

Range of  Number of  Contractual  Exercise  Number of  Exercise
Exercise Prices  Options  Life in Years  Price  Options  Price

$10.06  231,714  10.0  $10.06  —  $—

     As of March 31, 2008, the total unrecognized compensation expense for non-vested options was $5, which is being amortized over a period
of approximately three years. No options vested during the two months ended March 31, 2008. During the two months ended March 31, 2008,
we recognized nominal equity-based compensation expense.

Restricted Stock Units

     On March 28, 2008, we granted 34,790 restricted stock units to our non-employee directors under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. Each
restricted stock unit granted represents the right to receive one share of Dana common stock or, at the election of Dana, cash equal to the
market value per share. The restricted stock units granted vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary date of the
grant and contain dividend equivalent rights. Compensation expense for restricted stock units is measured based on the fair value at grant date
and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Subsequent Event – Omnibus Incentive Plan

     On April 16, 2008, we granted 600,000 stock options to consultants under the Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Subsequent Event — 2008 Long Term Incentive Program

     On April 16, 2008, upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors of Dana approved the 2008 Long
Term Incentive Program (2008 LTIP). The 2008 LTIP is being implemented pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Omnibus Incentive Plan.
Below is a summary of the key terms of the 2008 LTIP.

     Employees designated by Dana, including our named executive officers, may participate in the 2008 LTIP. The target award is determined
based upon the annualized expected value calculated and the stock price at the date of grant. The 2008 LTIP provides for three different mixes
of long-term incentives. First, certain executives, including the named executive officers, are eligible for long-term incentive awards consisting
of 50% stock options and 50% performance shares. The next group of employees is eligible for long-term incentive awards consisting of 50%
performance shares and 50% restricted stock units. Finally, other key employees are eligible for restricted stock unit awards from a
discretionary pool.
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     Stock option awards under the 2008 LTIP have a contractual term of 10 years and vest ratably over three years. The restricted stock unit
awards cliff vest fully after three years and will be settled in shares of Dana common stock, except for certain international employees who may
receive cash-settled awards.

     With respect to an award of performance shares, each participant will receive notional shares equal to the number of shares of Dana
common stock that would be payable based on the target performance goals. An award of performance shares under the 2008 LTIP is based
on certain target performance goals. Dana has chosen EBITDA (34% weighted), free cash flow (as defined) (33% weighted) and return on
invested capital (as defined) (ROIC) (33% weighted) as its financial measurements for establishing its 2008 LTIP target performance goals.
Awards for executive officers, including the named executive officers, are based on a range of 50% of the target performance award to 250% of
the target performance award. Dana will set for each participant a number of notional shares payable at the target.

     For 2008 performance share awards, there are three distinct performance periods. The first period covers the 2008 calendar year. It will
account for 25% of the target award. The second period covers the two-year period 2008 through 2009. It accounts for another 25% of the
target award. The final period covers the three-year period 2008 through 2010. It accounts for the remaining 50% of the target award. Award
payouts, which are based on actual performance, will be made shortly after the conclusion of the respective performance period.

     On April 16, 2008, we granted 2,069,395 stock options to employees. The fair value per option at grant date was $4.38.

     On April 16, 2008, we granted approximately 525,000 restricted stock units pursuant to the terms and guidelines set forth under the 2008
LTIP to certain employees.

Subsequent Event — 2008 Annual Incentive Program

     On April 16, 2008, upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors of Dana approved the 2008 Annual
Incentive Program (2008 AIP). The 2008 AIP is being implemented pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Omnibus Incentive Plan. Below
is a summary of the key terms of the 2008 AIP.

     Certain eligible employees designated by Dana, including our named executive officers, may participate in the 2008 AIP. The 2008 AIP is
based on a calendar year performance period commencing January 1, 2008 and ending on December 31, 2008. All earned awards will be paid
in cash during the first quarter of 2009.

     An award under the 2008 AIP is based on certain target performance goals. Dana has chosen EBITDA (50% weighted) and free cash flow
(50% weighted) as its financial measurements for establishing its 2008 AIP target performance goals. Awards for executive officers, including
the named executive officers, are determined on a range of 50% of the target performance award to 250% of the target performance award.
Dana will set for each participant a percentage of his or her annual base salary payable at the target. A minimum level of EBITDA must be
achieved by Dana in order for any award to be earned.

     There is individual performance recognition through discretionary award adjustments within specified guidelines. Employees must perform at
a minimum level to be eligible to earn any award. There is a maximum upward and downward adjustment of 20%, subject to a “zero sum”
overall impact. The 2008 AIP, along with our 2008 LTIP, are designed to comply with 
Section 162(m) of the Code and allow us to deduct for income tax purposes awards made under both programs.
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Note 11. Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

     We have a number of defined contribution and defined benefit, qualified and nonqualified, pension plans for certain employees. Other
postretirement benefit plans, including medical and life insurance, are provided for certain employees upon retirement.

     The components of net periodic benefit costs for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
                          
  Pension Benefits  
  Three Months Ended March 31, 2008     
           Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months Ended    One Month Ended   Three Months Ended  
  March 31, 2008    January 31, 2008   March 31, 2007  
  U.S.   Non-U.S.    U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.  
Service cost  $ —  $ 1   $ 1  $ 1  $ 7  $ 6 
Interest cost   18   5    9   2   29   12 
Expected return on plan assets   (23)   (4)    (12)   (2)   (37)   (13)
Recognized net actuarial loss            2       6     
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit)   (5)   2    —   1   5   5 
Curtailment loss                        8 
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) after
curtailment and settlements  $ (5)  $ 2   $ —  $ 1  $ 5  $ 13 

  

 

  

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                          
  Other Benefits  
  Three Months Ended March 31, 2008     
           Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months Ended    One Month Ended   Three Months Ended  
  March 31, 2008    January 31, 2008   March 31, 2007  
  U.S.   Non-U.S.    U.S.   Non-U.S.   U.S.   Non-U.S.  
Service cost  $ —  $ —   $ —  $ —  $ 2  $ — 
Interest cost       1    5   1   21   1 
Amortization of prior service credit            (3)           (3)
Recognized net actuarial loss            3       5   4 
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net periodic benefit cost       1    5   1   28   2 
Curtailment gain            (61)             
Settlement gain                    (12)     
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) after
curtailment and settlements   $ —  $ 1   $ (56)  $ 1  $ 16  $ 2 

  

 

  

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     During the first quarter of 2007 we announced the restructuring of our pension liabilities in the U.K. necessitated by the planned divestiture
of several non-core U.K. businesses. Pursuant to the underlying agreement, we recorded $8 of pension curtailment cost as a realignment
charge in the first quarter of 2007.

     During the first quarter of 2007, the sale of the engine hard parts business resulted in a postretirement medical plan settlement gain of $12.
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     Certain changes to our U.S. pension and postretirement benefit plans were implemented during the bankruptcy process. Provisions
implemented during the bankruptcy process were:

 §  eliminated postretirement healthcare benefits for active non-union employees in the U.S. effective as of April 1, 2007. This action
reduced our accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) for postretirement healthcare by $115 in the first quarter of 2007.
Because the elimination of these benefits reduced benefits previously earned, it was considered a negative plan amendment.
Accordingly, the reduction in the APBO was offset by a credit to other comprehensive income (OCI) which was amortized to income as
a reduction of OPEB expense until AOCI was eliminated under fresh start accounting;

 

 §  contributed an aggregate of $78 to a VEBA trust for postretirement healthcare and life insurance benefits for non-union retirees in the
U.S. in exchange for release of the Debtors from these obligations. We funded our contribution with payments of $25 in June 2007 and
$53 in January 2008. In May 2007, we also made a $2 payment to the International Association of Machinists (IAM) to resolve all
claims for postretirement non-pension benefits after June 30, 2007 for retirees and active employees represented by the IAM. These
actions reduced our APBO by $303 in the second quarter of 2007, with $80 being offset by the payment obligation to the VEBAs and
$223 being credited to AOCI until AOCI was eliminated under fresh start accounting; and

 

 §  amended our U.S. pension plans for non-union employees to freeze service credits and benefit accruals effective July 1, 2007. In
connection with this action, we recorded a curtailment charge of $3 during the second quarter of 2007.

     Other changes related to our U.S. pensions and other postretirement benefits specific to union-represented employees and retirees were
implemented on January 31, 2008 with our emergence from bankruptcy. Under these provisions, we have:

 §  frozen credited service and benefit accruals under our defined benefit pension plans for employees;
 

 §  agreed to make future contributions, based on a cents per hour formula, to a USW multiemployer pension trust, which will provide
future pension benefits for covered employees;

 

 §  eliminated non-pension retiree benefits (postretirement healthcare and life insurance benefits) for employees and retirees; and
 

 §  contributed an aggregate of approximately $733 in cash on February 1, 2008 (which is net of amounts paid for non-pension retiree
benefits, long-term disability and related healthcare claims of retirees incurred and paid between July 1, 2007 and the date of
emergence) to the union-administered VEBAs. These VEBAs will provide non-pension retiree benefits, disability benefits and related
healthcare benefits, as determined by the VEBA trustees, to eligible retirees. As a result of the changes in our U.S. other
postretirement benefits that became effective on January 31, 2008 with our emergence from bankruptcy, we recognized a portion of the
previously unrecognized prior service credits as a curtailment gain of $61 due to the negative plan amendment and reported it as a
component of the gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise. In connection with the recognition of the VEBA obligations at
emergence, the APBO was reduced by $278 with an offsetting credit to OCI.

     Our postretirement healthcare obligations for all U.S. employees and retirees have been eliminated. Our related cost and funding
requirements, after making our VEBA contributions, have been eliminated. With regard to pension benefits, credited service and benefit
accruals have been frozen for all U.S. employees in defined benefit plans. Our future pension costs have been reduced significantly.
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     Under fresh start accounting we were required to remeasure all defined benefit plan obligations and assets. The discount rate used to
measure the U.S. pension and other postretirement benefit obligations were 6.13% and 6.10% at January 31, 2008 compared to 6.26% and
6.24% at December 31, 2007. The weighted average discount rates used to measure the non-U.S. pension and other postretirement benefit
obligations were 5.29% and 5.29% at January 31, 2008 compared to 5.27% and 5.29% at December 31, 2007. The generally adverse asset
investment performance during the month of January 2008 negatively impacted net obligations. As a result of these changes, a net actuarial
loss of $140 increased defined benefit obligations with an offset to OCI. The AOCI balance at January 31, 2008 was eliminated under fresh
start accounting.

Note 12. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

     Comprehensive income (loss) includes our net income (loss) and components of OCI such as deferred currency translation gains and
losses that are charged or credited directly to shareholders’ equity.

     The components of our total comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months 
  Ended    Ended   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Net income (loss)  $ (24)   $ 709  $ (92)
Other comprehensive income (loss):              

Currency translation adjustments   44    3   16 
Postretirement healthcare plan amendments        278   115 
Immediate recognition of prior service credit due to curtailment        (61)     
Actuarial loss        (140)     
Reclassification to net income (loss) of:              

Benefit plan amortization        2   11 
GETRAG deferred translation and pension            (93)

Other        (6)   13 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ 20   $ 785  $ (30)
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     The $44 deferred translation gain reported for the two months ended March 31, 2008 was primarily due to the continued weakening of the
U.S. dollar in relation to the euro ($39). For the one month ended January 31, 2008, the euro ($8) and the Brazilian real ($2) strengthened
relative to the U.S. dollar while the South African rand weakened ($4).

     As previously described in Note 11, OCI for the one month ended January 31, 2008 includes the impact of the changes made to our U.S.
other postretirement benefit plans specific to union-represented employees effective with our emergence from bankruptcy. As a result of these
changes, we recognized $61 of previously unrecognized prior service credits as a curtailment gain. In addition, OCI was credited with $278
pursuant to the plan change and establishment of the union VEBAs. In connection with the adoption of fresh start accounting upon emergence,
we were required to re-measure the assets and liabilities of all of our defined benefit plans using updated assumptions. As a result, OCI was
charged with $140 in actuarial losses.
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     For the three months ended March 31, 2007, OCI included a $115 credit related to the termination of postretirement healthcare coverage for
active non-union employees (see Note 11) and a charge of $93 to reclassify to net loss the deferred translation gain and unamortized pension
expense related to the sale in March 2007 of our equity investment in GETRAG. The $16 deferred translation gain reported for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 was primarily due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar against the euro, partially offset by losses of $9 and $3
due to strengthening of the dollar against the Brazilian real and Mexican peso. Other includes $10 of pension adjustments related to our sale of
the engine hard parts business.

Note 13. Cash Deposits

     Cash deposits are maintained to provide credit enhancement for certain agreements. These financial instruments are typically renewed
each year and are recorded in Cash and cash equivalents. In most instances, these cash deposits may be withdrawn if comparable security is
provided in the form of letters of credit.

     At March 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents held in the U.S. amounted to $557. Included in this amount was $71 of cash deposits
primarily to provide credit enhancement for certain lease agreements, support surety bonds that enable us to self-insure our workers’
compensation obligations in certain states and fund an escrow account required to appeal a judgment rendered in Texas. Cash held by DCC is
no longer restricted as the obligations under a forbearance agreement were satisfied in January 2008.

     At March 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents held outside the U.S. amounted to $726. Included in this amount was $47 of cash deposits
primarily to provide credit enhancement for certain lease agreements and to support letters of credit, bank guarantees and certain employee
benefit obligations.

     Cash deposits are not considered to be restricted as they could be replaced by letters of credit available under our Exit Facility (discussed in
Note 14). Availability at March 31, 2008 was adequate to cover the deposits for which replacement by letters of credit is permitted.

     A substantial portion of our non-U.S. cash and cash equivalents is needed for working capital and other operating purposes. Several
countries have local regulatory requirements that significantly restrict the ability of our operations to repatriate this cash. In addition, at March
31, 2008, $85 was held by consolidated entities that have minority interests with varying levels of participation rights involving cash
withdrawals. Beyond these restrictions, there are practical limitations on repatriation of cash from certain countries because of the resulting tax
withholdings.
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Note 14. Financing Agreements

     Details of our consolidated long-term debt at March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 were as follows:
          
       Prior Dana  
  March 31,   December 31, 
  2008    2007  
Indebtedness of Dana, excluding consolidated subsidiaries -          

Term Loan Facility, weighted average rate, 6.80%  $ 1,426      
Less original issue discount (OID)   (111)      

DIP Term Loan       $ 900 
          
Indebtedness of DCC -          

Unsecured notes, fixed rates, 2.00% - 8.375%, due 2008 to 2012        136 
Nonrecourse notes, fixed rates, 5.92%, due 2008 to 2011   7    7 

Indebtedness of other consolidated subsidiaries   21    19 
  

 
   

 
 

Total   1,343    1,062 
Less: Current maturities   22    1,043 
  

 
   

 
 

Total long-term debt  $ 1,321   $ 19 
  

 

   

 

 

DIP Credit Agreement

     Prior Dana, as borrower, and its Debtor subsidiaries, as guarantors, were parties to the DIP Credit Agreement that was initially approved by
the Bankruptcy Court in March 2006. Under the DIP Credit Agreement, we had a $650 revolving credit facility and a $900 term loan facility at
December 31, 2007. For a discussion of the terms of the DIP Credit Agreement, see Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8
of our 2007 Form 10-K.

     At December 31, 2007, we had borrowed $900 under the DIP Credit Agreement. All of the loans and other obligations under the DIP Credit
Agreement were repaid as part of the consummation of the Plan, primarily from the funding obtained from the Exit Facility. Letters of credit
issued under the DIP Credit Agreement were transferred to the Exit Facility.

Exit Financing

     On the Effective Date, Dana, as Borrower, and certain of our domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, entered into the Exit Facility with Citicorp
USA, Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and Barclays Capital. The Exit Facility consists of the Term Facility in the total aggregate amount of $1,430
and the $650 Revolving Facility. The Term Facility was fully drawn in borrowings of $1,350 on the Effective Date and $80 on February 1, 2008.
Net proceeds were $1,276 after $114 of original issue discount and other customary issuance costs and fees of $40 both of which were
deferred and will be amortized into interest expense over the term of the loan. There were no borrowings under the Revolving Facility at the
Effective Date, but $200 was utilized for existing letters of credit. For an explanation of the terms of the Exit Facility, see Note 16 to our
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of our 2007 Form 10-K.

     At March 31, 2008, we had gross borrowings of $1,426 (before reduction of $111 for unamortized original issue discount) under the Term
Facility and although we had no borrowing under the Revolving Facility, we had utilized $191 for letters of credit. Based on our borrowing base
collateral, we had availability at that date under the Revolving Facility of $398 after deducting the outstanding letters of credit.

     We believe our overall liquidity and operating cash flow will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for capital expenditures,
working capital, debt obligations and other commitments for the foreseeable future.
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European Receivables Loan Facility

     In July 2007, certain of our European subsidiaries entered into definitive agreements to establish an accounts receivable securitization
program. The agreements include a Receivable Loan Agreement (the Loan Agreement) with GE Leveraged Loans Limited (GE) that provides
for a five-year accounts receivable securitization facility under which up to the euro equivalent of $225 in financing is available to those
European subsidiaries (collectively, the Sellers) subject to the availability of adequate levels of accounts receivable. For a discussion of this
facility and the receivables program, see Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of our 2007 Form 10-K. At March 31, 2008,
there was availability of $117 in countries that have securitization in place and there were borrowings under this facility equivalent to $90
recorded as notes payable. The proceeds from the borrowings are used for operations including the repayment of intercompany debt.

Canadian Credit Agreement

     In June 2006, Dana Canada Corporation (Dana Canada), as borrower, and certain of its Canadian affiliates, as guarantors, entered into a
Credit Agreement (the Canadian Credit Agreement) with Citibank Canada, as agent, initial lender and an issuing bank, and with JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., Toronto Branch, and Bank of America, N.A., Canada Branch, as initial lenders and issuing banks. The Canadian Credit
Agreement provided for a $100 revolving credit facility, of which $5 was available for the issuance of letters of credit. At January 31, 2008, less
than $1 of the facility was being utilized for the letters of credit and there had been no borrowings over the life of this agreement. The Canadian
Credit Agreement was terminated upon our emergence from bankruptcy.

Interest Rate Agreements

     Interest on the Term Facility is at variable interest rates. Under the terms of the Term Facility we are required to enter into interest rate hedge
agreements by May 30, 2008 and to maintain agreements covering a notional amount of not less than 50% of the aggregate loans outstanding
under the Term Facility for a period of no less than three years.

DCC

     See Note 3 for information about DCC’s repayment of outstanding debt to its bondholders on January 31, 2008.

Note 15. Fair Value Measurements

     SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” defines fair value, provides a framework for measuring fair value and establishes a three-tier fair
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

 •  Level 1 inputs (highest priority) include unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 

 •  Level 2 inputs include other than quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities that are observable either directly or indirectly.
 

 •  Level 3 inputs (lowest priority) include unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting
entity to develop its own assumptions.

     We have deferred the adoption of SFAS No. 157 with respect to nonfinancial assets and liabilities, except for items that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually), in accordance with the provisions of FASB Staff
Position FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157.”

     In measuring the fair value of our assets and liabilities, we use market data or assumptions that we believe market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability including assumptions about risk when appropriate. Our valuation techniques include a combination of observable
and unobservable inputs. A decrease in the valuation of notes receivable during the quarter of $6 was charged to other comprehensive income.
The decrease was attributable to changes in observable inputs as we did not revise our unobservable input assumptions. As of March 31,
2008, our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis include the following:
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      Fair Value Measurements Using  
      Quoted   Significant     
      Prices in   Other   Significant  
      Active   Observable  Unobservable 
      Markets   Inputs   Inputs  
  Total   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  
Assets:                 
Note receivable  $ 63  $ —  $ —  $ 63 
Currency forward contracts   7      7     
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total assets  $ 70  $ —  $ 7  $ 63 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Liabilities:                 
Currency forward contracts  $ 5  $   $ 5  $ — 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities  $ 5  $ —  $ 5  $ — 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies

Impact of Our Bankruptcy Filing

     During our Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings, most actions against the Debtors relating to pre-petition liabilities were automatically
stayed. Substantially all of our pre-petition liabilities were addressed under the Plan. Our emergence from bankruptcy resolved certain of our
contingencies as discussed below.

     During January 2008, both an Ad Hoc Committee of Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants as well as an asbestos claimant, Jose Angel
Valdez, filed notices of appeal of the Confirmation Order. During February 2008, the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York consolidated the two appeals. Prior Dana and the other post-emergence Debtors filed with the District Court (i) a motion to dismiss
the consolidated appeal and (ii) a brief in support of the motion to dismiss and on the merits of the consolidated appeal. The consolidated
appeal and the motion to dismiss are currently pending before the District Court, with oral arguments yet to be scheduled.

Class Action Lawsuit and Derivative Actions

     A securities class action entitled Howard Frank v. Michael J. Burns and Robert C. Richter was originally filed in October 2005 in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, naming our former Chief Executive Officer, Michael J. Burns, and former Chief Financial Officer,
Robert C. Richter, as defendants. In a consolidated complaint filed in August 2006, lead plaintiffs alleged violations of the U.S. securities laws
and claimed that the price at which our stock traded at various times between April 2004 and October 2005 was artificially inflated as a result of
the defendants’ alleged wrongdoing. In June 2007, the District Court denied lead plaintiffs’ motion for an order partially lifting the statutory
discovery stay which would have enabled them to obtain copies of certain documents produced to the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). By order dated August 21, 2007, the District Court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint and entered a
judgment closing the case. In September 2007, the lead plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal from the District Court’s order and judgment. As of the
date hereof, the appeal has been fully briefed. Oral arguments have not been scheduled.
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     A stockholder derivative action entitled Roberta Casden v. Michael J. Burns, et al., was originally filed in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Ohio in March 2006. An amended complaint filed in August 2006 added alleged non-derivative class claims on behalf of
holders of our stock alleging, among other things, that the defendants (our former Board of Directors, former Chief Executive Officer and former
Chief Financial Officer) had breached their fiduciary duties and acted in bad faith in determining to file for protection under the Bankruptcy
Laws. These alleged non-derivative class claims are not asserted against Dana. In June 2006, the District Court stayed the derivative claims,
deferring to the Bankruptcy Court on those claims. In July 2007, the District Court dismissed the non-derivative class claims asserted in the
amended complaint and entered a judgment closing the case. In August 2007, the plaintiff filed a notice of appeal from the District Court’s order
and judgment. As of the date hereof, the appeal has been fully briefed. Oral arguments have not been scheduled.

SEC Investigation

     In September 2005, we reported that management was investigating accounting matters arising out of incorrect entries related to a
customer agreement in our Commercial Vehicle operations, and that the Prior Dana Audit Committee had engaged outside counsel to conduct
an independent investigation of these matters as well. Outside counsel informed the SEC of the investigation, which ended in December 2005,
the same month that we filed restated financial statements for the first two quarters of 2005 and the years 2002 through 2004. In January 2006,
we learned that the SEC had issued a formal order of investigation with respect to matters related to our restatements. The SEC’s investigation
is a non-public, fact-finding inquiry to determine whether any violations of the law have occurred. We are continuing to cooperate fully with the
SEC in the investigation.

Legal Proceedings Arising in the Ordinary Course of Business

     We are a party to various pending judicial and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. These include, among
others, proceedings based on product liability claims and alleged violations of environmental laws. We have reviewed these pending legal
proceedings, including the probable outcomes, our reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, the availability and limits of our insurance
coverage and surety bonds and our established reserves for uninsured liabilities.

     Further information about some of these legal proceedings follows, including information about our accruals for the liabilities that may arise
from such proceedings. We accrue for contingent liabilities at the time when we believe they are both probable and estimable. We review our
assessments of probability and estimability as new information becomes available and adjust our accruals quarterly, if appropriate. Since we do
not accrue for contingent liabilities that we believe are probable unless we can reasonably estimate the amounts of such liabilities, our actual
liabilities may exceed the amounts we have recorded. We do not believe that any liabilities that may result from these proceedings are
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or financial condition.

Asbestos Personal Injury Liabilities

     We had approximately 41,000 active pending asbestos personal injury liability claims at March 31, 2008, which is generally unchanged from
the number of claims pending at December 31, 2007, including approximately 6,000 claims that were settled but awaiting final documentation
and payment. In connection with applying fresh start accounting, we assigned probabilities to the values underlying the estimated range of
future asbestos indemnity and defense costs included in the December 31, 2007 actuarial valuation obtained to estimate our liability associated
with these obligations. The related cash flows were probability weighted and discounted to determine the estimated fair value as of January 31,
2008. As a result, we had accrued $144 for indemnity and defense costs for pending and future asbestos personal injury liability claims at
March 31, 2008. Our policy before the adoption of fresh start accounting had been to accrue the undiscounted low end of the range of
projected obligations, which had resulted in an accrual of $136 at December 31, 2007.
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     Prior to 2006, we reached agreements with some of our insurers to commute policies covering asbestos personal injury claims. We apply
proceeds from insurance commutations first to reduce any recorded recoverable amount. Proceeds from commutations in excess of our
estimated recoverable amount for pending and future claims are recorded as a credit to other income. Commutation proceeds of $2 were
credited to other income in the two months ended March 31, 2008.

     At March 31, 2008, we had recorded $73 as an asset for probable recovery from our insurers for the pending and projected asbestos
personal injury liability claims, compared to $69 recorded at December 31, 2007. The March 31 amount was also discounted using the same
methodology as the associated liability. The recorded asset reflects our assessment of the capacity of our current insurance agreements to
provide for the payment of anticipated defense and indemnity costs for pending claims and projected future demands. These recoveries take
into account elections to extend existing coverage which we exercised in order to maximize our insurance recovery. The recorded asset does
not represent the limits of our insurance coverage, but rather the amount we would expect to recover if we paid the accrued indemnity and
defense costs.

     In addition, we had a net amount receivable from our insurers and others of $18 at March 31, 2008, compared to $17 at December 31,
2007. The receivable represents reimbursements for settled asbestos personal injury liability claims, including billings in progress and amounts
subject to alternate dispute resolution proceedings with some of our insurers. It is anticipated that a favorable settlement to these proceedings
will be finalized soon.

     As part of our reorganization, assets and liabilities associated with asbestos claims were retained in Prior Dana which was then merged into
Dana Companies, LLC, a consolidated wholly owned subsidiary of Dana. The assets of Dana Companies, LLC include insurance rights relating
to coverage against these liabilities and other assets which we believe are sufficient to satisfy its liabilities. Dana Companies, LLC continues to
process asbestos personal injury claims in the normal course of business, is separately managed and has an independent board member. The
independent board member is required to approve certain transactions including dividends or other transfers of $1 or more of value to Dana.

Other Product Liabilities

     We had accrued $2 for non-asbestos product liability costs at March 31, 2008, compared to $4 at December 31, 2007, with no recovery
expected from third parties at either date. We estimate these liabilities based on assumptions about the value of the claims and about the
likelihood of recoveries against us derived from our historical experience and current information.

Environmental Liabilities

     Accrued environmental liabilities at March 31, 2008 were $21, compared to $180 at December 31, 2007. We retained $19 of the $180
liability as a post-emergence obligation. Claims of $161 are being addressed through the unresolved claims process described in the
Emergence from Reorganization Proceedings section of Item 1. As such, the resolution of these matters will not have an impact on our post-
emergence financial condition or results of operations.

     We considered the most probable method of remediation, current laws and regulations and existing technology in determining the fair value
as of January 31, 2008.
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     One of the larger claims at emergence was a claim involving the Hamilton Avenue Industrial Park (Hamilton) site in New Jersey. We are a
potentially responsible party at this site (also known as the Cornell Dubilier Electronics or CDE site) under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA). This matter has been the subject of an estimation proceeding as a result of our
objection to a claim filed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and other federal agencies (collectively, the Government) in
connection with this and several other CERCLA sites. During the course of the proceedings and our efforts to address the Government’s claim,
no additional information was provided to support any adjustment to the amounts we had accrued for this matter. For the past several months,
we have been actively litigating the claim and negotiating a settlement with the Government on the Hamilton site as well as other environmental
claims. We reached agreement with the Government in April 2008 providing for an allowed general unsecured claim of $126, which will be
settled by distribution of shares from the disputed claims reserve. At December 31, 2007, we had concluded there was a probable settlement
outcome and adjusted the December 2007 liability to the probable settlement amount.

Other Liabilities Related to Asbestos Claims

      After the Center for Claims Resolution (CCR) discontinued negotiating shared settlements for asbestos claims for its member companies in
2001, some former CCR members defaulted on the payment of their shares of some settlements and some settling claimants sought payment
of the unpaid shares from other members of the CCR at the time of the settlements, including from us. We have been working with the CCR,
other former CCR members, our insurers and the claimants over a period of several years in an effort to resolve these issues. Through
March 31, 2008, we had paid $47 to claimants and collected $29 from our insurance carriers with respect to these claims. At March 31, 2008,
we had a receivable of $18 that we expect to recover from available insurance and surety bonds relating to these claims.

Note 17. Warranty Obligations

     We record a liability for estimated warranty obligations at the dates our products are sold. Adjustments are made as new information
becomes available. Our warranty activity for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 was as follows:
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months 
  Ended    Ended   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Balance, beginning of period  $ 93   $ 92  $ 90 
Amounts accrued for current period sales   10    4   11 
Adjustments of prior accrual estimates   1        3 
Settlements of warranty claims   (11)    (3)   (20)
Foreign currency translation and other   2          
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Balance, end of period  $ 95   $ 93  $ 84 
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     We have been notified by a customer in Europe that a quality matter relating to a specific product supplied by us could potentially result in
warranty claims. Our customer has advised us of alleged vehicle performance issues which may be potentially attributable to our product. We
are currently investigating the information provided by our customer and performing product testing to ascertain whether the reported
performance failures are attributable to our product. At March 31, 2008, no liability had been recorded for this matter as the information
currently available to us is insufficient to assess our liability, if any.
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Note 18. Income Taxes

     Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Current and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities are recognized based on events which have occurred and are measured under enacted tax laws. Based on our history of losses
and our near-term profit outlook, we have established 100% valuation allowances against our U.S. deferred tax assets. Similar valuation
allowances are recorded in other countries such as the U.K. where, based on the profit outlook, realization of the deferred tax asset does not
satisfy the more likely than not recognition criterion.

     We have not recognized tax benefits on losses generated since 2005 in several countries, including the U.S. and the U.K., where the recent
history of operating losses does not allow us to satisfy the more likely than not criterion for realization of deferred tax assets. This and the
impact of fresh start adjustments in 2008, are the primary factors which cause the tax expense of $219 ($199 for January and $20 for February
and March) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and the tax expense of $15 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 to differ from
expected tax expense of $319 ($320 for January and a benefit of $1 for February and March) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and
benefit of $9 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 at the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35%.

     We conduct business globally and, as a result, file income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions and are subject to examination by taxing
authorities throughout the world. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local or foreign income tax
examinations for years before 1999. The 1999 — 2002 U.S. federal audits are effectively settled except for a determination of the treatment of
certain leasing transactions. The closing agreement on these transactions are expected to be finalized during 2008 and the effect, if any, on the
financial statements is not expected to be material. We are currently under audit by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the 2003 to
2005 tax years. The examination phase of this audit is expected to be completed in 2008.

     If matters for 1999 through 2005 are settled with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service within the next 12 months, the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits for all open tax years may be modified. Audit outcomes and the timing of the audit settlements are subject to
significant uncertainty; therefore, we cannot make an estimate of the impact at this time. Any adjustment recorded during 2008 will increase or
decrease goodwill. While most tax obligations were recognized as allowed priority tax claims, and effectively retained, certain tax liabilities were
settled on emergence from bankruptcy.

     Generally, the discharge of a debt obligation for an amount less than the adjusted issue price creates cancellation of indebtedness income
(CODI), which must be included in the obligor’s taxable income. However, recognition of CODI is limited for a taxpayer that is a debtor in a
reorganization case if the discharge is granted by the court or pursuant to a plan of reorganization approved by the court. The Plan enabled the
Debtors to qualify for this bankruptcy exclusion rule. Therefore, the CODI triggered by discharge of debt under the Plan will affect the taxable
income of the Debtors by reducing certain income tax attributes otherwise available in the following order: (i) net operating losses (NOLs) for
the year of discharge and net operating loss carryforwards; (ii) most credit carryforwards, including the general business credit and the
minimum tax credit; (iii) net capital losses for the year of discharge and capital loss carryforwards; and (iv) the tax basis of the debtor’s assets.
A debtor may elect to avoid the prescribed order of attribute reduction and instead reduce the basis of certain property first. We have not
completed our analysis as to whether it would be beneficial to reduce the basis of certain property before reducing NOLs. Our financial
statements assume that we will reduce the NOLs first.

     We are in the process of finalizing our analysis regarding the impact of CODI on our attributes. We expect to complete our analysis in late
2008 in connection with the filing of our short period 2008 tax return. Our current estimate is that we will have pre-emergence NOLs in the U.S.
of approximately $300 that will remain available upon emergence. The deferred tax assets related to our pre-emergence U.S. NOLs, including
those remaining post-emergence, will have a full valuation allowance.

      Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code will impose an annual limitation on our use of these pre-emergence NOLs. There is also a
limitation on the recognition of built-in losses generated as a result of an ownership change. Generally, under a special rule applicable to
ownership changes occurring in connection with a Chapter 11 plan of reorganization, the annual limitation amount is equal to the value of the
stock of a company immediately after
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emergence multiplied by an applicable federal rate. In our case this would result in an annual limitation of approximately $87.

     We paid approximately $733 following emergence to fund a VEBA for certain union employee benefit obligations. We are currently
evaluating applicable tax laws and regulations to determine the timing of the deduction for the amount paid. As currently presented, the amount
paid is assumed to be deductible in the post emergence period and not a deduction that would increase the $300 of pre-emergence NOLs that
are subject to the limitations imposed by the IRS.

Note 19. Other Income, Net
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months 
  Ended    Ended   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Interest income  $ 11   $ 4  $ 8 
DCC other income (loss), net        (1)   6 
Divestiture gains            12 
Foreign exchange gain, net   15    3   5 
Government grants   2    1   3 
Other, net   4    1   12 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Other income, net  $ 32   $ 8  $ 46 
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     Foreign currency denominated intercompany loan obligations to the U.S. with an equivalent value of $252 at March 31, 2008 are not
considered permanently invested as they are expected to be repaid in the near term. Accordingly, the foreign exchange gains on these loans of
$13 and $4 for the two months ended March 31, 2008 and one month ended January 31, 2008 are included in foreign exchange gain, net
above, rather than as translation gain in other comprehensive income.

Note 20. Segments

     We manage our operations globally through two manufacturing business units — ASG and HVSG. ASG has five operating segments
focused on specific products for the automotive light vehicle market: Axle, Driveshaft, Sealing, Thermal and Structures. HVSG has two
operating segments focused on specific medium-duty and heavy-duty vehicle markets: Commercial Vehicle and Off-Highway. We report
operating and related disclosures about each of our seven segments below on a basis that is used internally for evaluating segment
performance and deciding how to allocate resources to those segments.

      Costs not included in the business unit and operating segment results are related primarily to corporate administrative services, shared
service centers, trailing liabilities of closed operations and other administrative activities for which the charges are not allocated to the operating
segments. In addition, segment operating results are reported using the FIFO inventory valuation method with the LIFO versus FIFO difference
included as part of the reconciling items.

      Management had previously utilized earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) as the primary internal segment profit measure. While EBIT
and net income continue to be important profit measures, in 2008 the primary measure was changed to EBITDA, to enhance the comparability
and usefulness of our operating segment results after application of fresh start accounting upon emergence from bankruptcy. Please note, in
previous filings we have utilized the term “EBITDAR” to describe earnings before interest, depreciation and amortization, reorganization and
realignment. For purposes of reflecting this measurement as it is customarily used, we have elected for this report and future filings to describe
earnings before interest, depreciation and amortization, reorganization and realignment by now utilizing the term “EBITDA”. Although a non-
GAAP financial measure, EBITDA is also more closely aligned with the performance measurements in our debt covenants. EBITDA, as defined
for both internal performance measurement and debt covenant compliance, excludes equity in earnings of affiliates, minority interest,
discontinued operations, certain nonrecurring and unusual items such as goodwill impairment, amortization of fresh start inventory step-up and
divestiture gains and losses.
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     We used the following information to evaluate our operating segments for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007:
                          
  Three Months Ended March 31, 2008  
               Prior Dana  
  Two Months Ended    One Month Ended  
  March 31, 2008    January 31, 2008  
      Inter-            Inter-     
  External   Segment   Segment    External   Segment   Segment  
2008  Sales   Sales   EBITDA    Sales   Sales   EBITDA  
ASG                          

Axle  $ 431  $ 12  $ 20   $ 210  $ 6  $ 8 
Driveshaft   225   36   26    110   17   12 
Sealing   131   4   15    64   1   7 
Thermal   52   1   4    28       3 
Structures   180   2   17    90   1   5 
Eliminations and other   4   (36)   (5)    1   (16)   (3)
  

 
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total ASG   1,023   19   77    503   9   32 
                          
HVSG                          

Commercial Vehicle   209   1   11    97   1   4 
Off-Highway   328   9   32    151   4   15 
Eliminations and other       (7)   (2)        (4)     
  

 
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total HVSG   537   3   41    248   1   19 
                          
Other Operations   1   1            1     
Eliminations       (23)            (11)     

  
 
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 1,561  $ —  $ 118   $ 751  $ —  $ 51 
  

 

  

 

  

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

 

             
  Prior Dana  
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31, 2007  
      Inter-     
  External   Segment   Segment  
2007  Sales   Sales   EBITDA  
ASG             

Axle  $ 610  $ 24  $ 12 
Driveshaft   286   51   18 
Sealing   176   7   18 
Thermal   72   2   7 
Structures   270   4   23 
Eliminations and other   6   (61)   (6)
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total ASG   1,420   27   72 
             
HVSG             

Commercial Vehicle   340   1   17 
Off-Highway   384   9   41 
Eliminations and other       (9)   (2)
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total HVSG   724   1   56 
             
Other Operations   1         
Eliminations       (28)     

  
 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 2,145  $ —  $ 128 
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     The following table reconciles segment EBITDA to the consolidated income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax:
              
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31, 2008    
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months 
  Ended    Ended   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Segment EBITDA  $ 118   $ 51  $ 128 

Shared services and administrative expenses   (30)    (10)   (40)
Closed operations not in segments   2    (2)   (2)
Foreign exchange not in segments   15    4   4 
Depreciation   ( 47)    (23)   (67)
Amortization of intangibles   ( 15)          
Amortization of fresh start inventory step-up   (15)          
Realignment   (5)    (12)   (19)
DCC EBIT            7 
Reorganization items, net   ( 9)    (98)   (37)
Interest expense   ( 27)    (8)   (23)
Interest income   11    4   8 
Fresh start accounting adjustments        1,009     
Other income (loss)        (1)   14 

  
 
   

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes  $ (2)   $ 914  $ (27)
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     The loss from continuing operations before income taxes of $2 for the two months ended March 31, 2008 includes net expenses of $31
resulting from the application of fresh start accounting, primarily amortization of intangibles, the expensing of the incremental fresh start value
of inventories sold during the period and additional depreciation expense.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in millions)

     Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and accompanying notes in this report.

Forward-looking Information

     Statements in this report (or otherwise made by us or on our behalf) that are not entirely historical constitute “forward-looking” statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are indicated by words such as
“anticipates,” “expects,” “believes,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “projects” and similar expressions. These statements represent the present
expectations of Dana Holding Corporation (Dana, we or us) and its consolidated subsidiaries based on our current information and
assumptions. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties. Our plans, actions and actual results could differ
materially from our present expectations due to a number of factors, including those discussed in Item 1A of Part I of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 (our 2007 Form 10-K) and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise
any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances that may arise after the date of this report.

Management Overview

     Dana Holding Corporation (Dana), incorporated in Delaware, is headquartered in Toledo, Ohio. We are a leading supplier of axle, driveshaft,
structural, and sealing and thermal management products for global vehicle manufacturers. Our people design and manufacture products for
every major vehicle producer in the world. We employ approximately 35,000 people in 26 countries and operate 113 major facilities throughout
the world.

     As a result of Dana Corporation’s emergence from operating under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the Bankruptcy
Code) on January 31, 2008 (the Effective Date), Dana is the successor registrant to Dana Corporation (Prior Dana) pursuant to Rule 12g-3
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

     The terms “Dana”, “we,” “our,” and “us,” when used in this report with respect to the period prior to Dana Corporation’s emergence from
bankruptcy, are references to Prior Dana, and when used with respect to the period commencing after Dana Corporation’s emergence, are
references to Dana. These references include the subsidiaries of Prior Dana or Dana, as the case may be, unless otherwise indicated or the
context requires otherwise.

Emergence from Reorganization Proceedings and Related Subsequent Events

     Background — Dana and forty of its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Debtors) operated their businesses as debtors in
possession under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code from March 3, 2006 (the Filing Date) until emergence from Chapter 11 on January 31,
2008. The Debtors’ Chapter 11 cases (collectively, the Bankruptcy Cases) were consolidated in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of New York (the Bankruptcy Court) under the caption In re Dana Corporation, et al. , Case No. 06-10354 (BRL). Neither Dana
Credit Corporation (DCC) and its subsidiaries nor any of our non-U.S. affiliates were Debtors.
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     Claims resolution — On December 26, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the Confirmation Order) confirming the Third
Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of Debtors and Debtors-in-Possession (as modified, the Plan) and, on the Effective Date, the Plan was
consummated and we emerged from bankruptcy. As provided in the Plan and the Confirmation Order, we issued and distributed approximately
71 million shares of Dana common stock to holders of allowed unsecured claims totaling approximately $2,050. Pursuant to the Plan, we have
issued and set aside approximately 27 million additional shares of Dana common stock for future distribution to all holders of allowed
unsecured nonpriority claims in Class 5B under the Plan. These shares are distributed as the disputed and unliquidated claims are resolved.
Subsequent to emergence we have distributed approximately six million shares from the disputed claims reserve leaving approximately
21 million shares for the remaining disputed and unliquidated claims estimated not to exceed $700. To the extent that such remaining claims
are settled for less than $700, additional distributions will also be made to previously allowed claimants. The terms and conditions governing
such distributions are set forth in the Plan and the Confirmation Order.

     Under the provisions of the Plan, an additional two million shares of common stock are being issued and distributed during the second
quarter of 2008 to pay bonuses to union employees and non-union hourly and salaried non-management employees.

     As provided in the Plan and the Confirmation Order, asbestos personal injury claims were reinstated, and holders of such claims may
continue to assert them. Certain other specific categories of claims against the Debtors (primarily worker’s compensation and intercompany
liabilities to non-Debtors) were retained and are being discharged in the normal course of business.

     Settlement obligations relating to non-pension retiree benefits and long-term disability (LTD) benefits for union claimants and non-pension
retiree benefits for non-union claimants were satisfied with cash payments of $788 to non-Dana sponsored Voluntary Employee Benefit
Associations (VEBAs) established for the benefit of the respective claimant groups. Additionally, we paid DCC $49, the remaining amount due
to DCC noteholders, thereby settling DCC’s general unsecured claim of $325 against the Debtors. DCC, in turn, used these funds to repay the
noteholders in full. Administrative claims, priority tax claims and other classes of allowed claims of $212 have been satisfied by cash payments
of $88 during the first quarter of 2008, with the additional cash payments of $124 expected to be made during the remainder of 2008.

     Except as specifically provided in the Plan, the distributions under the Plan were in complete satisfaction, discharge and release of all claims
and third-party ownership interests in the Debtors arising on or before the Effective Date, including any interest accrued on such claims from
and after the Filing Date.

     Organization — In connection with the formation of a new holding company, we formed a new legal organization aligned with how our
businesses are managed operationally. Except as described below, all operating assets and related undischarged liabilities of Prior Dana were
transferred to new legal entities within the new holding company structure. Certain other assets and liabilities, including those associated with
asbestos personal injury claims, were retained in Prior Dana, which was then merged into Dana Companies, LLC, a consolidated wholly owned
subsidiary of Dana. The assets of Dana Companies, LLC include insurance rights relating to coverage against these liabilities and other assets
which we believe are sufficient to satisfy its liabilities. Dana Companies, LLC continues to process asbestos personal injury claims in the normal
course of business and is paying such claims in cash. Dana Companies, LLC is separately managed, and has an independent board member.
The independent board member is required to approve certain transactions including dividends or other transfers of $1 or more of value to
Dana. See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I for a discussion of our asbestos liabilities.
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     Common Stock — Pursuant to the Plan, all of the issued and outstanding shares of Prior Dana common stock, par value $1.00 per share,
and any other outstanding equity securities of Prior Dana, including all options and warrants, were cancelled. On the Effective Date, we began
the process of issuing 100 million shares of Dana common stock, par value $0.01 per share, including approximately 71 million shares for
allowed unsecured nonpriority claims, approximately 27 million additional shares issued and deposited to a reserve for disputed unsecured
nonpriority claims in Class 5B under the Plan and approximately two million shares to pay bonuses to union employees and non-union hourly
and salaried non-management employees. A charge of $47 to reorganization items for these bonuses was recorded as a liability as of the
Effective Date. A portion of the bonus shares were issued in April 2008 with approximately one million remaining to be issued.

     Preferred Stock — Pursuant to the Plan, we issued 2,500,000 shares of 4.0% Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the
Series A Preferred) and 5,400,000 shares of 4.0% Series B Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the Series B Preferred) on the Effective
Date. The Series A Preferred was sold to Centerbridge Partners, L.P. and certain of its affiliates (Centerbridge) for $250, less a commitment fee
of $3 and expense reimbursement of $5, resulting in net proceeds of $242. The Series B Preferred was sold to certain qualified investors (as
described in the Plan) for $540, less a commitment fee of $11, resulting in net proceeds of $529.

     In accordance with the terms of the preferred stock, all of the shares of preferred stock are, at the holder’s option, convertible into fully paid
and non-assessable shares of new common stock at a conversion price of $13.19. Conversion of all of the outstanding shares of preferred
stock would increase the number of shares of our common stock outstanding by approximately 60 million.

     Shares of Series A Preferred having an aggregate liquidation preference of not more than $125 and all of the Series B Preferred are
convertible at any time at the option of the applicable holder after July 31, 2008. The remaining shares of Series A Preferred are convertible
after January 31, 2011. In addition, we will be able to force conversion of all, but not less than all, of the preferred stock, if the common stock’s
per share closing price exceeds the mandatory conversion trigger price, as determined at that time, for at least 20 consecutive trading days.
The price at which the preferred stock is convertible is subject to adjustment in certain customary circumstances, including as a result of stock
splits and combinations, dividends and distributions and issuances of common stock or common stock derivatives at a price below the
preferred stock conversion price in effect at that time.

     Dividends on the preferred stock are accrued from the issue date at a rate of 4% per annum and are payable in cash on a quarterly basis as
approved by the Board of Directors. If at any time we fail to pay the equivalent of six quarterly dividends on the preferred stock, the holders of
the preferred stock, voting separately as a single class, will be entitled to elect two additional directors to our Board of Directors. However, so
long as Centerbridge owns Series A Preferred having an aggregate liquidation preference of at least $125, this provision will not be applicable.

     In connection with the issuance of the preferred stock, we entered into two registration rights agreements: one with Centerbridge and the
other with the purchasers of Series B Preferred, and we also entered into a shareholders agreement with Centerbridge. Under the terms of
these agreements and the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Centerbridge was granted representation on our Board of Directors and limited
approval rights. See Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I for additional information.

     Financing at emergence — On the Effective Date, Dana, as borrower, and certain of our domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, entered into
an exit financing facility (the Exit Facility) with Citicorp USA, Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and Barclays Capital. The Exit Facility consists of a
Term Facility Credit and Guaranty Agreement in the total aggregate amount of $1,430 (the Term Facility) and a $650 Revolving Credit and
Guaranty Agreement (the Revolving Facility). The Term Facility was fully drawn with borrowings of $1,350 on the Effective Date and $80 on
February 1, 2008. There have been no borrowings under the Revolving Facility but $200 was utilized for existing letters of credit. Net proceeds
from the Exit Facility were $1,276 after $114 of original issue discount (OID) and $40 of customary issuance costs and fees both of which were
deferred and will amortize to interest expense over the term of the loan. The net proceeds were used to repay the Senior Secured Superpriority
Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement (DIP Credit Agreement), make other payments required upon exit from bankruptcy and provide
liquidity to fund working capital and other general corporate purposes. At March 31, 2008 the amount outstanding
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under the Term Facility was $1,426 and although we had no borrowings under the Revolving Facility, $191 of the Revolving Facility was utilized
for Letters of Credit. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I for the terms and conditions of these facilities.

     Fresh Start Accounting — As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP), we adopted fresh start
accounting effective February 1, 2008 following the guidance of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ (AICPA) Statement of
Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code” (SOP 90-7). The financial statements for the
periods ended prior to January 31, 2008 do not include the effect of any changes in our capital structure or changes in the fair value of assets
and liabilities as a result of fresh start accounting. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I for an explanation of
the impact of emerging from reorganization and applying fresh start accounting on our financial position.

Reorganization Proceedings under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code

The Bankruptcy Cases

     The Bankruptcy Cases were jointly administered, with the Debtors managing their businesses as debtors in possession subject to the
supervision of the Bankruptcy Court. We continued normal business operations during the bankruptcy process and emerged from bankruptcy
on January 31, 2008.

Claims resolution

     See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I for an explanation of the distributions under the Plan. Except as
specifically provided in the Plan, the distributions under the Plan were in exchange for, and in complete satisfaction, discharge and release of,
all claims and third-party ownership interests in the Debtors arising on or before the Effective Date, including any interest accrued on such
claims from and after the Filing Date.

DCC Notes

     DCC was a non-Debtor subsidiary of Dana. At the time of our bankruptcy filing, DCC had outstanding notes totaling approximately $399.
DCC had sold substantially all of its remaining asset portfolio and used the proceeds to pay down the DCC Notes to a balance of $136 at
December 31, 2007. In January 2008, DCC made a $90 payment to the forbearing noteholders, consisting of $87 of principal and $3 of
interest.

     Dana and DCC executed a settlement agreement whereby they agreed to the discontinuance of a tax sharing agreement between them and
to a stipulated amount of a general unsecured claim owed by Prior Dana to DCC of $325 (the DCC Claim). On the Effective Date and pursuant
to the Plan, we paid DCC $49, the remaining amount due to DCC noteholders, thereby settling DCC’s general unsecured claim of $325 against
the Debtors. DCC, in turn, used these funds to repay the noteholders in full.

Business Units

     We manage our operations globally through two business units — ASG and HVSG. ASG focuses on the automotive market and primarily
supports light vehicle original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) with products for light trucks, sport utility vehicles (SUVs), crossover utility
vehicles (CUVs), vans and passenger cars. ASG has five product based operating segments: Axle, Driveshaft, Structures, Sealing and
Thermal. While being primarily focused on the light vehicle automotive market, certain of the ASG operating segments also support the
Commercial Vehicle and Off-Highway markets.

     HVSG supports the OEMs of medium-duty (Classes 5-7) and heavy-duty (Class 8) commercial vehicles (primarily trucks and buses) and off-
highway vehicles (primarily wheeled vehicles used in construction and agricultural applications). HVSG has two operating segments focused on
specific markets: Commercial Vehicle and Off-Highway.
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Trends in Our Markets

Light Vehicle Markets

North America

     North American light vehicle production levels were 8.7% lower in the first quarter of 2008 than in the first quarter of 2007. In the light truck
segment, first quarter production levels were down 11.4% over 2007. The comparatively lower first quarter production is consistent with light
vehicle sales which were down 6.8% from last year’s first quarter, with light truck sales being 10.8% lower. Factors influencing the decline in
light vehicle sales, and consequently vehicle production, include an increasingly recessionary economic environment, continued high fuel
prices and parts shortages at our customers resulting from a labor strike at a major automotive supplier that is slowing their production. Within
the light truck segment, production of medium and full size pick-up trucks and SUVs declined the most — down 17.8% compared to the first
quarter of 2007, due in part to continued consumer concerns about high fuel prices and increased preferences for more fuel efficient CUVs.
While a number of our newer programs involve CUVs, pick-up and SUV platforms continue to be a key segment for us, particularly with a
number of high sales pick-up truck platforms. (source: Wards Automotive).

     The days’ supply of light truck inventories in the U.S. was 76 at March 31, 2008 as compared to 65 at the end of 2007 and 69 at the same
time a year ago. In particular, the inventory of full size pick-ups is 106 days at March 31, 2008, which is up from 90 days at the end of 2007 and
82 days at the end of March 2007. Given the current level of inventory, high fuel prices and negative economic developments — a weaker
housing market, increasing unemployment and lower consumer confidence — we expect continued downward pressure on light duty vehicle
production and sales levels during the remainder of 2008. Most projections have overall North American light vehicle production for 2008 being
around 14.5 million units, with some forecasting full year production to be below 14.0 million units — down from 15.0 million units in 2007.
(source: Global Insight & Wards Automotive).

Rest of World

     In contrast to North America, light truck production in the rest of the world continues to be relatively strong. Global light vehicle production,
excluding North America, is currently forecast to be about 59.4 million units in 2008, somewhat stronger than the projections earlier this year. At
the current level, rest of world production in 2008 would be up more than 6% compared to 2007. (source: Global Insight).

OEM Mix

     The declining sales of light vehicles (especially light trucks, which generally have a higher profit margin than passenger cars) in North
America, as well as losses of market share to competitors such as Toyota and Nissan, continue to put pressure on three of our largest light
vehicle customers: Ford, GM and Chrysler. These three customers accounted for approximately 70% of light truck production in North America
in the first three months of 2008, as compared to about 74% of light truck production in the first quarter of 2007. (source: Global Insight). We
expect that any continuing loss of market share by these customers could result in their applying renewed pricing pressure on us relative to our
existing business and our efforts to generate new business.
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Commercial Vehicle Markets

North America

     Our commercial vehicle business is significantly impacted by the North American market, with more than 80% of our commercial vehicle
sales being to North American customers. Production of heavy duty (Class 8) vehicles during the first quarter of 2008 was about 47,000 units,
which is down from 72,000 units in 2007. The decline in production levels was less severe in the medium duty (Class 5-7) market. Medium duty
production in the first quarter of 2008 was around 48,000 units as compared to 58,000 units in last year’s first three months. The significant
production decline in Class 8 was influenced by the engine emission regulation change which became effective at the beginning of 2007. First
quarter 2007 sales benefited from vehicle owners purchasing the lower cost engines built prior to the new emission standards that were still on
hand from inventory at the end of 2007. Production levels of both heavy and medium duty trucks in 2008 have also been adversely impacted by
high fuel costs and the same economic factors discussed in the Light Vehicles — North American market trends section. (source: Global Insight
& ACT).

     As is typical in the year following an emission regulation change, production levels are expected to rebound in 2008. We currently expect
Class 8 production levels in 2008 to be around 230,000 units — up 12% over 2007, and Class 5-7 production to approximate 220,000 units —
an increase of 7% over 2007. The current commercial vehicle market is experiencing some of the same effects as the light duty market with
vehicle sales being adversely affected by a weak housing market and continued high fuel prices. As a consequence, the first half of 2008 is
expected to be somewhat sluggish, with production picking up more during the second half of the year. (source: Global Insight & ACT).

Rest of World

     Outside of North America, commercial vehicle heavy and medium duty production continues to grow, particularly in emerging Eastern
European and Asian markets. Global commercial vehicle production, excluding North America, in 2008 is currently expected to approximate
2.2 million units, an increase of more than 4% over 2007. (source: Global Insight & ACT)

Off-Highway Markets

     Over the past three years, our Off-Highway business has become an increasingly more significant component of our total operations,
accounting for about 20% of our first quarter 2008 sales. Unlike our on-highway businesses, our Off-Highway business is larger outside of
North America, with more than 75% of its sales coming from outside North America. We serve several segments of the diverse off-highway
market, including construction, agriculture, mining, material handling and others. The European and North American construction and
agriculture markets are currently the largest. The European market for these segments is expected to be up about 5% over 2007, while the
North American market for these segments is relatively flat compared to 2007.
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Commodity Costs

     Another challenge we face is unprecedented levels of steel costs. These costs are expected to have a significant impact on our 2008
results.

     Two commonly used market-based indicators of steel prices — the Tri Cities Scrap Index for #1 bundled scrap steel (which represents the
monthly average costs in the Chicago, Cleveland and Pittsburgh ferrous scrap markets, as posted by American Metal Market, and is used by
our domestic steel suppliers to determine our monthly surcharge) and the spot market price for hot-rolled sheet steel — illustrate the impact.
After increasing significantly in 2004, the rates of increase for scrap prices were more moderate during the past three years — with the per ton
price averaging about $250 in 2005, $275 in 2006 and $310 in 2007. In January 2008, however, the per ton prices increased significantly —
averaging about $410 during this year’s first quarter. Spot prices per ton for hot-rolled steel followed a similar pattern — averaging about $620
in 2005, $655 in 2006 and $595 in 2007 — and increased during this year’s first quarter to a three-month per ton average of about $780 per
ton. At these levels, average scrap and hot-rolled steel prices during the first three months of 2008 are about 30% higher than the comparable
spot prices during the first three months of 2007. Prices of both indices continued to rise during April, with scrap prices being around $600 per
ton at the end of April and hot-rolled steel prices being around $950 per ton at the end of April. While prices may moderate over time, we
believe scrap prices are likely to remain at levels in excess of $500 per ton for the remainder of this year.

     Higher steel cost is reflected directly in our purchases of various grades of raw steel as well as indirectly through purchases of products
such as castings, forgings and bearings. At present, we purchase annually approximately 1.5 million tons of steel and products with significant
steel content. Agreements with certain customers either eliminate or mitigate our exposure to steel cost increases, allowing us to effectively
pass all or a portion of the cost on to our customers. In certain cases, principally in our Structures business, we have resale arrangements
whereby we purchase the steel at the cost negotiated by our customers and include that cost in the pricing of our products. In other
arrangements, we have material price escalation provisions in customer contracts providing for adjustments to unit prices based on commodity
cost increases or decreases over agreed reference periods. Adjustments under these arrangements typically occur at quarterly, semi-annual
and annual intervals with the adjustment coming in the form of prospective price increases or decreases. Historically, although not required by
existing agreements, we also have been successful in obtaining price increases or surcharges from certain customers as a result of escalating
steel costs. In total, we estimate that approximately 40 to 60% of the higher steel-related costs can be recovered, although with somewhat of a
lag from the time we incur the higher cost. We intend to pursue aggressively additional recovery opportunities.

     Given the different forms in which we purchase steel and products with steel content, it is difficult to associate changes in steel cost with any
one indicator. However, given our current consumption levels, product mix, past experience with steel cost movements, and an assumed 40 to
60% expected recovery rate, we estimate that if market prices for scrap steel average $525 per ton for all of 2008, we could experience an
adverse impact of approximately $70-$100 on the annual cost of our steel and steel-based products, net of recovery, as compared to 2007.

     We also have taken actions to mitigate the impact of steel and other commodity increases by consolidating purchases, contracting with new
global steel sources, identifying alternative materials and redesigning our products to be less dependent on higher cost steel grades.

     Cost increases for raw materials other than steel also increased significantly in recent years. Prices for nickel (which is used to manufacture
stainless steel) increased continuously from 2005 through May 2007 when they began to decline. They have remained relatively stable since
mid-2007. Aluminum prices increased significantly during 2005 and 2006 before stabilizing and then declining some in 2007. Aluminum prices
began to increase again in 2008. In the case of stainless steel and aluminum, used primarily by our Sealing and Thermal businesses,
respectively, contracted supply prices provide substantial mitigation to escalating costs in 2008.

Sales Outlook

     Based on the present market conditions, we expect that our full year 2008 sales will exceed $9,000, as compared to full year 2007 sales of
$8,721. In the light vehicle markets, North America is experiencing
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significant difficulties with a weak economy, high fuel prices, work stoppages and low consumer confidence, while the markets elsewhere in the
world continue to be relatively strong. The strength of the markets outside North America and continued stronger international currencies are
expected to more than offset the effects of a weaker North American market. In the commercial truck market, despite a weak North American
economy, given the lower production levels resulting from emission changes in 2007, we expect higher year over year sales as production
levels pick up during the remainder of this year. In the off-highway market, where we have a significant European presence, the markets and
international currencies are expected to continue to be strong, providing us with good year over year sales growth.

     Growing our sales through new business continues to be an important focus for us. Our current backlog of awarded new business which
comes on stream over the next two years more than offsets any programs that are expiring or being co-sourced, giving us a solid revenue base
going forward. While we continue to pursue vigorously new business opportunities, we are doing so with measured discipline to ensure that
such opportunities provide acceptable investment returns.

Results of Operations — Summary (First Quarter 2008 versus First Quarter 2007)
                  
  Three Months Ended        
  March 31, 2008        
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana     
  Two Months   One Month   Three Months    
  Ended    Ended   Ended     
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,     
  2008    2008   2007   Change  
Net sales  $ 1,561   $ 751  $ 2,145  $ 167 
Cost of sales   1,477    702   2,043   136 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

Gross margin   84    49   102   31 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   65    34   96   3 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

Gross margin less SG&A*   19    15   6   28 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

                  
Other costs and expenses                  

Amortization of intangibles  $ 12   $ —  $ —  $ 12 
Realignment charges   5    12   19   (2)
Other income, net   32    8   46   (6)

  
 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total expense (income)   (15)    4   (27)   16 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

                  
Income from continuing operations before interest, reorganization items

and income taxes  $ 34   $ 11  $ 33  $ 12 
                  
Fresh start accounting adjustments  $ —   $ 1,009  $ —  $ 1,009 
                  
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ (23)   $ 715  $ (36)  $ 728 
                  
Loss from discontinued operations  $ (1)   $ (6)  $ (56)  $ 49 
                  
Net income (loss)  $ (24)   $ 709  $ (92)  $ 777 

 

*  Gross margin less SG&A is a non-GAAP financial measure derived by excluding realignment charges, impairments and other income, net
from the most closely related GAAP measure, which is income from continuing operations before interest, reorganization items and
income taxes. We believe this non-GAAP measure is useful for an understanding of our ongoing operations because it excludes other
income and expense items which are generally not expected to be part of our ongoing business. Certain reclassifications were made to
conform 2007 to the 2008 reporting schedules.
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     As a consequence of emergence from bankruptcy on January 31, 2008, the results of operations for the first quarter of 2008 separately
present the month of January pre-emergence results of Prior Dana and the two-month results of Dana. As such, the application of fresh start
accounting as described in Note 1 to the financial statements in Item 1 is reflected in the Dana two-month results, but not in the pre-emergence
January results. Income from continuing operations before interest, reorganization items and income taxes of $34 for the two months ended
March 31, 2008 includes net expenses of $31 resulting from the application of fresh start accounting, primarily amortization of intangibles, a
one-time amortization of the stepped up value of inventories sold during the period and additional depreciation expense. Additionally, certain
agreements such as the labor agreements negotiated with our major unions became effective upon emergence from bankruptcy. Consequently,
certain benefits associated with the effectiveness of these agreements, including the elimination of postretirement medical costs, commenced
at emergence, thereby benefiting the two-month results of Dana.

Results of Operations (First Quarter 2008 versus First Quarter 2007)

Geographic Sales, Segment Sales and Gross Margin Analysis

     The tables below show changes in our sales by geographic region, business unit and segment for the three months ended March 31, 2008
and 2007.

Geographical Sales Analysis
                          
  Three Months Ended            
  March 31, 2008            
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana         
  Two Months    One Month   Three Months      Amount of Change Due  
  Ended    Ended   Ended       To  
  March 31,    January 31,   March 31,   Increase/   Currency   Organic  
  2008    2008   2007   (Decrease)   Effects   Change  
North America  $ 779   $ 396  $ 1,224  $ (49)  $ 21  $ (70)
Europe   469    224   562   131   80   51 
South America   186    73   206   53   29   24 
Asia Pacific   127    58   153   32   19   13 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 1,561   $ 751  $ 2,145  $ 167  $ 149  $ 18 
  

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     Total sales of $2,312 in the first quarter of 2008 were $167 higher than the corresponding period of 2007. Currency movements accounted
for $149 of the increase as a number of the major currencies in other global markets where we conduct business strengthened against the U.S.
dollar.

     The first quarter of 2008 organic sales decline of 5.7% in North America was driven primarily by lower production in the light duty and
commercial vehicle markets. Light duty truck production was down 11.4% in the first quarter of 2008 compared to a year ago. In the
commercial vehicle market, production of Class 8 trucks was down 34.7% and medium-duty production was 17.2% lower compared to the first
quarter of 2007. Partially offsetting the impact of lower vehicle production levels was the impact of higher pricing from our reorganization
initiatives. While some of these price actions benefited the first quarter of 2007, the first quarter of 2008 reflects the full benefit from additional
pricing actions achieved over the course of 2007.

     Sales in Europe, South America and Asia Pacific all demonstrate somewhat higher year-over-year production levels, particularly in the
European light and commercial truck markets and the off-highway market, as well as the weakening of the U.S. dollar against other key
currencies.
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Segment Sales Analysis
                          
  Three Months Ended            
  March 31, 2008            
       Prior Dana   Prior Dana         
  Two Months    One Month   Three Months      Amount of Change Due  
  Ended    Ended   Ended       To  
  March 31,    January 31,   March 31,   Increase/   Currency   Organic  
  2008    2008   2007   (Decrease)   Effects   Change  
ASG                          
Axle  $ 431   $ 210  $ 610  $ 31  $ 26  $ 5 
Driveshaft   225    110   286   49   27   22 
Sealing   131    64   176   19   16   3 
Thermal   52    28   72   8   9   (1)
Structures   180    90   270       15   (15)
Other   4    1   6   (1)       (1)
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total ASG   1,023    503   1,420   106   93   13 
                          
HVSG                          
Commercial Vehicle   209    97   340   (34)   8   (42)
Off-Highway   328    151   384   95   48   47 
  

 
   

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total HVSG   537    248   724   61   56   5 
                          
Other Operations   1        1             
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 1,561   $ 751  $ 2,145  $ 167  $ 149  $ 18 
  

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Business Segment Review

     In our ASG segments, after adjusting for currency effects, first quarter 2008 sales in the aggregate were up $13. Each of the segments was
adversely impacted by the effects of significantly lower North American light and commercial vehicle truck production, including the effects of a
labor strike at a major automotive parts supplier which primarily impacted our Structures and Axle businesses. Offsetting the weakness in the
North American markets were stronger production levels elsewhere in the world and benefits from the customer pricing improvement actions
achieved in 2007. Our Driveshaft business also benefited from some new customer programs, principally outside North America, which came
on stream over the past year, while the sales in our Structures business were negatively impacted by discontinued programs.

     In HVSG, our Commercial Vehicle segment is heavily concentrated in the North American market and the organic sales decline of 12.4% in
this segment was primarily due to the drop in North American production levels discussed in the regional review. Stronger markets outside
North America and some pricing improvement partially offset the weaker North American production. With its significant European presence,
our Off-Highway segment’s sales benefited from the stronger euro. Organic sales in this segment benefited from stronger production levels and
sales from new programs.
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Margin Analysis

     The chart below shows our business unit and segment margin analysis for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007:
             
  Three Months Ended   
  March 31,   
  As a Percentage of Sales  Increase /
  2008  2007  (Decrease)
Gross margin:             
ASG   6.0%   3.8%   2.2%

Axle   2.4   (0.3)   2.7 
Driveshaft   8.8   5.6   3.2 
Sealing   13.5   13.1   0.4 
Thermal   8.2   10.6   (2.4)
Structures   4.6   3.7   0.9 

             
HVSG   8.8   9.0   (0.2)

Commercial Vehicle   6.2   5.5   0.7 
Off-Highway   10.2   11.9   (1.7)

             
Selling, general and administrative expenses:             
ASG   3.0%   3.3%   (0.3)%

Axle   2.0   2.1   (0.1)
Driveshaft   2.7   3.1   (0.4)
Sealing   6.8   6.7   0.1 
Thermal   5.0   5.1   (0.1)
Structures   1.0   1.7   (0.7)

             
HVSG   2.8   3.4   (0.6)

Commercial Vehicle   3.4   3.7   (0.3)
Off-Highway   2.1   2.5   (0.4)

             
Gross margin less SG&A:*             
ASG   3.0%   0.5%   2.5%

Axle   0.4   (2.4)   2.8 
Driveshaft   6.1   2.5   3.6 
Sealing   6.7   6.4   0.3 
Thermal   3.2   5.5   (2.3)
Structures   3.6   2.0   1.6 

             
HVSG   6.0   5.6   0.4 

Commercial Vehicle   2.8   1.8   1.0 
Off-Highway   8.1   9.4   (1.3)

             
Consolidated   1.5   0.3   1.2 

 

*  Gross margin less SG&A is a non-GAAP financial measure derived by excluding realignment charges, impairments and other income, net
from the most closely related GAAP measure, which is income from continuing operations before interest, reorganization items and
income taxes. We believe this non-GAAP measure is useful for an understanding of our ongoing operations because it excludes other
income and expense items which are generally not expected to be part of our ongoing business. Certain reclassifications were made to
conform 2007 to the 2008 reporting structures. The margins above for 2008 combine one month of Prior Dana with two months of Dana, a
non-GAAP presentation. We believe this non-GAAP comparison is more meaningful.
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Consolidated

     Margin improvement in 2008 is driven by the reorganization actions undertaken in connection with the bankruptcy process — customer
pricing improvement, labor cost savings, overhead cost reduction and manufacturing footprint optimization. The customer pricing actions began
contributing to improved margins in the first quarter of 2007, with additional pricing improvements being achieved over the course of 2007. As a
result, the first quarter of 2008 reflects a full quarter of customer pricing actions — adding approximately $15 to gross margin as compared to
the same period 2007. Additional pricing actions not connected with our reorganization initiatives benefited year over year margins by about $6.
We did not begin benefiting significantly from non-union employee benefit plan reductions and other labor savings until after the first quarter of
2007, with much of the savings associated with the agreements negotiated with the unions only becoming effective upon our emergence on
January 31, 2008. The cost savings associated with labor actions added approximately $27 to margins in the first quarter of 2008. The
overhead reduction and manufacturing footprint actions undertaken in connection with the bankruptcy process also improved margins in 2008.

     In connection with the application of fresh start accounting, margins were negatively impacted by two factors. At emergence, inventories
were increased in accordance with the fresh start accounting requirements. With U.S. inventories recorded on a last in, first out (LIFO) basis,
the stepped up value of inventories is effectively captured as a “base” LIFO layer until there is a decrease in inventories that would result in a
decrement of this base layer. In the case of inventories outside the U.S. where we use a first in, first out (FIFO) accounting method, a
substantial portion of the inventory stepped up at emergence was sold during February and March 2008, thereby increasing cost of sales by
approximately $15. The other factor negatively impacting margins as a result of fresh start accounting is higher depreciation expense on the
stepped up value of fixed assets and amortization expense associated with technology related intangibles recognized at emergence. This
higher depreciation and amortization expense reduced first quarter 2008 margins by approximately $3. Whereas the depreciation of fixed
assets and amortization of technology intangibles resulting from application of fresh start accounting is included in segment margins, the higher
cost of sales resulting from stepped up inventory value is not reflected in the segment margins in order to enhance the comparability of
operating results.

Automotive Systems Group

     In ASG, gross margin less SG&A improved 2.5%. In the Axle segment, gross margin less SG&A as a percent of sales was up 2.8% from
2007. Customer pricing improvement and labor cost reductions contributed approximately $14, or 2.2% to 2008 margin. The remaining
improvement came principally from other cost reduction actions as higher material and warranty costs reduced margins by $3. Gross margin
less SG&A as a percent of sales in the Driveshaft segment improved 3.6%, as this segment benefited approximately $20, or 5.9% from
customer pricing actions and labor cost savings, primarily from the reorganization actions. Partially offsetting this benefit was volume and mix
related margin reduction. In addition to the light vehicle market, this segment supplies product to the commercial vehicle market where
production levels in 2008 led to somewhat lower sales. Program mix on the light duty side also adversely impacted margin as discontinued
programs with higher margins were replaced by newer programs providing somewhat less margin. Also reducing margin in the Driveshaft
segment was higher depreciation expense of $4 attributed to the application of fresh start accounting. In the Sealing segment, the first quarter
2008 margins were comparable with last year’s first quarter margins. Margin benefited from the currency effect on sales, however, this was
offset by higher depreciation resulting from application of fresh start accounting. Net margin in our Thermal segment declined 2.3% from 2007
principally due to currency transaction losses. The Structures segment had quarter-over-quarter gross margin less SG&A improvement of
1.6%. The change in margin was negatively impacted by $5 of one-time cost recoveries received from customers in 2007. Additionally, this
segment’s margin was negatively impacted by approximately $4 from lower sales volume, in part due to a strike at one of the major automotive
suppliers that curtailed vehicle production at General Motors. More than offsetting these two factors were reorganization related labor cost
savings of $4, currency benefit of $3, reduced depreciation expense of $3 as a result of applying fresh start accounting and savings from other
cost reductions and operational improvements.
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Heavy Vehicle Systems Group

     Gross margin less SG&A in HVSG was 6.0% in the first quarter of 2008, up slightly from 5.6% in the first quarter of 2007. Commercial
Vehicle gross margin less SG&A as a percent of sales improved 1.0%, as the margin reduction associated with the lower sales was more than
offset by pricing improvement of $3, increased service sales which improved net margin by $3, reorganization related employee benefit cost
reductions of $2, and reduced depreciation expense of $2 resulting from application of fresh start accounting. In the Off-Highway segment,
there was a margin decline of 1.3% of sales. Although sales increased $48 due to currency, the margin impact was negligible as the stronger
international currencies also effected our production costs, including a portion of those underlying sales denominated in U.S. dollars. Also
negatively impacting margins was higher premium freight, warranty and fresh start related depreciation that aggregated approximately $2.
Partially offsetting these adverse effects were improved pricing of $4.

Corporate & Other

     Corporate expenses and other costs not allocated to the business units reduced gross margins less SG&A by 2.5% for the first quarter of
2008 as compared to 1.9% in the same period in 2007, resulting in a 0.6% reduction of consolidated gross margin less SG&A. The margin
reduction was due primarily to $15 of higher cost of sales from the stepped up value of inventory resulting from fresh start accounting which
was not allocated to the business units. As discussed in the Consolidated section above, these costs were recorded in cost of sales as the
inventory was sold during the last two months of this year’s first quarter. Also adversely impacting the year over year margin comparison was a
reduction in long term disability accruals in 2007. These factors more than offset the favorable margin impact from lower employee benefit
costs and overhead savings resulting from the bankruptcy related reorganization actions.

Amortization of intangibles

     Amortization of customer relationship intangibles recorded in connection with applying fresh start accounting at the date of emergence
resulted in expense of $12 for the two months ended March 31, 2008.

Realignment charges

     Realignment charges are primarily costs associated with the manufacturing footprint optimization actions that were undertaken in
connection with our bankruptcy plan of reorganization. The first quarter of 2007 also includes $8 of cost relating to the restructuring of our
pension obligations in the United Kingdom, which was completed in April 2007.

Other income, net

     Net foreign currency transaction gains increased Other income by $13 in 2008 as compared to the first three months of 2007. Our U.S.
entities have certain loans receivable from international subsidiaries that are denominated in international currencies. Prior to 2007, these loans
were designated as invested indefinitely. However, this designation was removed in 2007 as repayment through near-term repatriation actions
was expected. As a consequence, exchange rate movements on these loans and others not permanently invested generate currency gains or
losses. DCC income was lower by $7 in 2008 as we substantially completed the sale of the remaining DCC assets in 2007. Other income in
2007 also included $14 of gain relating to the sale of our trailer axle business.
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Interest expense

     Interest expense of Dana reflects the costs associated with the Exit Financing facility and other debt agreements which are described in
detail in Note 14 of our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I. Interest expense in the first quarter of 2008 includes $3 of
amortized original issue discount recorded in connection with the Exit Financing facility and $1 of amortized debt issuance costs incurred in
connection with the Exit Financing facility and other debt arrangements. During 2007 and the month of January 2008, as a result of the
bankruptcy reorganization process, a substantial portion of our debt obligations were reported as subject to compromise in our consolidated
financial statements with no interest expense being accrued on these obligations. The interest expense not recognized on these obligations
amounted to $13 in the first quarter of 2007 and $9 during the month of January 2008.

Reorganization items, net

     Reorganization items are expenses directly attributed to our Chapter 11 reorganization process. See Note 3 to our financial statements in
Item 1 of this report for a summary of these costs. During the bankruptcy process, there were ongoing advisory fees of professionals
representing Dana and the other bankruptcy constituencies. Certain of these costs continue subsequent to emergence as there are disputed
claims which require resolution, claims which require payment and other post emergence activities incident to emergence from bankruptcy.
Among these ongoing costs are expenses associated with additional facility unionization under the framework of the global agreement
negotiated with the unions as part of our reorganization activities. Reorganization items in the month of January 2008 include a gain on the
settlement of liabilities subject to compromise and several one-time emergence costs, including the cost of employee stock bonuses, transfer
taxes, and success fees and other fees earned by certain professionals upon emergence.

Income tax benefit (expense)

     We have not recognized tax benefits on losses generated since 2005 in several countries, including the U.S. and the U.K., where the recent
history of operating losses does not allow us to satisfy the more likely than not criterion for realization of deferred tax assets. This and the fresh
start adjustments in 2008 are the primary factors which cause the tax expense of $219 ($199 for January and $20 for February and March) for
the three months ended March 31, 2008 and the tax expense of $15 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 to differ from expected tax
expense of $319 ($320 for January and a benefit of $1 for February and March) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and benefit of $9
for the three months ended March 31, 2007 at the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35%.

Discontinued operations

     Our engine hard parts, fluid products and pump products operations had been reported as discontinued operations. The sales of these
businesses were completed in 2007, except for a portion of the pump products business that was sold in January 2008. The first quarter 2007
results reflect the operating results of these businesses as well as adjustments to the net assets of these businesses necessary to reflect their
fair value less cost to sell based on expected sales proceeds.

     The net sales and the loss from discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, aggregated by operating
segment, are shown in the table below.
             
      Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months  One Month   Three Months  
  Ended   Ended   Ended  
  March 31,   January 31,  March 31,  
  2008   2008   2007  
Sales             
ASG             

Engine  $ —  $ —  $ 153 
Fluid           104 
Pump       6   21 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total Discontinued Operations  $ —  $ 6  $ 278 
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      Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  Two Months  One Month   Three Months  
  Ended   Ended   Ended  
  March 31,   January 31,  March 31,  
  2008   2008   2007  
Net Loss             
ASG             

Engine  $ —  $ (4)  $ (56)
Fluid   (1)   (1)   (3)
Pump       (1)   3 

  
 
  

 
  

 
 

Total Discontinued Operations  $ (1)  $ (6)  $ (56)
  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     The net loss in Engine in the first quarter of 2007 includes a net loss of $26 recorded in connection with the sale of this business which was
completed in March 2007. The net loss in Engine in the first quarter of 2008 records a post-closing adjustment of $4 for liabilities retained by
Dana.

Liquidity

     Our global liquidity as of March 31, 2008 is as follows:
     
Cash  $ 1,283 
Less:     

Deposits supporting obligations   (118)
Cash in less than wholly-owned subsidiaries   (85)

  
 
 

Available cash   1,080 
Additional cash availability from:     

Lines of credit in the U.S. and Europe   515 
Additional lines of credit supported by letters of credit from the Revolving Facility   40 

  
 
 

Total global liquidity  $ 1,635 
  

 

 

     We believe our overall liquidity and operating cash flow will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for capital expenditures,
working capital, debt obligations and other commitments for the foreseeable future.

     A summary of the changes in cash and cash equivalents for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 is shown in the following
tables:
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Period from    Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  February 1    January 1   Three Months 
  through    through   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,   March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Cash flow summary:              
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  $ 2,147   $ 1,271  $ 719 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Cash used in operating activities   (927)    (122)   (17)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (21)    77   274 
Cash provided by financing activities   64    912   265 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (884)    867   522 
Impact of foreign exchange and discontinued operations   20    9   9 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 1,283   $ 2,147  $ 1,250 
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  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Period from   Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  February 1    January 1   Three Months 
  through    through   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Cash from operations              
Net loss  $ (24)   $ 709  $ (92)
Depreciation and amortization   67    23   70 
Amortization of inventory valuation   15         
Deferred income taxes   (2)    191     
Reorganization:      

Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise     (27)  
Payment of claims  (88)      
Reorganization items, net of cash payments  (18)   79  27
Fresh start adjustments     (1,009)   
Payment of VEBA settlements  (733)    (55 )     

Other   (20)    28   30 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

   (803)    (61)   35 
Change in working capital   (124)    (61)   (52)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Cash flows used in operating activities  $ (927)   $ (122)  $ (17)
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     Cash of $1,049 was used by operating activities in the first three months of 2008 as compared to cash of $17 used in the same period of
2007. During the first quarter of 2008, cash was used to satisfy various obligations associated with our emergence from bankruptcy. Cash of
$733 was used shortly after emergence to satisfy our payment obligation to a VEBA established to fund non-pension benefits of union retirees.
A payment of $53 occurred at emergence to satisfy our obligation to a similar VEBA established to fund non-pension benefits relating to non-
union retirees, with a payment of $2 being made under another union arrangement. Additional bankruptcy emergence related payments during
the first quarter of 2008 approximated $161 for payment of claims, professional fees, transfer taxes and other reorganization related items. We
typically experience an increase in working capital during the first three months of the year due primarily to trade receivables being customarily
lower at the end of the calendar year as our OEM customers’ production levels are lighter during the holiday season. Cash of $185 was used
during the first quarter of 2008 to fund working capital requirements, as compared to a use of $52 in the first quarter of 2007. Cash required to
fund increased accounts receivable in 2008 was $281. While due in part to higher sales, the increase was also impacted by the timing of
customer payments. Collection levels in the first quarter of 2007 were higher due to a higher level of unpaid receivables from 2006 which were
paid by customers in the first quarter of 2007. Increased inventory levels consumed approximately $27 of cash in the first quarter of 2008. The
increase was due in part to higher material costs and production disruptions at one of our major customers that resulted from a labor strike at
another major automotive supplier. Partially offsetting the use of cash for accounts receivable and inventory was increased levels of accounts
payable and other working capital components which in the aggregate provided a cash source of $123.
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Period from   Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  February 1    January 1   Three Months 
  through    through   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,   March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Cash from investing              
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  $ (29)   $ (16)  $ (39)
Proceeds from sale of businesses and assets        5   328 
Change in restricted cash        93    
Other   8    (5)   (15)
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities  $ (21)   $             77  $ 274 
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     Divestitures of the engine hard parts, fluid products and trailer axle businesses and the sale of our investment in GETRAG provided cash of
$303 in the first three months of 2007 and proceeds from DCC investment-related actions generated $25. Expenditures for property, plant and
equipment were slightly higher than last year in part due to timing. DCC cash that was restricted during bankruptcy by a forbearance
agreement with DCC noteholders was reduced as payments were made to the noteholders.
              
  Three Months Ended     
  March 31, 2008     
  Period from   Prior Dana   Prior Dana  
  February 1    January 1   Three Months 
  through    through   Ended  
  March 31,    January 31,  March 31,  
  2008    2008   2007  
Cash from financing              
Net change in short-term debt  $ (7)   $ (18)  $ 65 
Proceeds from (repayment of) debtor-in-possession facility        (900)   200 
Issuance of Exit Facility Debt   80    1,350     
Original issue discount and deferred financing fees        (154)    
Repayment of Exit Facility debt   (4)          
Payment of DCC Medium Term Notes        (136)     
Issuance of Series A and Series B preferred stock        771     
Other   (5)    (1)     
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

Cash flows provided by financing activities  $ 64   $ 912  $ 265 
  

 

   

 

  

 

 

     At emergence from bankruptcy on January 31, 2008, we obtained proceeds of $1,350 under a new Exit Facility and $771 of proceeds
through the issuance of Series A and Series B shares of preferred stock. These proceeds were used in part to repay the $900 outstanding
under the DIP Credit agreement, pay Exit Facility original issue discount costs and fees of $154, and retire the remaining amount owed to DCC
noteholders through satisfaction of DCC’s bankruptcy claim against Prior Dana. Post-emergence, additional proceeds of $80 were received
under the Exit Facility. During the first three months of 2007, we borrowed an additional $200 under the DIP Credit Agreement. We also
borrowed 35 British pounds ($67) under a short-term financing arrangement in the U.K. to facilitate the restructuring of our pension obligations.

Financing Activities

Cash and Cash Equivalents

     Cash deposits are maintained to provide credit enhancement for certain agreements. These financial instruments are typically renewed
each year and are recorded in Cash and cash equivalents. In most instances, these cash deposits may be withdrawn if comparable security is
provided in the form of letters of credit.

     At March 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents held in the U.S. amounted to $557. Included in this amount was $71 of cash deposits
primarily to provide credit enhancement for certain lease agreements, support surety bonds that enable us to self-insure our workers’
compensation obligations in certain states and fund an escrow account required to appeal a judgment rendered in Texas. Cash held by DCC is
no longer restricted as the obligations under a forbearance agreement have been satisfied.

     At March 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents held outside the U.S. amounted to $726. Included in this amount was $47 of cash deposits
primarily to provide credit enhancement for certain lease agreements and to support letters of credit, bank guarantees and certain employee
benefit obligations.
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     Cash deposits are not considered to be restricted as they could be replaced by letters of credit available under our Exit Facility (discussed in
Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I). Availability at March 31, 2008 was adequate to cover the deposits for
which replacement by letters of credit is permitted.

     A substantial portion of our non-U.S. cash and cash equivalents is needed for working capital and other operating purposes. Several
countries have local regulatory requirements that significantly restrict the ability of our operations to repatriate this cash. In addition, at March
31, 2008, $85 was held by consolidated entities that have minority interests with varying levels of participation rights involving cash
withdrawals. Beyond these restrictions, there are practical limitations on repatriation of cash from certain countries because of the resulting tax
cost.

Intercompany Loans

     Certain of our international operations had intercompany loan obligations to the U.S. totaling $457 at March 31, 2008. These intercompany
loans resulted (i) from certain international operations having received cash or other forms of financial support from the U.S. to finance their
activities, (ii) from U.S. entities transferring their ownership in certain entities in exchange for intercompany notes and (iii) from certain entities
having declared a dividend in kind in the form of a note payable. Intercompany loans of $252 are denominated in a foreign currency and not
considered permanently invested as they are expected to be repaid in the near term. Accordingly, foreign exchange gains and losses on these
loans are reported in other income (expense) rather than being recorded in other comprehensive income as translation gain or loss.

Credit Agreements

DIP Credit Agreement

     Prior Dana, as borrower, and its Debtor subsidiaries, as guarantors, were parties to the DIP Credit Agreement that was initially approved by
the Bankruptcy Court in March 2006. Under the DIP Credit Agreement, we had a $650 revolving credit facility and a $900 term loan facility at
December 31, 2007. For a discussion of the terms of the DIP Credit Agreement, see Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8
of our 2007 Form 10-K.

     At December 31, 2007, we had borrowed $900 under the DIP Credit Agreement. All of the loans and other obligations under the DIP Credit
Agreement were repaid as part of the consummation of the Plan, primarily from the funding obtained from the Exit Facility. Letters of credit
issued under the DIP Credit Agreement were transferred to the Exit Facility.

Exit Financing

     On the Effective Date, Dana, as Borrower, and certain of our domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, entered into the Exit Facility with Citicorp
USA, Inc., Lehman Brothers Inc. and Barclays Capital. The Exit Facility consists of the Term Facility in the total aggregate amount of $1,430
and the $650 Revolving Facility. The Term Facility was fully drawn with borrowings of $1,350 on the Effective Date and $80 on February 1,
2008. Net proceeds were $1,276 after $114 of original issue discount and other customary issuance costs and fees of $40 both of which were
deferred and will be amortized into interest expense over the term of the loan. There were no borrowings under the Revolving Facility at the
Effective Date, but $200 was utilized for existing letters of credit. For an explanation of the terms of the Exit Facility, see Note 16 to our
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of our 2007 Form 10-K.

     At March 31, 2008, we had gross borrowings of $1,426 (before reduction of $111 for unamortized original issue discount) under the Term
Facility and although we had no borrowing under the Revolving Facility, we had utilized $191 for letters of credit. Based on our borrowing base
collateral, we had availability at that date under the Revolving Facility of $398 after deducting the outstanding letters of credit.

59



Table of Contents

European Receivables Loan Facility

     In July 2007, certain of our European subsidiaries entered into definitive agreements to establish an accounts receivable securitization
program. The agreements include a Receivable Loan Agreement (the Loan Agreement) with GE Leveraged Loans Limited (GE) that provides
for a five-year accounts receivable securitization facility under which up to the euro equivalent of $225 in financing is available to those
European subsidiaries (collectively, the Sellers) subject to the availability of adequate levels of accounts receivable. For a discussion of this
facility and the receivables program, see Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of our 2007 Form 10-K. At March 31, 2008,
there was availability of $117 in countries that have securitization in place and there were borrowings under this facility equivalent to $90
recorded as notes payable. The proceeds from the borrowings are used for operations including the repayment of intercompany debt.

Canadian Credit Agreement

     In June 2006, Dana Canada Corporation (Dana Canada), as borrower, and certain of its Canadian affiliates, as guarantors, entered into a
Credit Agreement (the Canadian Credit Agreement) with Citibank Canada, as agent, initial lender and an issuing bank, and with JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., Toronto Branch, and Bank of America, N.A., Canada Branch, as initial lenders and issuing banks. The Canadian Credit
Agreement provided for a $100 revolving credit facility, of which $5 was available for the issuance of letters of credit. At January 31, 2008, less
than $1 of the facility was being utilized for the letters of credit and there had been no borrowings over the life of this agreement. The Canadian
Credit Agreement was terminated upon our emergence from bankruptcy.

DCC Notes

     See Note 3 to our financial statements in Item 1 of Part I for information about DCC’s repayment of outstanding notes.

Interest Rate Agreements

     Interest on the Term Facility is at variable interest rates. Under the terms of the Term Facility, we are required to enter into interest rate
hedge agreements by May 30, 2008 and to maintain agreements covering a notional amount of not less than 50% of the aggregate loans
outstanding under the Term Facility for a period of no less than three years.

Cash Obligations
                     
      Payments Due by Period  
      Less than  1 - 3   4 -5   After  
Contractual Cash Obligations  Total   1 Year   Years   Years   5 Years  
Principal of long-term debt  $ 1,426  $ 14  $ 29  $ 29  $ 1,354 
Interest on long-term debt   604   97   192   188   127 

     We are obligated to make future cash payments in fixed amounts under various agreements. These include payments under our long-term
debt agreements, rent payments under operating lease agreements and payments for equipment, other fixed assets and certain raw materials
under purchase agreements. In the first quarter of 2008, there were no significant changes in the cash obligations reported in Item 7 of our
2007 Form 10-K except for the change in the obligations under our new debt facilities. Our DIP loan of $900 was repaid on January 31, 2008,
and on January 31 and February 1, 2008 we took on the long-term debt obligation shown in the table above.

Contingencies

Impact of Our Bankruptcy Filing

     During our Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings, most actions against the Debtors relating to pre-petition liabilities were automatically
stayed. Substantially all of our pre-petition liabilities were addressed under the Plan. Our emergence from bankruptcy resolved certain of our
contingencies as discussed below.

     During January 2008, both an Ad Hoc Committee of Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants as well as an asbestos claimant, Jose Angel
Valdez, filed notices of appeal of the Confirmation Order. During February 2008, the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York consolidated the two appeals. Prior Dana and the other post-emergence Debtors filed with the District Court (i) a motion to dismiss
the consolidated appeal and (ii) a brief in support of the motion to dismiss and on the merits of the consolidated appeal. The consolidated
appeal and the motion to dismiss are currently pending before the District Court, with oral arguments yet to be scheduled.
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Class Action Lawsuit and Derivative Actions

     A securities class action entitled Howard Frank v. Michael J. Burns and Robert C. Richter was originally filed in October 2005 in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, naming our former Chief Executive Officer, Michael J. Burns, and former Chief Financial Officer,
Robert C. Richter, as defendants. In a consolidated complaint filed in August 2006, lead plaintiffs alleged violations of the U.S. securities laws
and claimed that the price at which our stock traded at various times between April 2004 and October 2005 was artificially inflated as a result of
the defendants’ alleged wrongdoing. In June 2007, the District Court denied lead plaintiffs’ motion for an order partially lifting the statutory
discovery stay which would have enabled them to obtain copies of certain documents produced to the SEC. By order dated August 21, 2007,
the District Court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint and entered a judgment closing the case. In
September 2007, the lead plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal from the District Court’s order and judgment. As of the date hereof, the appeal has
been fully briefed. Oral arguments have not been scheduled.

      A stockholder derivative action entitled Roberta Casden v. Michael J. Burns, et al., was originally filed in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Ohio in March 2006. An amended complaint filed in August 2006 added alleged non-derivative class claims on behalf of
holders of our stock alleging, among other things, that the defendants (our former Board of Directors, former Chief Executive Officer and former
Chief Financial Officer) had breached their fiduciary duties and acted in bad faith in determining to file for protection under the Bankruptcy
Laws. These alleged non-derivative class claims are not asserted against Dana. In June 2006, the District Court stayed the derivative claims,
deferring to the Bankruptcy Court on those claims. In July 2007, the District Court dismissed the non-derivative class claims asserted in the
amended complaint and entered a judgment closing the case. In August 2007, the plaintiff filed a notice of appeal from the District Court’s order
and judgment. As of the date hereof, the appeal has been fully briefed. Oral arguments have not been scheduled.

SEC Investigation

     In September 2005, we reported that management was investigating accounting matters arising out of incorrect entries related to a
customer agreement in our Commercial Vehicle operations, and that the Prior Dana Audit Committee had engaged outside counsel to conduct
an independent investigation of these matters as well. Outside counsel informed the SEC of the investigation, which ended in December 2005,
the same month that we filed restated financial statements for the first two quarters of 2005 and the years 2002 through 2004. In January 2006,
we learned that the SEC had issued a formal order of investigation with respect to matters related to our restatements. The SEC’s investigation
is a non-public, fact-finding inquiry to determine whether any violations of the law have occurred. We are continuing to cooperate fully with the
SEC in the investigation.

Legal Proceedings Arising in the Ordinary Course of Business

     We are a party to various pending judicial and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. These include, among
others, proceedings based on product liability claims and alleged violations of environmental laws. We have reviewed these pending legal
proceedings, including the probable outcomes, our reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, the availability and limits of our insurance
coverage and surety bonds and our established reserves for uninsured liabilities.

     Further information about some of these legal proceedings follows, including information about our accruals for the liabilities that may arise
from such proceedings. We accrue for contingent liabilities at the time when we believe they are both probable and estimable. We review our
assessments of probability and estimability as new information becomes available and adjust our accruals quarterly, if appropriate. Since we do
not accrue for contingent liabilities that we believe are probable unless we can reasonably estimate the amounts of such liabilities, our actual
liabilities may exceed the amounts we have recorded. We do not believe that any liabilities that may result from these proceedings are
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or financial condition.
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Asbestos Personal Injury Liabilities

     We had approximately 41,000 active pending asbestos personal injury liability claims at March 31, 2008, which is generally unchanged from
the number of claims pending at December 31, 2007, including approximately 6,000 claims that were settled but awaiting final documentation
and payment. In connection with applying fresh start accounting, we assigned probabilities to the values underlying the estimated range of
future asbestos indemnity and defense costs included in the December 31, 2007 actuarial valuation obtained to estimate our liability associated
with these obligations. The related cash flows were probability weighted and discounted to determine the fair value as of January 31, 2008. As
a result, we had accrued $144 for indemnity and defense costs for pending and future asbestos personal injury liability claims at March 31,
2008. Our policy before the adoption of fresh start accounting had been to accrue the undiscounted low end of the range of projected
obligations, which had resulted in an accrual of $136 at December 31, 2007.

     Prior to 2006, we reached agreements with some of our insurers to commute policies covering asbestos personal injury claims. We apply
proceeds from insurance commutations first to reduce any recorded recoverable amount. Proceeds from commutations in excess of our
estimated recoverable amount for pending and future claims are recorded as a credit to other income. Commutation proceeds of $2 were
credited to other income in the two months ended March 31, 2008.

     At March 31, 2008, we had recorded $73 as an asset for probable recovery from our insurers for the pending and projected asbestos
personal injury liability claims, compared to $69 recorded at December 31, 2007. The March 31 amount was also discounted using the same
methodology as the associated liability. The recorded asset reflects our assessment of the capacity of our current insurance agreements to
provide for the payment of anticipated defense and indemnity costs for pending claims and projected future demands. These recoveries take
into account elections to extend existing coverage which we exercised in order to maximize our insurance recovery. The recorded asset does
not represent the limits of our insurance coverage, but rather the amount we would expect to recover if we paid the accrued indemnity and
defense costs.

     In addition, we had a net amount receivable from our insurers and others of $18 at March 31, 2008, compared to $17 at December 31,
2007. The receivable represents reimbursements for settled asbestos personal injury liability claims, including billings in progress and amounts
subject to alternate dispute resolution proceedings with some of our insurers. It is anticipated that a favorable settlement to these proceedings
will be finalized soon.

     As part of our reorganization, assets and liabilities associated with asbestos claims were retained in Prior Dana which was then merged into
Dana Companies, LLC, a consolidated wholly owned subsidiary of Dana. The assets of Dana Companies, LLC include insurance rights relating
to coverage against these liabilities and other assets which we believe are sufficient to satisfy its liabilities. Dana Companies, LLC continues to
process asbestos personal injury claims in the normal course of business, is separately managed and has an independent board member. The
independent board member is required to approve certain transactions including dividends or other transfers of $1 or more of value to Dana.

Other Product Liabilities

     We had accrued $2 for non-asbestos product liability costs at March 31, 2008, compared to $4 at December 31, 2007, with no recovery
expected from third parties at either date. We estimate these liabilities based on assumptions about the value of the claims and about the
likelihood of recoveries against us derived from our historical experience and current information.

Environmental Liabilities

     Accrued environmental liabilities at March 31, 2008 were $21, compared to $180 at December 31, 2007. We retained $19 of the $180
liability as a post-emergence obligation. Claims of $161 are being addressed through the unresolved claims process described in the
Emergence from Reorganization Proceedings section of Item 1 of Part I. As such, the resolution of these matters will not have an impact on our
post-emergence financial condition or results of operations.
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     We considered the most probable method of remediation, current laws and regulations and existing technology in determining the fair value
of our remaining environmental liabilities as of January 31, 2008.

     One of the larger claims at emergence was a claim involving the Hamilton Avenue Industrial Park (Hamilton) site in New Jersey. We are a
potentially responsible party at this site (also known as the Cornell Dubilier Electronics or CDE site) under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA). This matter has been the subject of an estimation proceeding as a result of our
objection to a claim filed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and other federal agencies (collectively, the Government) in
connection with this and several other CERCLA sites. During the course of the proceedings and our efforts to address the Government’s claim,
no additional information was provided to support any adjustment to the amounts we had accrued for this matter. For the past several months,
we have been actively litigating the claim and negotiating a settlement with the Government on the Hamilton site as well as other environmental
claims. We reached agreement with the Government in April 2008 providing for an allowed general unsecured claim of $126, which will be
settled by distribution of shares from the disputed claims reserve. At December 31, 2007, we had concluded there was a probable settlement
outcome and adjusted the December 2007 liability to the probable settlement amount.

Other Liabilities Related to Asbestos Claims

     After the Center for Claims Resolution (CCR) discontinued negotiating shared settlements for asbestos claims for its member companies in
2001, some former CCR members defaulted on the payment of their shares of some settlements and some settling claimants sought payment
of the unpaid shares from other members of the CCR at the time of the settlements, including from us. We have been working with the CCR,
other former CCR members, our insurers and the claimants over a period of several years in an effort to resolve these issues. Through
March 31, 2008, we had paid $47 to claimants and collected $29 from our insurance carriers with respect to these claims. At March 31, 2008,
we had a receivable of $18 that we expect to recover from available insurance and surety bonds relating to these claims.

Critical Accounting Estimates

     Except as discussed below, our critical accounting estimates for purposes of the financial statements in this report are the same as those
discussed in Item 7 of our 2007 Form 10-K.

Tax Rates

     For purposes of preparing our interim financial statements, we utilize an estimated annual effective tax rate for ordinary items that is
reevaluated each period based on changes in the components used to determine the annual effective rate.

Retiree Benefits

     We use several key assumptions to determine our plan expenses and obligations for our defined benefit retirement programs. These key
assumptions include the interest rate used to discount the obligations, the long-term estimated rate of return on plan assets and the health care
cost trend rates. Changes in one or more of the underlying assumptions could result in a material impact to our consolidated financial
statements in any given period. If actual experience differs from expectations, our financial position and results of operations in future periods
could be affected.

     Restructuring actions involving facility closures and employee downsizing and divestitures frequently give rise to adjustments to employee
benefit plan obligations, including the recognition of curtailment or settlement gains and losses. Upon the occurrence of these events, the
obligations of the employee benefit plans affected by the action are re-measured based on updated assumptions as of the re-measurement
date.
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     Certain changes to our U.S. defined benefit retirement programs were implemented during the bankruptcy process. Other changes specific
to union-represented employees became effective on January 31, 2008 with our emergence from bankruptcy. Our postretirement healthcare
obligations for all U.S. employees and retirees have been eliminated. With regard to pension benefits, credited service and benefit accruals
have been frozen for all U.S. employees in defined benefit pension plans.

     In connection with the adoption of fresh start accounting upon emergence, we were required to re-measure the assets and liabilities of all of
our defined benefit plans using updated assumptions. See additional discussion of our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations in
Note 11 to the financial statements in Item 1 of Part I.

Long-lived Asset and Goodwill Impairment

     We perform periodic impairment analyses on our long-lived assets whenever events and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. When such indications are present, we compare the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows of the
operations to which the assets relate to their carrying amount. If the operations are determined to be unable to recover the carrying amount of
their assets, the long-lived assets are written down to their estimated fair value. Fair value is determined based on discounted cash flows, third
party appraisals or other methods that provide appropriate estimates of value.

     Asset impairments often result from significant actions like the discontinuance of customer programs and facility closures. During our
reorganization several initiatives including customer program evaluations and manufacturing footprint assessments caused us to recognize
asset impairments. Future decisions in connection with these types of actions or new actions could result in additional asset impairment losses
in the future.

     In addition, we have increased the valuation of our inventory, goodwill, other intangible assets and fixed assets as part of fresh start
accounting. These valuation increases may result in recorded values that will not be supported by future cash flows which could result in
additional impairment.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

     We are exposed to various types of market risks, including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, adverse movements in
commodity prices for products we use in our manufacturing and adverse changes in interest rates. To reduce our exposure to these risks, we
maintain risk management controls to monitor these risks and take appropriate actions to attempt to mitigate such risks. There have been no
material changes to the market risk exposures discussed in Item 7A of our 2007 Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

     We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that the information disclosed in the reports we file with the
SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

     Our management, with participation of our CEO and CFO, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
the end period covered by this Report on Form 10-Q. Our CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this
Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were
effective.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

     There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2008 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

CEO and CFO Certifications

     The Certifications of our CEO and CFO that are attached to this report as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 include information about our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. These Certifications should be read in conjunction with the information
contained in this Item 4 and in Item 9A of our 2007 Form 10-K for a more complete understanding of the matters covered by the Certifications.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

     As discussed in Item 2 of Part I, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Emergence
Proceedings,” and in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of Part I, we emerged from bankruptcy on January 31,
2008. Pursuant to the Plan, the pre-petition ownership interests in Prior Dana were cancelled and all of the pre-petition claims against the
Debtors, including claims with respect to debt, pension and postretirement healthcare obligations and other liabilities, were addressed in
connection with our emergence from bankruptcy.

     As previously reported and as discussed in Item 2 of Part I and in Note 16 to the financial statements in Item 1 of Part I, we are a party to a
pending stockholder derivative action, as well as various pending judicial and administrative proceedings that arose in the ordinary course of
business (including both pre-petition and subsequent proceedings), we are cooperating with a formal investigation by the SEC with respect to
matters related to the restatement of our financial statements for the first two quarters of 2005 and fiscal years 2002 through 2004 and we are
party to an appeal of our Confirmation Order. After reviewing the currently pending lawsuits and proceedings (including the probable outcomes,
reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, availability and limits of our insurance coverage and surety bonds and our established reserves for
uninsured liabilities), we do not believe that any liabilities that may result from these proceedings are reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

     We discussed a number of risk factors that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations in Item 1A of
our 2007 Form 10-K. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed.

     Steel is a key raw material we use in the manufacturing of our products and we are a significant user of steel. During the first quarter of this
year and continuing into the second quarter, steel prices have increased at record rates. Consequently, overall steel price pressures remain a
significant concern for our business and higher steel prices are likely to have an adverse impact on our operating results for the foreseeable
future.

     On February 26, 2008, UAW workers at five American Axle and Manufacturing Holdings Inc. plants in Michigan and New York went on
strike. The strike has affected numerous assembly plants at General Motors, including some plants we supply with our axle and structures
products. The strike has lowered General Motor's production volumes in North America and consequently has adversely impacted our
operating results.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

     The Exhibits listed in the “Exhibit Index” are filed or furnished with this report.
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SIGNATURES

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
     
 

Dana Holding Corporation
 

(Registrant)
 

 

Date: May 12, 2008 /s/ Kenneth A. Hiltz   
 Kenneth A. Hiltz   
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

66



Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX
     
Exhibit    Method of Filing or
No.  Description  Furnishing
 

31.1  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by Chief Executive Officer  Filed with this report
     
31.2  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by Chief Financial Officer  Filed with this report
     
32  Section 1350 Certifications  Furnished with this report
     
10.1**

 
Executive Employment Agreement dated April 16, 2008 by and between Gary L. Convis and Dana
Holding Corporation  

Filed with this report

     
10.2**

 
Executive Employment Agreement dated April 16, 2008 by and between John M. Devine and Dana
Holding Corporation  

Filed with this report

     
10.3**

 
Executive Employment Agreement dated April 16, 2008 by and between Robert H. Marcin and
Dana Holding Corporation  

Filed with this report

 

**  Management contract or compensatory plan
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Exhibit 10.1

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

     THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of April 16th, 2008 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Dana
Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and Gary L. Convis (the “Executive”) (the Company and the Executive, collectively, the
“Parties,” and each, a “Party”). In addition to the terms defined elsewhere herein, initial capitalized terms are defined in Section 29.

WITNESSETH:

     WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company desire to enter into this Agreement.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the covenants and agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration,
the sufficiency and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Executive agree as follows:

 1.  Employment.

 (a)  The Company will employ the Executive and the Executive will be employed by the Company upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.
 

 (b)  The employment relationship between the Company and the Executive will be governed by the general employment policies and practices of
the Company, including without limitation, those relating to the Company’s Standards of Business Conduct, confidential information and
avoidance of conflicts, except that when the terms of this Agreement differ from or are in conflict with the Company’s general employment
policies or practices, this Agreement will control.

 2.  Term. Subject to termination under Section 9, the Executive’s employment will be for an initial term of 12 months commencing on the Effective
Date and will continue through the first anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Employment Term”). At the end of the Initial Employment
Term and on each succeeding anniversary of the Effective Date, the Employment Term will be automatically extended by an additional 12 months
(each, a “Renewal Term”), unless not less than 30 days prior to the end of the Initial Employment Term or any Renewal Term, either the Executive
or the Company has given the other written notice (in accordance with Section 20) of non-renewal. The Executive will provide the Company with
written notice of his intent to terminate employment with the Company at least 30 days prior to the effective date of such termination.

 3.  Position and Duties of the Executive.

 (a)  The Executive will have such duties, responsibilities and authority as may be assigned to the Chief Executive Officer from time to time by the



 

   Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), any committee or person delegated by the Board or the Chairman of the Board of Directors
(the “Chairman”) to whom the Executive will report. The Executive will remain a member of the Board of Directors of the Company during
the term of this Agreement (although surrendering outside director compensation) and agrees to serve as an officer of any enterprise and/or
agrees to be an employee of any Subsidiary as may be requested from time to time by the Chairman or the Board.

 

 (b)  So long as such activities do not involve a breach of Section 3(a) or Sections 10, 11, 12 or 13 hereof and do not significantly interfere with the
performance of his duties hereunder, the Executive may participate in any governmental, educational, charitable or other community affairs
during the Employment Term and, subject to the prior approval of the Board in its discretion, serve as a member of the governing board of any
such organization. The Executive may retain all fees and other compensation from any such service, and Company shall not reduce his
compensation by the amount of such fees. The Executive may not accept any position during the Employment Term with a for-profit
enterprise without the prior approval of the Board in its discretion.

 4.  Compensation.

 (a)  Base Salary. During the Employment Term, the Company will pay to the Executive an annual base salary of $1,200,000.00 (the “Base
Salary”), which Base Salary will be payable at the times and in the manner consistent with the Company’s general policies regarding
compensation of the Company’s senior executives. The Base Salary will be reviewed periodically by the Compensation Committee and may
be increased (but not decreased, except for across-the-board reductions generally applicable to the Company’s senior executives) from time to
time in the Compensation Committee’s sole discretion.

 

 (b)  Sign-on Incentive. The Company will pay a sign-on incentive to the Executive in the amount of 766,900 common stock options, ten year term,
vesting ratably over three years and valued in accordance with the Black-Scholes method based on the current market price of the Company’s
shares as of the date he commences employment pursuant to this Agreement. The terms of this Agreement will supersede and take precedence
over any terms of the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement to the extent the terms of the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement are
contradictory or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

 

 (c)  Incentive Compensation. The Executive will be eligible to participate in any short-term and long-term incentive compensation plans, annual
bonus plans and such other management incentive programs or arrangements of the Company approved by the Board or the
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   Compensation Committee that are generally available to the Company’s senior executives, including, but not limited to, the STIP, and the
LTSIP.

 (i)  Annual Performance Bonus. During the Employment Term, the Executive will be eligible to participate in the STIP, with a target bonus
of 200% of base salary as may be determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion (an “Annual Bonus Award”).

 

 (ii)  Long-Term Performance Bonus. During the Employment Term, the Executive will be eligible to participate in any long-term incentive
award program with such opportunities, if any, as may be determined by the Compensation Committee.

 

 (iii)  Incentive compensation, including Annual Bonus Award and any long-term incentive award, if earned, will be paid when incentive
compensation is customarily paid to the Company’s senior executives in accordance with the terms of the applicable plans, programs or
arrangements.

 

 (iv)  Pursuant to the Company’s applicable incentive or bonus plans as in effect from time to time, the Executive’s incentive compensation
during the term of this Agreement may be determined according to criteria intended to qualify as performance-based compensation
under Section 162(m) of the Code.

 (d)  Buyout. The Executive will receive a payment of $765, 356.00 for the purpose of making the Executive whole from forfeited compensation
from his prior employer.

 5.  Benefits.

 (a)  During the Employment Term, the Company will make available to the Executive, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable plans,
participation for the Executive and his eligible dependents in: (i) Company-sponsored employee welfare benefit plans, programs and
arrangements (the “Employee Plans”) and such other usual and customary benefits in which senior executives of the Company participate
from time to time, and (ii) such fringe benefits and perquisites as may be made available to senior executives (including but not limited to
inclusion in any future change of control plan or agreement adopted by the Company), provided however, that eligibility for D & O indemnity
insurance and other benefits and perquisites available from plans and programs provided specifically to other executive officers will be
immediate upon the beginning of his employment with the Company in accordance with the specific terms of such plans and programs.
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 (b)  The Executive acknowledges that the Company may change its benefit programs from time to time which may result in certain benefit
programs being amended or terminated for its senior executives generally.

 6.  Expenses. The Company will pay or reimburse the Executive for reasonable and necessary business expenses incurred by the Executive in
connection with his duties on behalf of the Company in accordance with the policies, as may be amended from time to time, or any successor policy,
plan program or arrangement thereto and any other of its expense policies applicable to senior executives of the Company, including, but not limited
to, temporary living expenses and access to one of the Company’s guest houses as required. Further, the Executive will be reimbursed for reasonable
temporary commuting expenses from his residence in California including use of private aircraft up to 30 round trips in accordance with accepted
procedures and disclosures. To the extent any benefits received by the Executive under this Section 6 should be imputed as taxable income to the
Executive, the Company will pay the Executive an additional amount to alleviate all tax burdens associated with these benefits, including the tax
associated with such additional amounts.

 

 7.  Vacation. In addition to such holidays, sick leave, personal leave and other paid leave as is allowed under the Company’s policies applicable to
senior executives generally, the Executive will be entitled to twenty (20) days of paid vacation per year, which vacation days shall accrued and be
useable by Executive in accordance with the Company’s standard vacation policies. Upon termination of employment, the Company will promptly
pay Executive any unused vacation days.

 

 8.  Place of Performance. In connection with his employment by the Company, the Executive will be based at the principal executive offices of the
Company in the greater Toledo, Ohio area (the “Place of Performance”).

 

 9.  Termination. For purposes of this Section 9, no payment that would otherwise be made and no benefit that would otherwise be provided upon a
termination of employment will be made or provided unless and until such termination of employment is also a “Separation from Service” (as
determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code).

 (a)  Termination by the Company for Cause or Resignation by the Executive. If, during the Employment Term, the Executive’s employment is
terminated by Company for Cause, or if the Executive resigns, the Executive will not be eligible to receive Base Salary or to participate in any
Employee Plans with respect to future periods after the date of such termination or resignation, except for the right to receive accrued but
unpaid cash compensation as provided under any Employee Plan in accordance with the terms of such Employee Plan and applicable law.

 

 (b)  Termination by the Company Without Cause.
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 (i) If, during the Initial Employment Term or the first six months of the first Renewal Term if the Employment Term is extended, the

Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause, in full satisfaction of the Executive’s rights and any benefits the
Executive might be entitled to under this Agreement, the Executive will be entitled to receive from the Company:

 

  (A)  the Executive’s accrued, but unpaid, Base Salary through the date of termination of employment, payable in accordance with the
Company’s normal payroll practices;

 

  (B)  continuation of his Base Salary in effect immediately prior to the termination of his employment, which payments will be paid to
the Executive in equal installments on the regular payroll dates under the Company’s payroll practices applicable to the
Executive at the time of termination for the duration of the Payment Period, and each such payment will be a separate payment
and not one of a series of payments for purposes of Section 409A of the Code; and

 

  (C)  a payment of the Annual Bonus Award at target level, as referenced in Section 4(c)(i), for the year in which such Termination
without Cause shall occur..

   Any obligation of Company to make any payment pursuant to Section 9(b)(i)(B) is conditioned upon the Executive first delivering to Company a release
in the form customarily used for the termination of executives (the “Release”) within 30 calendar days after termination of the Executive’s employment,
with all periods for revocation expired (the “Release Effective Date”).

 (ii) Following the end of the 18 month period described in Section 9(b)(i), the Executive will be subject to the Company’s normal severance policy
applicable to senior executives.

 (c) Termination by Death or Disability. If the Executive dies or becomes Disabled during the Employment Term, the Executive’s employment will
terminate and the Executive or his Executive’s beneficiary or if none, the Executive’s estate, as the case may be, will be entitled to receive from
the Company, the Executive’s accrued, but unpaid Base Salary through the date of termination of employment and any vested benefits under any
Employee Plan in accordance with the terms of such Employee Plan and applicable law.

 

 (d) No Mitigation Obligation. No amounts paid under Section 9 will be reduced by any earnings that the Executive may receive from any other
source.

 

 (e)  Forfeiture. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any right of the Executive to receive termination payments and benefits hereunder will be forfeited
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   upon any material breach of Section 10, 11, 12, 13 or 15 by the Executive.
 

 (f)  Section 409A Delay. Notwithstanding any provisions of Section 9 to the contrary, if the Executive is a “specified employee” (within the
meaning of Section 409A and determined pursuant to procedures adopted by the Company) at the time of his Separation from Service and if
any portion of the payments or benefits to be received by the Executive under Section 9 upon his separation from service would be considered
deferred compensation under Section 409A, then the following provisions will apply to the relevant portion:

 (i)  Each portion of such payments and benefits that would otherwise be payable pursuant to Section 9 during the six-month period
immediately following the Executive’s Separation from Service (the “Delayed Period”) will instead be paid or made available on the
earlier of (i) the first business day of the seventh month following the date the Executive incurs a Separation from Service and (ii) the
Executive’s death (the applicable date, the “Permissible Payment Date”);

 

 (ii)  With respect to any amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement under Section 9, such expenses will be reimbursed by the Company
within 60 calendar days (or, if applicable, on the Permissible Payment Date) following the date on which the Company receives the
applicable invoice from the Executive (and approves such invoice) but in no event later than December 31 of the year following the
year in which the Executive incurs the related expenses;

 

 (iii)  Payments delayed under Section 9 (other than the delayed settlement of equity-based awards subject to Section 409A) as a result of the
application of Section 409A will not accrue interest. In no event will the reimbursements or in-kind benefits to be provided by the
Company in one taxable year affect the amount of reimbursements or in-kind benefits to be provided in any other taxable year, nor will
the Executive’s right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit; and

 

 (iv)  Each payment under this Agreement will be considered a “separate payment” and not of a series of payments for purposes of
Section 409A.

 10.  Confidential Information; Statements to Third Parties.
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 (a)  During the Employment Term and on a permanent basis upon and following termination of the Executive’s employment, the Executive
acknowledges that:

 (i)  all information, whether or not reduced to writing (or in a form from which information can be obtained, translated, or derived into
reasonably usable form) or maintained in the mind or memory of the Executive and whether compiled or created by the Company, any
of its Subsidiaries or any affiliates of the Company or its Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company Group”), which derives independent
economic value from not being readily known to or ascertainable by proper means by others who can obtain economic value from the
disclosure or use of such information, of a proprietary, private, secret or confidential (including, without exception, inventions,
products, processes, methods, techniques, formulas, compositions, compounds, projects, developments, sales strategies, plans, research
data, clinical data, financial data, personnel data, computer programs, customer and supplier lists, trademarks, service marks, copyrights
(whether registered or unregistered), artwork, and contacts at or knowledge of customers or prospective customers) nature concerning
the Company Group’s business, business relationships or financial affairs (collectively, “Proprietary Information”) shall be the exclusive
property of the Company Group.

 

 (ii)  the Proprietary Information of the Company Group gained by the Executive during the Executive’s association with the Company
Group was or will be developed by and/or for the Company Group through substantial expenditure of time, effort and money and
constitutes valuable and unique property of the Company Group;

 

 (iii)  reasonable efforts have been put forth by the Company Group to maintain the secrecy of its Proprietary Information;
 

 (iv)  such Proprietary Information is and will remain the sole property of the Company Group; and
 

 (v)  any retention or use by the Executive of Proprietary Information after the termination of the Executive’s services for the Company
Group or any non-renewal will constitute a misappropriation of the Company Group’s Proprietary Information.

 (b)  The Executive further acknowledges and agrees that he will take all affirmative steps reasonably necessary or required by the Company to
protect the Proprietary Information from inappropriate disclosure during and after his employment with the Company.
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 (c)  The Executive further agrees that all Proprietary Information in the Executive’s custody or possession will be delivered to the Company (to
the extent the Executive has not already returned) in good condition, on or before five business days subsequent to the earlier of: (i) a request
by the Company or (ii) the Executive’s termination of employment for any reason or Cause, including for non-renewal of this Agreement,
Disability, termination by the Company or termination by the Executive.

 

 (d)  The Executive further agrees that his obligation not to disclose or to use information and materials of the types set forth in Sections 10(a),
10(b) and 10(c) above, and his obligation to return materials and tangible property, set forth in Section 10(c) above, also extends to such types
of information, materials and tangible property of customers of the Company Group, consultants for the Company, suppliers to the Company,
or other third parties who may have disclosed or entrusted the same to the Company or to the Executive.

 

 (e)  Further the Executive acknowledges that his obligation of confidentiality will survive, regardless of any other breach of this Agreement or any
other agreement, by any party hereto, until and unless such Proprietary Information of the Company Group has become, through no fault of
the Executive, generally known to the public. In the event that the Executive is required by law, regulation, or court order to disclose any of
the Company Group’s Proprietary Information, the Executive will promptly notify the Company prior to making any such disclosure to
facilitate the Company seeking a protective order or other appropriate remedy from the proper authority. The Executive further agrees to
cooperate with the Company in seeking such order or other remedy and that, if the Company is not successful in precluding the requesting
legal body from requiring the disclosure of the Proprietary Information, the Executive will furnish only that portion of the Proprietary
Information that is legally required, and the Executive will exercise all legal efforts to obtain reliable assurances that confidential treatment
will be accorded to the Proprietary Information.

 

 (f)  The Executive’s obligations under this Section 10 are in addition to, and not in limitation of, all other obligations of confidentiality under the
Company’s policies, general legal or equitable principles or statutes.

 

 (g)  During the Employment Term, other than in connection with the performance of his duties hereunder, and following his termination of
employment:

 (i)  the Executive will not, directly or indirectly, make or cause to be made any statements, including but not limited to, comments in books
or printed media, to any third parties criticizing or disparaging the Company Group or commenting on the character
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   or business reputation of the Company Group. Without the prior written consent of the Board, unless otherwise required by law, the
Executive will not (A) publicly comment in a manner adverse to the Company Group concerning the status, plans or prospects of the
business of the Company Group or (B) publicly comment in a manner adverse to the Company Group concerning the status, plans or
prospects of any existing, threatened or potential claims or litigation involving the Company Group;

 

 (ii)  the Company will comply with its policies regarding public statements with respect to the Executive and any such statements will be
deemed to be made by the Company only if made or authorized by a member of the Board or a senior executive officer of the Company;
and

 

 (iii)  nothing herein precludes honest and good faith reporting by the Executive to appropriate Company or legal enforcement authorities.
 

 (iv)  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that a violation of the foregoing provisions of this Section 10 would cause irreparable harm to
the Company Group, and that the Company’s remedy at law for any such violation would be inadequate. In recognition of the
foregoing, the Executive agrees that, in addition to any other relief afforded by law or this Agreement, including damages sustained by a
breach of this Agreement and any forfeitures under Section 9(e), and without the necessity or proof of actual damages, the Company
will have the right to enforce this Agreement by specific remedies, which will include, among other things, temporary and permanent
injunctions, it being the understanding of the undersigned parties hereto that damages, the forfeitures described above and injunctions
will all be proper modes of relief and are not to be considered as alternative remedies.

 11.  Non-Competition. In consideration of the Company entering into this Agreement, for a period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the
expiration of the Restricted Period:

 (a)  The Executive covenants and agrees that the Executive will not, directly or indirectly, engage in any activities on behalf of or have an interest
in any Competitor of the Company Group, whether as an owner, investor, executive, manager, employee, independent consultant, contractor,
advisor, or otherwise. The Executive’s ownership of less than one percent (1%) of any class of stock in a publicly traded corporation will not
be a breach of this paragraph.
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 (b)  A “Competitor” is any entity doing business directly or indirectly (e.g., as an owner, investor, provider of capital or otherwise) in the United
States including any territory of the United States (the “Territory”) that provides products and/or services that are the same or similar to the
products and/or services that are currently being provided at the time of Executive’s termination or that were provided by the Company Group
during the two-year period prior to the Executive’s separation from service with the Company Group or the non-renewal of this Agreement.

 

 (c)  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that due to the continually evolving nature of the Company Group’s industry, the scope of its
business and/or the identities of Competitors may change over time. The Executive further acknowledges and agrees that the Company Group
markets its products and services on a nationwide basis, encompassing the Territory and that the restrictions imposed by this covenant,
including the geographic scope, are reasonably necessary to protect the Company Group’s legitimate interests.

 

 (d)  The Executive covenants and agrees that should a court at any time determine that any restriction or limitation in this Section 11 is
unreasonable or unenforceable, it will be deemed amended so as to provide the maximum protection to the Company Group and be deemed
reasonable and enforceable by the court.

 12.  Non-Solicitation. In consideration of the Company entering into this Agreement, for a period commencing on the date on which the Executive’s
employment terminates for any reason and ending on the expiration of the Restricted Period, the Executive hereby covenants and agrees that he will
not, directly or indirectly, individually or on behalf of any other person or entity do or suffer any of the following:

 (a)  hire or employ or assist in hiring or employing any person who was at any time during the last 18 months of the Executive’s employment an
employee, representative or agent of any member of the Company Group or solicit, aid, induce or attempt to solicit, aid, induce or persuade,
directly or indirectly, any person who is an employee, representative, or agent of any member of the Company Group to leave his or her
employment with any member of the Company Group to accept employment with any other person or entity;

 

 (b)  induce any person who is an employee, officer or agent of the Company Group, or any of its affiliated, related or subsidiary entities to
terminate such relationship;

 

 (c)  solicit any customer of the Company Group, or any person or entity whose business the Company Group had solicited during the 180-day
period prior to termination of the Executive’s employment for purposes
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   of business which is competitive to the Company Group within the Territory; or
 

 (d)  For purposes of this Section 12, the term “solicit or persuade” includes, but is not limited to, (i) initiating communications with an employee
of the Company Group relating to possible employment, (ii) offering bonuses or additional compensation to encourage an employee of the
Company Group to terminate his employment, and (iii) referring employees of the Company Group to personnel or agents employed by
competitors, suppliers or customers of the Company Group.

 13.  Developments.

 (a)  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that he will make full and prompt disclosure to the Company of all inventions, improvements,
discoveries, methods, developments, software, mask works, and works of authorship, whether patentable or copyrightable or not, (i) which
relate to the Company’s business and have heretofore been created, made, conceived or reduced to practice by the Executive or under his
direction or jointly with others, and not assigned to prior employers, or (ii) which have utility in or relate to the Company’s business and are
created, made, conceived or reduced to practice by the Executive or under his direction or jointly with others during his employment with the
Company, whether or not during normal working hours or on the premises of the Company (all of the foregoing of which are collectively
referred to in this Agreement as “Developments”).

 

 (b)  The Executive further agrees to sign the Company’s Standard Invention and Disclosure Agreement as required of all new employees.
 

 (c)  The Executive further agrees to cooperate fully with the Company, both during and after his employment with the Company, with respect to
the procurement, maintenance and enforcement of copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights (both in the United States and
other countries) relating to Developments. The Executive will not be required to incur or pay any costs or expenses in connection with the
rendering of such cooperation.

 14.  Remedies. The Executive and the Company agree that the covenants contained in Sections 10, 11, 12 and 13 are reasonable under the circumstances,
and further agree that if in the opinion of any court of competent jurisdiction any such covenant is not reasonable in any respect, such court will have
the right, power and authority to sever or modify any provision or provisions of such covenants as to the court will appear not reasonable and to
enforce the remainder of the covenants as so amended. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the remedy at law available to the Company for
breach of any of the Executive’s obligations under Sections 10, 11, 12 and 13 would be inadequate and that
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   damages flowing from such a breach may not readily be susceptible to being measured in monetary terms. Accordingly, the Executive
acknowledges, consents and agrees that, in addition to any other rights or remedies that the Company may have at law, in equity or under this
Agreement, upon adequate proof of the Executive’s violation of any such provision of this Agreement, the Company will be entitled to immediate
injunctive relief and may obtain a temporary order restraining any threatened or further breach, without the necessity of proof of actual damage.

 

 15.  Continued Availability and Cooperation.

 (a)  Following termination of the Executive’s employment, the Executive will cooperate fully with the Company and with the Company’s counsel
in connection with any present and future actual or threatened litigation, administrative proceeding or investigation involving the Company
that relates to events, occurrences or conduct occurring (or claimed to have occurred) during the period of the Executive’s employment by the
Company. Cooperation will include, but is not limited to:

 (i)  Making himself reasonably available for interviews and discussions with the Company’s counsel as well as for depositions and trial
testimony;

 

 (ii)  if depositions or trial testimony are to occur, making himself reasonably available and cooperating in the preparation therefore, as and to
the extent that the Company or the Company’s counsel reasonably requests;

 

 (iii)  refraining from impeding in any way the Company’s prosecution or defense of such litigation or administrative proceeding; and
 

 (iv)  cooperating fully in the development and presentation of the Company’s prosecution or defense of such litigation or administrative
proceeding.

 (b)  The Company will reimburse the Executive for reasonable travel, lodging, telephone and similar expenses, as well as reasonable attorneys’
fees (if independent legal counsel is necessary), incurred in connection with any cooperation, consultation and advice rendered under this
Agreement after the Executive’s termination of employment. Any reimbursement or provision of in-kind benefits made during the Executive’s
lifetime pursuant to the terms of this Section 15(b) will be made not later than December 31st of the year following the year in which the
Executive incurs the expense. In no event will the amount of expenses so reimbursed, or in-kind benefits provided, by the Company in one
year affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year. Each
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   provision of reimbursement of expenses or in-kind benefit pursuant to this Section 15(b) will be considered a separate payment and not one of
a series of payments for purposes of Section 409A of the Code.

 16.  Dispute Resolution.

 (a)  In the event that the Parties are unable to resolve any controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or breach
thereof, either Party will refer the dispute to binding arbitration, which will be the exclusive forum for resolving such claims. Such arbitration
will be administered by Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc. (“JAMS”) pursuant to its Employment Arbitration Rules and
Procedures and governed by Delaware law. The arbitration will be conducted by a single arbitrator selected by the Parties according to the
rules of JAMS. In the event that the Parties fail to agree on the selection of the arbitrator within 30 days after either Party’s request for
arbitration, the arbitrator will be chosen by JAMS. The arbitration proceeding will commence on a mutually agreeable date within 90 days
after the request for arbitration, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, and in the location where the Executive worked during the six months
immediately prior to the request for arbitration if that location is in Ohio and if not, the location will be Ohio, unless the Parties agree
otherwise.

 

 (b)  The Parties agree that each will bear their own costs and attorneys’ fees. The arbitrator will not have authority to award attorneys’ fees or costs
to any Party.

 

 (c)  The arbitrator will have no power or authority to make awards or orders granting relief that would not be available to a Party in a court of law.
The arbitrator’s award is limited by and must comply with this Agreement and applicable federal, state, and local laws. The decision of the
arbitrator will be final and binding on the Parties.

 

 (d)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no claim or controversy for injunctive or equitable relief contemplated by or allowed under applicable law
pursuant to Sections 10, 11, 12 and 13 of this Agreement will be subject to arbitration under this Section 16, but will instead be subject to
determination in a court of competent jurisdiction in Ohio, which court will apply Delaware law consistent with Section 21 of this Agreement,
where either Party may seek injunctive or equitable relief.

 17.  Other Agreements. No agreements (other than the agreements evidencing any grants of equity awards) or representations, oral or otherwise, express
or implied, with respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement. Each party
to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or other agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any
party, or anyone acting
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   on behalf of any party, pertaining to the subject matter hereof, which are not embodied herein, and that no prior and/or contemporaneous agreement,
statement or promise pertaining to the subject matter hereof that is not contained in this Agreement will be valid or binding on either party.

 

 18.  Withholding of Taxes. The Company will withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement all federal, state, city or other taxes as the
Company is required to withhold pursuant to any law or government regulation or ruling.

 

 19.  Successors and Binding Agreement.

 (a)  The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation, reorganization or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business or assets of the Company expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to
the same extent the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place. This Agreement will be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the Company and any successor to the Company, including without limitation any persons acquiring directly or
indirectly all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company whether by purchase, merger, consolidation, reorganization or
otherwise (and such successor will thereafter be deemed the “Company” for the purposes of this Agreement), but will not otherwise be
assignable, transferable or delegable by the Company, except that the Company may assign and transfer this Agreement and delegate its duties
to a wholly owned Subsidiary.

 

 (b)  This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators,
successors, heirs and legatees.

 

 (c)  This Agreement is personal in nature and neither of the parties hereto will, without the consent of the other, assign, transfer or delegate this
Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder except as expressly provided in Sections 19(a) and 19(b). Without limiting the generality or
effect of the foregoing, the Executive’s right to receive payments hereunder will not be assignable, transferable or delegable, whether by
pledge, creation of a security interest, or otherwise, other than by a transfer by the Executive’s will or by the laws of descent and distribution
and, in the event of any attempted assignment or transfer contrary to this Section 19(c), the Company will have no liability to pay any amount
so attempted to be assigned, transferred or delegated.

 20.  Notices. All communications, including without limitation notices, consents, requests or approvals, required or permitted to be given hereunder will
be in writing and will be duly given when hand delivered or dispatched by electronic facsimile transmission (with receipt thereof confirmed), or five
business days
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   after having been mailed by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or three business days after having
been sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier service such as Federal Express or UPS, addressed to the Company (to the attention of the
General Counsel of the Company) at its principal executive offices and to the Executive at his principal residence, or to such other address as any
party may have furnished to the other in writing and in accordance herewith, except that notices of changes of address will be effective only upon
receipt.

 21.  Governing Law and Choice of Forum.

 (a)  This Agreement will be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the conflict of laws
principles thereof.

 

 (b)  To the extent not otherwise provided for by the Section 16 of this Agreement, the Executive and the Company consent to the jurisdiction of all
state and federal courts located in Ohio, as well as to the jurisdiction of all courts of which an appeal may be taken from such courts, for the
purpose of any suit, action, or other proceeding arising out of, or in connection with, this Agreement or that otherwise arise out of the
employment relationship. Each party hereby expressly waives any and all rights to bring any suit, action, or other proceeding in or before any
court or tribunal other than the courts described above and covenants that it will not seek in any manner to resolve any dispute other than as
set forth in this paragraph. Further, the Executive and the Company hereby expressly waive any and all objections either may have to venue,
including, without limitation, the inconvenience of such forum, in any of such courts. In addition, each of the Parties consents to the service of
process by personal service or any manner in which notices may be delivered hereunder in accordance with this Agreement.

 22.  Validity/Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application of any provision is held invalid, unenforceable or otherwise illegal, the
remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision will not be affected, and the provision so held to be invalid, unenforceable or
otherwise illegal will be reformed to the extent (and only to the extent) necessary to make it enforceable, valid or legal. To the extent any provisions
held to be invalid, unenforceable or otherwise illegal cannot be reformed, such provisions are to be stricken and the remainder of this Agreement
will be binding on the parties and their successors and assigns as if such invalid or illegal provisions were never included in this Agreement from the
first instance.

 

 23.  Survival of Provisions. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the parties’ respective rights and obligations under Sections 10, 11,
12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 22 and 26 will survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement or the termination of the Executive’s employment.
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 24.  Representations and Acknowledgements.

 (a)  The Executive hereby represents that he is not subject to any restriction of any nature whatsoever on his ability to enter into this Agreement or
to perform his duties and responsibilities hereunder, including, but not limited to, any covenant not to compete with any former employer, any
covenant not to disclose or use any non-public information acquired during the course of any former employment or any covenant not to
solicit any customer of any former employer.

 

 (b)  The Executive hereby represents that, except as he has disclosed in writing to the Company, he is not bound by the terms of any agreement
with any previous employer or other party to refrain from using or disclosing any trade secret or confidential or proprietary information in the
course of the Executive’s employment with the Company or to refrain from competing, directly or indirectly, with the business of such
previous employer or any other party.

 

 (c)  The Executive further represents that, to the best of his knowledge, his performance of all the terms of this Agreement and as an employee of
the Company does not and will not breach any agreement with another party, including without limitation any agreement to keep in
confidence proprietary information, knowledge or data the Executive acquired in confidence or in trust prior to his employment with the
Company, and that he will not knowingly disclose to the Company or induce the Company to use any confidential or proprietary information
or material belonging to any previous employer or others.

 

 (d)  The Executive hereby represents and agrees that, during the Restricted Period, if the Executive is offered employment or the opportunity to
enter into any business activity, whether as owner, investor, executive, manager, employee, independent consultant, contractor, advisor or
otherwise, the Executive will inform the offeror of the existence of Sections 10, 11, 12 and 13 of this Agreement and provide the offeror a
copy thereof.

 25.  Compliance with Code Section 409A. It is intended that any amounts payable under this Agreement and the Company’s and the Executive’s exercise
of authority or discretion hereunder will comply with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code and the treasury regulations relating thereto so as
not to subject the Executive to the payment of the additional tax, interest and any tax penalty which may be imposed under Code Section 409A.
Reference to Section 409A of the Code is to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and will also include any proposed,
temporary or final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of Treasury or the Internal
Revenue Service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no particular tax result for the Executive with respect to any income recognized by
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   the Executive in connection with the Agreement is guaranteed, and the Executive will be responsible for any taxes, penalties and interest imposed on
him under or as a result of Section 409A of the Code in connection with the Agreement.

 

 26.  Amendment; Waiver. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement may not be modified, amended or waived in any manner except by an
instrument in writing signed by both Parties hereto. No waiver by either Party at any time of any breach by the other Party hereto or compliance with
any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other Party will be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or
conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time.

 

 27.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which
together will constitute one and the same agreement.

 

 28.  Headings. Unless otherwise noted, the headings of sections herein are included solely for convenience of reference and will not control the meaning
or interpretation of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

 

 29.  Defined Terms.

 (a)  “Bylaws” means the Amended and Restated Dana Holding Corporation Bylaws, as may be amended from time to time.
 

 (b)  “Cause” will mean:

 (i)  Any act or omission constituting a material breach by the Executive of any provisions of this Agreement;
 

 (ii)  The willful failure by the Executive to perform his duties hereunder (other than any such failure resulting from the Executive’s
Disability), after demand for performance is delivered by Company that identifies in reasonable detail the manner in which Company
believes the Executive has not performed his duties, if, within 30 calendar days of such demand, the Executive fails to cure any such
failure capable of being cured;

 

 (iii)  Any intentional act or misconduct materially injurious to Company or any Subsidiary, financial or otherwise, or any act of
misappropriation, fraud including with respect to Company’s accounting and financial statements, embezzlement or conversion by the
Executive of Company’s or any of its Subsidiary’s property;

 

 (iv)  The conviction (or plea of no contest) of the Executive for any felony or the indictment of the Executive for any felony, including
without limitation any felony involving fraud, moral turpitude, embezzlement or theft;
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 (v)  The commission of any violation of any antifraud provision of federal or state securities laws; or
 

 (vi)  Alcohol or prescription or other drug abuse substantially affecting work performance.

 (c)  “Certificate of Incorporation” means the Articles of Incorporation of Dana Holding Corporation, as may be amended from time to time.
 

 (d)  “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, including any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder,
along with Treasury and IRS Interpretations thereof. Reference to any section or subsection of the Code includes reference to any comparable
or succeeding provisions of any legislation that amends, supplements or replaces such section or subsection.

 

 (e)  “Disability” or “Disabled” will mean the Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness to substantially perform his duties and the
essential functions of his position, with or without reasonable accommodation, on a full-time basis for six months as determined by the Board
in its reasonable discretion, and within 30 days after a notice of termination is thereafter given by the Company, the Executive will not have
returned to the full-time performance of the Executive’s duties; provided, however, if the Executive disputes a determination to terminate his
employment because of Disability, the question of the Executive’s disability will be subject to the certification of a qualified medical doctor
selected by the Company and the Executive. The costs of such qualified medical doctor will be paid for by the Company.

 

 (f)  “Employment Term” means the Initial Employment Term and any Renewal Term.
 

 (g)  “LTSIP” means the Company’s 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan, effective December 26, 2007 as may be amended from time to time, or any
successor plan, program or arrangement thereto.

 

 (h)  “Payment Period” means the 12-month period following the Executive’s termination of employment.
 

 (i)  “Restricted Period” means the 12-month period following the Executive’s date of termination of employment with the Company for any
reason or Cause, including for non-renewal of this Agreement, Disability, termination by the Company or termination by the Executive.

 

 (j)  “STIP” means the Company’s Short-Term Incentive Plan, adopted as of April 16, 2008, as may be amended from time to time, or any
successor plan, program or arrangement thereto.
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 (k)  “Subsidiary” will mean any entity, corporation, partnership (general or limited), limited liability company, entity, firm, business organization,
enterprise, association or joint venture in which the Company directly or indirectly controls ten percent (10%) or more of the voting interest.

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be signed by an officer pursuant to the authority of its Board, and the Executive has
executed this Agreement, as of the day and year first written above.
     
 DANA HOLDING CORPORATION

  

 By:  /s/ Robert H. Marcin   
 Robert H. Marcin  
 Chief Administrative Officer  
 
 EXECUTIVE

  

 /s/ Gary L. Convis   
 Gary L. Convis  
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Exhibit 10.2

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

                    This Executive Employment Agreement (“Agreement”), dated for reference purposes only as of the 16th day of April, 2008, is entered into by
and between Dana Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation, with its principal executive office at 4500 Dorr Street, Toledo, Ohio (the “Company”), and
John M. Devine, an individual, residing in California (“Executive”).

                    The Company wishes to employ Executive as Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company effective as of February 4, 2008
(the “Effective Date”), and Executive is willing to serve in such capacity under the terms of this Agreement. Therefore, in consideration of the promises and
respective covenants and agreements of the parties herein contained, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1.  Employment. The Company and Executive hereby agree that Executive will be employed by the Company on the terms set forth in this Agreement.
 

2.  Term. The employment of Executive by the Company under this Agreement commenced on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect for an initial
one (1) year period (the “Term”), unless earlier terminated as set forth in Section 6 of this Agreement. The Term may be renewed for additional one-
year periods upon mutual agreement of the parties.

 

3.  Position and Duties. Executive shall serve as Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company and shall have such responsibilities and
authority commensurate with such position as may from time to time be assigned to Executive by the Board of Directors of the Company. Executive
shall devote substantially all his working time and efforts to the business and affairs of the Company.

 

4.  Directorship Agreement. Executive shall serve as a Director for the Company while acting as Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors.
 

5.  Compensation and Related Matters.

 5.1  Salary. The Company shall pay to Executive a salary of U.S. $1,000,000 per year (the “Base Salary”), which rate may be increased from time to
time in accordance with normal business practices of the Company. The Base Salary shall be payable by the Company in accordance with the
normal payroll practices of the Company then in effect.

 

 5.2  Bonus. Executive will be eligible for an annual bonus with a target of 150% of the Base Salary. Executive’s eligibility for the bonus and the
amount thereof will be based on the achievement of performance measures to be set by the Board of Directors. If the Company terminates
Executive’s employment without Cause or if Executive terminates for Good Reason during the Term, Executive will be entitled to payment of the
entire annual bonus compensation applicable for such Term (whether or not the applicable performance measures are achieved). If the Company
terminates Executive’s employment for Cause during the Term, Executive will not be entitled to payment of any portion of the annual bonus
compensation for such Term. If Executive’s

 



 

   employment terminates for any other reason during the Term, Executive will at a minimum be entitled to payment of the annual bonus
compensation pro rated to the effective date of the termination.

 

 5.3  Stock Options. The Company has awarded Executive, as of February 4, 2008, a stock option under the Company’s 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(the “2008 Plan”) to purchase up to 800,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock (the “Option Shares”) at an exercise price of $12.75 per
share, which is the closing stock price of shares of the Company’s Common Stock as of the date of the award. The grant of the Option Shares has
been documented in the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A. As set forth in the Nonqualified Stock
Option Agreement, one-third of the Option Shares shall vest and become exercisable by Executive on each of August 4, 2008, August 4, 2009,
and August 4, 2010; provided, however, that if Executive dies or becomes disabled, or in the event of a Change in Control, any unvested Option
Shares shall immediately vest and become exercisable. For purposes of this Agreement and the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, “Change
in Control” shall have the meaning provided in the 2008 Plan. The terms of this Agreement will supercede and take precedence over any terms of
the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement to the extent the terms of the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement are contradictory or inconsistent
with the terms of this Agreement.

 

 5.4  Additional Payments.

 5.4.1 To the extent any compensation received under the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement or under this Agreement would be subject to the
tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), the Company will pay Executive an additional amount (the “Gross-Up
Payment”) such that the net amount retained by Executive shall be equal to the compensation Executive would have received had there
been no Excise Tax imposed.

 

 5.4.2 Upon any payment to Executive in connection with a Change in Control or a termination of this Agreement, the Company shall, at the
Company’s expense, cause an independent public accounting firm mutually agreeable to the Company and Executive to determine whether
the payment would be subject to any Excise Tax and if so, the amount of the Gross-Up Payment. Such accounting firm shall provide
detailed supporting calculations to both the Company and Executive within 15 business days after receiving notice that such payments
have been made (or at such earlier time as requested by the Company). If the accounting firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by
Executive, the accounting firm shall provide Executive with a written opinion that the failure to report an excise tax on Executive’s
applicable federal income tax return would not result in the imposition of any penalty. In the event the Excise Tax is subsequently
determined to be less than the amount taken into account in calculating the Gross-Up Payment, Executive shall repay to the Company, at
the time that the amount of such reduction in Excise Tax is finally determined, the portion of the Gross-Up Payment attributable to such
reduction. In the event that the Excise Tax is determined to exceed the amount taken into
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   account (including by reason of any payment the existence or amount of which cannot be determined at the time of the Gross-Up
Payment), the Company shall make an additional gross-up payment to Executive in respect of such excess (plus any penalty, interest or
Excise Tax payable with respect to such excess) at the time that the amount of such excess is finally determined, such that Executive
retains the same amount of compensation and benefits Executive would have received had there been no Excise Tax imposed.

 

 5.4.3 The Company shall pay the Gross-Up Payment not later than the fifth day following the date of termination of this Agreement (or if there
is no termination, the fifth day following the date of the Change in Control); provided, however, that if the amount of the Gross-Up
Payment cannot be finally determined on or before such day, the Company shall pay Executive on such day an estimate determined in
good faith by the Company of the minimum amount of such payment and shall pay the remainder of such payment as soon as the amount
thereof can be determined but in no event later than the thirtieth day after the date of termination (or the date of the Change in Control, as
the case may be).

 5.5  Temporary Living Expenses; Travel Expenses. For a period of one (1) year commencing on the Effective Date, the Company shall provide
Executive with full access to the Company’s guest housing and shall also reimburse Executive for Executive’s reasonable temporary living
expenses in or around Toledo, Ohio. Further, the Executive will be reimbursed for reasonable temporary commuting expenses from his resident in
California, including use of private aircraft up to 30 roundtrips in accordance with accepted procedures and disclosures. To the extent any benefits
received by Executive under this Section 5.5 is imputed as taxable income to Executive, the Company will pay Executive an additional amount to
alleviate all tax burdens associated with these benefits, including the tax associated with such additional amounts.

 

 5.6  Vacation. In addition to legal holidays observed by the Company, Executive shall be entitled to twenty (20) days of paid vacation per year, which
vacation days shall accrue and be useable by Executive in accordance with the Company’s standard vacation policies. Upon termination of
employment, the Company will promptly pay Executive any unused vacation days.

 

 5.7  Expenses. During the term of Executive’s employment hereunder, Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all reasonable
expenses incurred by Executive in performing services hereunder, including all expenses of travel and living expenses while away from home on
business or at the request or and in the service of the Company, provided that such expenses are incurred and accounted for in accordance with
the policies and procedures as reasonably established by the Company.

 

 5.8  Other Benefits. The Company shall keep in full force and effect, and Executive shall be entitled to participate in all of the Company’s benefit
plans or arrangements generally applicable to senior executives, including (without limitation) life and
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   disability insurance, bonus pools, stock options and stock ownership programs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive will not participate in
the Company’s health care benefit plans. The Company shall not make any changes in such plans and arrangements which would adversely affect
Executive’s rights or benefits thereunder, unless such change occurs pursuant to a program applicable to all executive officers of the Company
and does not result in a proportionately greater reduction in the rights of or benefits to Executive as compared with any other executives of the
Company.

6.  Termination

 6.1  Termination Without Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement without Cause by giving to the other party thirty (30) days written
notice.

 

 6.2  Termination Upon Death or Disability. Executive’s employment hereunder shall terminate upon his death. If, as a result of Executive’s
incapacity due to physical or mental illness, Executive shall have been absent from his duties hereunder on a full-time basis for the entire period
of six consecutive months, and within thirty (30) days after written notice of termination is given (which may occur before or after the end of
such six-month period), Executive shall not have returned to the performance of his duties hereunder on a full-time basis, the Company may
terminate Executive’s employment hereunder.

 

 6.3  Termination by the Company For Cause. The Company may terminate this Agreement for “Cause” at any time. For purposes of this
Agreement “Cause” shall mean and include: (i) a material misappropriation of any monies or assets or properties of the Company; (ii) a material
breach by Executive of the terms of this Agreement that has not been cured within thirty (30) days after written notice to Executive of the breach,
which notice shall specify the breach and the nature of conduct necessary to cure such breach; (iii) the conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo
contendere, by Executive to a felony or to any criminal offense involving Executive’s moral turpitude; or (iv) willful misconduct of Executive in
connection with the material duties required by this Agreement.

 

 6.4  Termination by Executive For Good Reason. Executive may terminate this Agreement for “Good Reason” at any time. Good Reason shall
include (a) any material adverse change by the Company in Executive’s title, position, authority or reporting relationships with the Company;
(b) the Company’s requirement that Executive relocate to a location in excess of fifty (50) miles from the Company’s current office location or
from any future office location acceptable to Executive; or (c) any material breach by the Company of this Agreement which is not cured within
thirty (30) days of written notice thereof by Executive to the Company, which notice shall specify the breach and the nature of conduct necessary
to cure such breach.

 

 6.5  Severance Pay. If the Company terminates this Agreement without Cause under Section 6.1 or if Executive terminates this Agreement for Good
Reason under Section 6.4 or if there is a Change in Control, Company shall pay Executive (i) for the remainder of the Term continuation of the
Base Salary (in accordance with the normal
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   payroll practices of the Company with respect to Base Salary), and (ii) the annual bonus payment as provided in Section 5.2. Severance pay shall
be due and payable regardless of whether or not Executive becomes employed during the remainder of the Term.

 

 6.6  Return of Company Property Following Termination. Upon termination for whatever reason, Executive shall return all books, documents,
papers, materials and any other property, including any Company vehicles (including the documentation pertaining thereto) which relates to the
business of the Company (or any subsidiary, affiliated, or holding companies) which may be in Executive’s possession or under Executive’s
power or control.

7.  Confidentiality. Executive covenants and agrees that he shall not, at any time during or following the term of his employment hereunder, directly or
indirectly divulge or disclose, to any person not employed by the Company or not engaged to render services to the Company, except as reasonably
appropriate to discharge Executive’s responsibilities under this Agreement, any confidential information of the Company which has been obtained by or
disclosed to him as a result of his employment by the Company, including without limitation, information relating to the finances, strategy,
organization, operations, inventions, processes, formulae, plans, devices, compilations of information, methods of distribution, customers, suppliers,
client relationships, marketing strategies or other trade secrets of the Company; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude Executive
from use or disclosure of information known generally to the public or of information not considered confidential by persons engaged in the business
conducted by the Company or from disclosure required by law or court order, if, in the case of such required disclosure, Executive has given the
Company reasonable prior notice in order to permit the Company to take steps to protect the information from public disclosure. In the event of a
breach or threatened breach by Executive of any of the provisions of this paragraph, the Company, in addition to and not limitation of any rights,
remedies or damages available to the Company at law or in equity, shall be entitled to a permanent injunction in order to prevent or to restrain any such
breach by Executive, or by Executive’s partners, agents, representatives, servants, employers, Executive and/or any and all persons directly or indirectly
acting for or with him.

 

8.  Reasonable Cooperation. The executive agrees to make himself reasonably available to, and to cooperate with the Company and its attorney
concerning any pending and future investigations or litigation matters arising out of or relating to his employment with the Company or other matters
concerning the Company about which the Executive had or has knowledge or involvement. Cooperation for purposes of this provision will include but
not be limited to i) making himself reasonably available for interviews and discussion with the Company’s counsel as well as depositions and
testimony, ii) assisting the Company in the presentation of its position in an investigation or administrative proceeding and cooperating fully in the
development and presentation of such defense or position.

 

9.  Indemnification; Insurance. To the fullest extent permitted by the Company’s charter documents and applicable law, the Company agrees to defend
and indemnify Executive and hold Executive harmless against any liability that Executive incur within the scope of his service as an officer and director
of the Company. The Company further agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to purchase and maintain adequate Directors’ and Officers’
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  liability insurance. The terms applicable to the Company’s indemnification and insurance obligations are more fully set forth in the Director and Officer
Indemnification Agreement between the Company and Executive entered as of the Effective Date of this Agreement and attached to this Agreement as
Exhibit 2.

 

10.  Change in Control Agreements. The Company shall include Executive in any future change in control agreements applicable to any other executive
officer or director of the Company.

 

11.  Notice. For the purposes of this Agreement, notices, demands and all other communications provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall
be deemed to have been duly given when delivered or (unless otherwise specified) mailed by registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed as set forth above, or to such other address as any party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that notices
of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

 

12.  Miscellaneous.

 12.1  The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.
 

 12.2  Sections 5.2, 5.4, 6.5, 7, and 8 of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
 

 12.3  In any action undertaken to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be reimbursed by the non-prevailing party for such
prevailing party’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, including the costs of enforcing a judgment.

 

 12.4  It is the intent of the parties that this Agreement be administered so as to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue code and all
applicable regulations. The parties intend that any payment due hereunder shall be delayed as deemed reasonably necessary by counsel for the
Company in order to avoid 409A penalties.

13.  Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of
this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

                    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date first above written.
         
Dana Holding Corporation       
         
By: /s/ Robert H. Marcin    /s/ John M. Devine   
  

 
   

 
  

  Name: Robert H. Marcin    John M. Devine   
         
  Title: Chief Administrative Officer       
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Exhibit 10.3

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

                    This Executive Employment Agreement (“Agreement”), dated for reference purposes only as of the 16th day of April, 2008, is entered into by
and between Dana Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation, with its principal executive office at 4500 Dorr Street, Toledo, Ohio (the “Company”), and
Robert H. Marcin, an individual, residing in Michigan (“Executive”).

                    The Company wishes to employ Executive as Chief Administrative Officer of the Company effective as of February 4, 2008 (the “Effective
Date”), and Executive is willing to serve in such capacity under the terms of this Agreement. Therefore, in consideration of the promises and respective
covenants and agreements of the parties herein contained, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1.  Employment. The Company and Executive hereby agree that Executive will be employed by the Company on the terms set forth in this Agreement.
 

2.  Term. The employment of Executive by the Company under this Agreement commenced on the Effective Date and shall continue until terminated as
set forth in Section 5 of this Agreement (the “Term”).

 

3.  Position and Duties. Executive shall serve as Chief Administrative Officer of the Company and shall have such responsibilities and authority
commensurate with such position as may from time to time be assigned to Executive by the Board of Directors of the Company, the Executive Chair of
the Board of Directors, and/or the Chief Executive Officer. Executive shall devote substantially all his working time and efforts to the business and
affairs of the Company.

 

4.  Compensation and Related Matters.

 4.1  Salary. The Company shall pay to Executive a salary of U.S. $500,000 per year (the “Base Salary”), which rate may be increased from time to
time in accordance with normal business practices of the Company. The Base Salary shall be payable by the Company in accordance with the
normal payroll practices of the Company then in effect.

 

 4.2  Sign-On Bonus. Executive shall receive a cash sign-on bonus in the amount of U.S. $250,000, half of which has been paid to Executive. The
Company shall pay the balance of the sign-on bonus on February 4, 2009 unless Executive has been terminated by the Company for Cause or
Executive has voluntarily terminated this Agreement without Good Reason, in which case, Executive shall not be entitled to payment of the
remainder of the sign-on bonus but will be entitled to retain the portion of the sign-on bonus that has already been paid.

 

 4.3  Annual Bonus, Equity Participation and Long Term Incentive Plan. Executive will be eligible to participate in any annual bonus, stock
equity participation and long term incentive programs generally applicable to senior executives and as approved by the Board of Directors.
Executive’s eligibility for bonuses or other incentives under



 

   any such programs will be based on the recommendation of John Devine, or if John Devine is no longer employed by the Company or serving the
Company as a Director, the Executive Chair of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, subject to any other
requirements applicable to such programs.

 

 4.4  Stock Options. The Company will award Executive, as of April 16, 2008, stock options under the Company’s 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the
“2008 Plan”) to purchase up to 255,000 shares of the Company’s common Stock (the “Option Shares”) at an exercise price to be determined by
the closing stock price of the shares of the Company’s Common Stock as of the date of the award. The grant of the Option Shares will be
documented in the form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A. The grant of the Option Shares will
vest in accordance with Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement; provided, however, that if Executive dies or becomes disabled, or in the event of
a Change in Control, any unvested Option Shares shall immediately vest and become exercisable. For purposes of this Agreement and the
Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, “Change in Control” shall have the meaning provided in the 2008 Plan. The terms of this Agreement will
supercede and take precedence over any terms of the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement to the extent the terms of the Nonqualified Stock
Option Agreement are contradictory or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

 

 4.5  Termination/Bonus. If the Company terminates Executive’s employment without Cause or if Executive terminates for Good Reason within
eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, Executive will be entitled to any bonus compensation Executive would otherwise have been eligible
to receive for the twelve-month period following termination (whether or not any applicable performance measures are achieved). If the
Company terminates Executive’s employment for Cause during the Term, Executive will not be entitled to payment of any bonus compensation
for the year in which the termination occurred. If Executive’s employment terminates for any other reason during the Term, Executive will at a
minimum be entitled to payment of the annual bonus compensation pro rated to the effective date of the termination.

 

 4.6  Temporary Living Expenses; Relocation Expenses; Home Sale Assistance. Executive currently resides in Michigan and intends to, at least for
some period of time, maintain his family residence in Michigan during his employment with the Company. Executive will also maintain living
accommodations in the Toledo, Ohio area and intends to ship certain household goods and/or vehicles to the Toledo, Ohio area. As an inducement
to Executive to enter into this Agreement and to maintain the living arrangements as described above, the Company agrees to provide Executive
with the following:

 4.6.1 Temporary Housing and Living Expenses. For a period of one (1) year commencing on the Effective Date, the Company shall provide
Executive with full access to the Company’s guest housing and shall also reimburse Executive for Executive’s reasonable temporary living
expenses in or around Toledo, Ohio.
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 4.6.2 Home Sale Assistance. During the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall provide Executive with home sale assistance through the
Company’s Guaranteed Home Sale Program.

 

 4.6.3 Shipment of Household Goods and Automobiles. The Company shall arrange and pay for the shipment of such household goods and
vehicles that Executive has determined should be shipped from Executive’s former residence in Michigan to the Toledo, Ohio area, as such
benefit is more specifically described in the Company’s U.S. Domestic Relocation Policy. In addition, during the Term of this Agreement,
at such time as Executive determines to sell his residence in Michigan, the Company shall arrange and pay for (or provide reimbursement
for) the shipment of Executive’s household goods and vehicles remaining at Executive’s residence in Michigan to Executive’s subsequent
residence. In addition, at the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company, the Company shall arrange and pay for (or
provide reimbursement for) the shipment of Executive’s household goods and vehicles from the Toledo, Ohio area to Executive’s
subsequent residence.

 

   The benefits provided to Executive pursuant to this Section 4.4 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall not be subject to
any clawback or repayment policy of the Company; in particular, the repayment requirements set forth in the Company’s U.S. Domestic
Relocation Policy shall not apply to Executive. To the extent any benefits received by Executive under this Section 5.5 is imputed as
taxable income to Executive, the Company will pay Executive an additional amount to alleviate all tax burdens associated with these
benefits, including the tax associated with such additional amounts.

 4.7  Vacation. In addition to legal holidays observed by the Company, Executive shall be entitled to twenty (20) days of paid vacation per year, which
vacation days shall accrue and be useable by Executive in accordance with the Company’s standard vacation policies. Upon termination of
employment, the Company will promptly pay Executive any unused vacation days.

 

 4.8  Expenses. During the term of Executive’s employment hereunder, Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all reasonable
expenses incurred by Executive in performing services hereunder, including all expenses of travel and living expenses while away from home on
business or at the request or and in the service of the Company, provided that such expenses are incurred and accounted for in accordance with
the policies and procedures as reasonably established by the Company.

 

 4.9  Other Benefits. The Company shall keep in full force and effect, and Executive shall be entitled to participate in all of the Company’s benefit
plans, perquisites, allowances and other arrangements generally applicable to senior executives, including (without limitation) life and disability
insurance, bonus pools, stock options and stock ownership programs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive will not participate in the
Company’s health care benefit plans. The Company shall not make any changes in such plans and arrangements which would adversely affect
Executive’s rights or
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   benefits thereunder, unless such change occurs pursuant to a program applicable to all executive officers of the Company and does not result in a
proportionately greater reduction in the rights of or benefits to Executive as compared with any other executives of the Company.

5.  Termination

 5.1  Termination Without Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement without Cause by giving to the other party thirty (30) days written
notice.

 

 5.2  Termination Upon Death or Disability. Executive’s employment hereunder shall terminate upon his death. If, as a result of Executive’s
incapacity due to physical or mental illness, Executive shall have been absent from his duties hereunder on a full-time basis for the entire period
of six consecutive months, and within thirty (30) days after written notice of termination is given (which may occur before or after the end of
such [six]-month period), Executive shall not have returned to the performance of his duties hereunder on a full-time basis, the Company may
terminate Executive’s employment hereunder.

 

 5.3  Termination by the Company For Cause. The Company may terminate this Agreement for “Cause” at any time. For purposes of this
Agreement “Cause” shall mean and include: (i) a material misappropriation of any monies or assets or properties of the Company; (ii) a material
breach by Executive of the terms of this Agreement that has not been cured within thirty (30) days after written notice to Executive of the breach,
which notice shall specify the breach and the nature of conduct necessary to cure such breach; (iii) the conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo
contendere, by Executive to a felony or to any criminal offense involving Executive’s moral turpitude; or (iv) willful misconduct of Executive in
connection with the material duties required by this Agreement.

 

 5.4  Termination by Executive For Good Reason. Executive may terminate this Agreement for “Good Reason” at any time. Good Reason shall
include (a) any material adverse change by the Company in Executive’s title, position, authority or reporting relationships with the Company;
(b) the Company’s requirement that Executive relocate to a location in excess of fifty (50) miles from the Company’s current office location or
from any future office location acceptable to Executive; or (c) any material breach by the Company of this Agreement which is not cured within
thirty (30) days of written notice thereof by Executive to the Company, which notice shall specify the breach and the nature of conduct necessary
to cure such breach.

 

 5.5  Severance Pay. If within eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, (i) the Company terminates this Agreement without Cause under
Section 6.1, or (ii) Executive terminates this Agreement for Good Reason under Section 6.4, or (iii) there is a Change in Control, Executive shall
be entitled to receive Severance Pay from the Company for a period of twelve (12) months following such termination. The amount of Severance
Pay to be paid to Executive each month shall be equal to Executive’s monthly salary under Section 5.1 at the time the Agreement is terminated,
less applicable payroll tax
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   withholding. In addition, Executive shall be entitled to receive payment for the bonus compensation as provided in Section 4.3. Severance Pay
shall be due and payable regardless of whether or not Executive becomes employed during such 12-month period. If after eighteen (18) months
of the Effective Date, the Company terminates this Agreement without Cause under Section 6.1 or Executive terminates this Agreement for Good
Reason under Section 6.4 or there is a Change in Control, Executive shall be entitled to receive Severance Pay in accordance with the Company’s
standard policy in effect at that time.

 

 5.6  Return of Company Property Following Termination. Upon termination for whatever reason, Executive shall return all books, documents,
papers, materials and any other property, including any Company vehicles (including the documentation pertaining thereto) which relates to the
business of the Company (or any subsidiary, affiliated, or holding companies) which may be in Executive’s possession or under Executive’s
power or control.

6.  Confidentiality. Executive covenants and agrees that he shall not, at any time during or following the term of his employment hereunder, directly or
indirectly divulge or disclose, to any person not employed by the Company or not engaged to render services to the Company, except as reasonably
appropriate to discharge Executive’s responsibilities under this Agreement, any confidential information of the Company which has been obtained by or
disclosed to him as a result of his employment by the Company, including without limitation, information relating to the finances, strategy,
organization, operations, inventions, processes, formulae, plans, devices, compilations of information, methods of distribution, customers, suppliers,
client relationships, marketing strategies or other trade secrets of the Company; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude Executive
from use or disclosure of information known generally to the public or from disclosure required by law or court order, if, in the case of such required
disclosure, Executive has given the Company reasonable prior notice in order to permit the Company to take steps to protect the information from
public disclosure. In the event of a breach or threatened breach by Executive of any of the provisions of this paragraph, the Company, in addition to and
not limitation of any rights, remedies or damages available to the Company at law or in equity, shall be entitled to a permanent injunction in order to
prevent or to restrain any such breach by Executive, or by Executive’s partners, agents, representatives, servants, employers, Executive and/or any and
all persons directly or indirectly acting for or with him.

 

7.  Indemnification; Insurance. To the fullest extent permitted by the Company’s charter documents and applicable law, the Company agrees to defend
and indemnify Executive and hold Executive harmless against any liability that Executive incur within the scope of his service as an officer and director
of the Company. The Company further agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to purchase and maintain adequate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance. The terms applicable to the Company’s indemnification and insurance obligations are more fully set forth in the Director and Officer
Indemnification Agreement between the Company and Executive entered as of the Effective Date of this Agreement and attached to this Agreement as
Exhibit 2.
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8.  Reasonable Cooperation. The executive agrees to make himself reasonably available to, and to cooperate with the Company and its attorney
concerning any pending and future investigations or litigation matters arising out of or relating to his employment with the Company or other matters
concerning the Company about which the Executive had or has knowledge or involvement. Cooperation for purposes of this provision will include but
not be limited to i) making himself reasonably available for interviews and discussion with the Company’s counsel as well as depositions and
testimony, ii) assisting the Company in the presentation of its position in an investigation or administrative proceeding and cooperating fully in the
development and presentation of such defense or position.

 

9.  Change in Control Agreements. The Company shall include Executive in any future change in control agreements applicable to any executive officer
or director of the Company.

 

10.  Notice. For the purposes of this Agreement, notices, demands and all other communications provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall
be deemed to have been duly given when delivered or (unless otherwise specified) mailed by registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed as set forth above, or to such other address as any party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that notices
of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

 

11.  Miscellaneous.

 11.1  The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.
 

 11.2  Sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.4, 5.5, 6, and 7 of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
 

 11.3  In any action undertaken to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be reimbursed by the non-prevailing party for such
prevailing party’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, including the costs of enforcing a judgment.

 

 11.4  It is the intent of the parties that this Agreement be administered so as to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue code and all
applicable regulations. The parties intend that any payment due hereunder shall be delayed as deemed reasonably necessary by counsel for the
Company in order to avoid 409A penalties.

12.  Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of
this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

                    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date first above written.
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Dana Holding Corporation       
         
By: /s/ John M. Devine    /s/ Robert H. Marcin   
  

 
   

 
  

  Name: John M. Devine    Robert H. Marcin   
         
  Title: Executive Chairman       
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Gary L. Convis, certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dana Holding Corporation;
 

 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

  (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

  (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

  (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

 

  (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

  (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

  (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

     
Date: May 12, 2008  /s/ Gary L. Convis   
  

 
  

  Gary L. Convis   
  Chief Executive Officer   

 



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Kenneth A. Hiltz, certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dana Holding Corporation;
 

 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

  (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

  (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

  (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

 

  (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

  (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

  (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

     
Date: May 12, 2008  /s/ Kenneth A. Hiltz   
  

 
  

  Kenneth A. Hiltz   
  Chief Financial Officer   

 



EXHIBIT 32

Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

          In connection with the Quarterly Report of Dana Holding Corporation (Dana) on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2008,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), each of the undersigned officers of Dana certifies
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to such officer’s knowledge:

 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Dana as of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

     
Date: May 12, 2008  /s/ Gary L. Convis   
  

 
  

  Gary L. Convis   
  Chief Executive Officer   
     
  /s/ Kenneth A. Hiltz   
  

 
  

  Kenneth A. Hiltz   
  Chief Financial Officer   

 


